F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited
TEER)EBER AT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RREHSTMRINER LT

Stock Code BR#3{L5E : 8347

2022

ANNUAL REPORT
F ¥




CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERES

To our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2022.

The Group's revenue slightly decreased by approximately 0.1% from
approximately HK$357.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$357.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$31.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022, as compared with a net profit of
approximately HK$5.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The
net loss of the Group was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in
revenue and gross profit for the year, (i) one-off loss on derecognition
of contingent consideration receivable and (iii) increase in allowance
for expected credit loss on trade and other receivables, net. The
decrease in gross profit was mainly due to decrease in revenue and
lower markup offered to our customers to maintain competitive
advantage over competitors entering into the diesel oil market for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a fleet of eight diesel tank wagons
of various capacity to meet customers’ requirement. In order to
increase the total capacity of our fleet of diesel tank wagons to
facilitate the increasing demand from customers, and further reduce
the level of nitrogen dioxide and particulates to fulfill our social
responsibility, the Group had acquired three new diesel tank wagons
and replaced two existing diesel tank wagons.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a marine oil barge. Besides, the
Group had carried out marketing and promotional activities and
negotiated with potential customers to secure purchase orders for
marine diesel oil.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

Looking forward, the Group will strive to improve its operational
efficiency and profitability of its businesses. Notwithstanding the
adverse impact brought by the outbreak of the pandemic, we believe
that market trend of the sale of diesel oil and marine diesel oil market
in Hong Kong remains optimistic mainly due to the stable and high
level investment in public infrastructure including the railway network,
development of marine construction projects including the Hong Kong
International Airport’s third runway project together with the recovery
of logistics industry in Hong Kong.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to our shareholders
(the “Shareholders”), business partners and customers for their utmost
support to the Group. We would also like to take this opportunity to
thank all management members and staff for their hard work and
dedication throughout the year.

FONG Chun Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 July 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally carries on the business of sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products and other products in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group also
supplies marine diesel oil used for construction vessels and lubricant
oil used for construction machinery and vehicles. Most of the Group's
customers are construction companies which require diesel oil to
operate their construction machinery and vehicles. The Group had a
fleet of eight diesel tank wagons of various capacity and a marine oil
barge as at 31 March 2022.

On 11 June 2021, Eastern Champion Investment Limited (the
"Property Purchaser”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Ms. Li Loretta Shui Wah (the “Property Vendor”) entered into the
agreement for sale and purchase in respect of the acquisition of a
property by the Company pursuant to which the Property Purchaser
has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Property Vendor has
conditionally agreed to sell Office 4, 6/F, Nam Wo Hong Building, 148
Wing Lok Street, Hong Kong, at an aggregate consideration of
HK$21,000,000, which shall be paid by the Company by way of (i) cash
of HK$9,820,000 which shall be paid in full on completion to the
Property Vendor; and (ii) the allotment and issuance of the 130,000,000
new shares of the Company (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,180,000) at the issue price of HK$0.086 per share, credited as
fully paid, for the purpose of settling the consideration, to Mr. Li Fat
Sang. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 11
June 2021, 16 June 2021, 8 July 2021, 30 July 2021 and 4 August 2021,
respectively for details.

On 7 February 2021, Eastern Champion Development Limited
("Eastern Champion”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Xinyu Investment Holding Group Company Limited* (¥7 &
M E KB R A A (“Xinyu Holding”) and Xinyu Iron and Steel
Group Company Limited* (37 7 #i ] & & & R 2 &) (“Xinyu Steel
Group”) (being the vendors), Jiangxi Xingang Southern New Material
Company Limited* (T FE#T 8 E 5 ¥ M EBRAF]) formerly known as
WISDRI (Xinyu) Cold Processing Engineering Company Limited* ()&
BT (R )R ELET M B R T B IR 2 )) (“Jiangxi Xingang”) (being the
purchaser) and Jiangxi Xinji Power Technology Company Limited* (T
A% ) ) B B R A al) (“Jiangxi Xinji”), entered into an equity
transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to
which Eastern Champion, Xinyu Steel Group and Xinyu Holding agreed
to sell approximately 22.96%, 14.61% and 4.18% of the equity interest
in Jiangxi Xinji, respectively, and Jiangxi Xingang agreed to purchase
the sale equity, in aggregate, representing 41.75% of the equity
interest in Jiangxi Xinji, at nil consideration subject to the terms and
conditions of the Equity Transfer Agreement. Pursuant to the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the completion of the abovementioned equity
transfer took place on 15 April 2021.

* The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names

of these entities are in Chinese.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In October 2021, Xinyu Steel Chain Technology Industry Innovation
and Development Guidance Fund (Limited Partnership)* (3 7 8 § %
HREZAFERERSIEES(BRER) ("Xinyu Steel Chain”), Eastern
Champion, Xinyu Steel Group, Xinyu Investment Holding Group
Company Limited* (ST R EZERBR A F]) (“Xinyu Holding”) and
Jiangxi Xingang, entered into capital contribution agreement (the
“Capital Contribution Agreement”), pursuant to which Xinyu Steel
Chain agreed to contribute RMB30.0 million to Jiangxi Xinji for capital
injection. Upon completion of the Capital Contribution Agreement, the
number of board members in Jiangxi Xinji becomes five and Eastern
Champion has right to nominate one director.

As such, upon completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement and the
Capital Contribution Agreement, the equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji
held by the Company decreased from 55.0% to 19.70%, and Jiangxi
Xinji ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company for the purpose of the
GEM Listing Rules. The results of Jiangxi Xinji have not been
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group and it has been
accounted for as an associate using equity accounting in the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

On 31 March 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose 51% equity interest in Meijia Shell (Global)
Lubricant Technology Limited (£ 3 GRIR) HERI B R A &) and
its subsidiaries (“Meijia Shell Group”) which is principally engaged in
the sale and distribution of lubricant oil in the PRC at the consideration
of HK$9,000,000. The disposal was completed on 31 March 2022.
Hence, the result of Meijia Shell Group had been accounted in the
Group's consolidated financial statements up to 31 March 2022. The
Profit Guarantee (defined as below) was released upon the completion
date of the disposal of Meijia Shell Group. For further details, please
refer to the announcement dated 31 March 2022.

Sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business

The Group's revenue slightly decreased by approximately 0.1% from
approximately HK$357.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$357.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
revenue from diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil represented
98.2%, 1.1% and 0.7% of the Group's total revenue, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$31.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, as
compared with a net profit of approximately HK$5.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021. The net loss of the Group was mainly
attributable to (i) a significant drop in gross profit of the Group, which
is mainly due to the decrease in revenue and lower markup offered to
our customers to maintain competitive advantage over competitors
entering into the diesel oil market for the year ended 31 March 2022, (ii)
one-off loss on derecognition of contingent consideration receivable
and (iii) increase in allowance for expected credit loss on trade and
other receivables, net.

After the disposal of Meijia Shell Group, sales of steel product business
is no longer the business of the Group. Sales and transportation of
diesel oil and related products has been and will continue to be the
core business of the Group.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2021, international oil prices fluctuated significantly. The outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic brings uncertainties to the international oil prices
in short-term. Notwithstanding the massive emergency fiscal plans
introduced by the government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, there is clearly a long way to go before we can
put the pandemic crisis behind us. We believe we could work together
to meet this historic challenge.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The outbreak of COVID-19 has brought adverse impact on the
economic condition in an international and domestic context. The
Directors will continue to observe closely and manage risks associated.

In view of the challenging business environment and keen competition
in the diesel oil sales market in Hong Kong, the Group will deploy
more resources on talent recruitment, strengthening the business
development and marketing strategy on diesel oil guardedly. The
Group will also proactively seek potential business opportunities that
broaden our sources of income and enhance value to the Shareholders.
Meanwhile, the Group will execute strict control on costs and expenses
so as to improve its operational efficiency and profitability of the
Group's businesses.
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Management Discussion
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue slightly decreased by approximately HK$0.3
million or approximately 0.1% from approximately HK$357.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$357.5 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

Revenue from the sale of diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil
amounted to approximately HK$351.1 million, HK$4.0 million and
HK$2.4 million, representing approximately 98.2%, 1.1% and 0.7%,
respectively, of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2022. For the year ended 31 March 2021, the revenue from the sale of
diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil accounted for
approximately HK$293.7 million, HK$63.1 million and HK$1.0 million,
representing approximately 82.1%, 17.6% and 0.3%, respectively, of the
Group's total revenue.

The decrease in the Group's revenue was primarily due to decrease in
demand from construction customers and logistic customers and
fierce competition in the industry.

Cost of sales

Cost of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business primarily consists of diesel oil costs, marine diesel oil costs,
lubricant oil costs, direct labour costs and depreciation. The purchase
cost for the diesel oil, marine diesel oil costs and lubricant oil costs
depends on the domestic purchase price offered by the Group's oil
suppliers, with reference to the price indices such as Europe Brent spot
crude price. Cost of the sale of steel product business mainly consists
of raw material costs, direct labour costs and transportation costs. For
the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’'s cost of sales was
approximately HK$352.6 million, representing an increase of
approximately 6.1% from approximately HK$332.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group's revenue less cost of sales.
The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately HK$20.4 million
from approximately HK$25.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
to approximately HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
Group's gross profit margin decreased from approximately 7.1% for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately 1.4% for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to
the decrease in revenue and lower markup offered to our customers to
maintain competitive advantage over competitors entering into the
diesel oil market for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Contingent consideration receivable

Pursuant to the announcements dated 23 March 2020 and 31 March
2020 (the “Two Announcements”), the Group entered into sale and
purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of Meijia Shell
Group, the Vendors (defined under the Two Announcements) have
given a guarantee to the Group that the audited consolidated net
profit after tax of Meijia Shell Group for the three financial years ending
31 March 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 (each of the
“Guaranteed Period"”) would be no less than RMB5,000,000,
RMB10,000,000 and RMB10,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Sum”) for each
of the Guaranteed Period (the “Profit Guarantee”). On 31 March 2022,
which is the completion date of disposal of the Meijia Shell Group, the
Vendors was released and discharged from their obligations and
liabilities of the Profit Guarantee and the fair value of contingent
consideration was derecognized on 31 March 2022.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recognised a loss of
approximately HK$31.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, while
for the year ended 31 March 2021 was profit making. The Group
recorded a negative net profit margin of approximately 8.9% for the
year ended 31 March 2022 as compared to net profit margin of
approximately 1.5% for the year ended 31 March 2021. The net loss
and negative net profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
mainly due to (i) the decrease in revenue and gross profit for the year,
(i) one-off loss on derecognition of contingent consideration receivable
and (iii) increase in allowance for expected credit loss on trade and
other receivables, net. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to
decrease in revenue and lower markup offered to our customers to
maintain competitive advantage over competitors entering into the
diesel oil market for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The Group
recorded net current assets of approximately HK$46.1 million as at 31
March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$72.7 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's current assets amounted to
approximately HK$131.4 million (2021: approximately HK$154.7 million)
and the Group's current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$85.3
million (2021: approximately HK$82.0 million). Current ratio was
approximately 1.5 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately 1.9).
Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets as at the year
ended date divided by total current liabilities as at the year ended
date.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2022, the maximum limit of the borrowing facilities
available to the Group amounted to approximately HK$59.3 million
(2021: HK$65.0 million) and approximately HK$47.6 million (2021:
HK$21.3 million) of the borrowing facilities was utilised.

The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars with
one banking facility which respectively carried at variable interest rate
of the range from 1.83% to 2.26% per annum for the year ended 31
March 2022. For the year ended 31 March 2021, all the bank borrowings
were interest-bearing which carried variable interest rate ranging from
5.7% to 6.6% and at fixed interest rate ranging from 4.8% to 20.4% per
annum. As at 31 March 2022, the bank borrowings of the Group were
secured by the corporate guarantee, fixed deposits and life insurance
policy of the Group.

Gearing ratio was approximately 46.2% as at 31 March 2022 which was
calculated based on the total debt at the end of the year divided by
total equity at the end of the year (2021: 23.4%).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$95.4 million (2021: approximately HK$116.5 million).
The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
on 12 April 2017. On 4 August 2021, 130,000,000 consideration shares
of HK$0.01 each of the Company were allotted and issued as fully paid
for the Property Vendor (as defined above) at the price of HK$0.086
each under the general mandate. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 11 June 2021, 16 June 2021 and 30 July 2021,
respectively for details. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then, save as disclosed below.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the distribution of lubricant oil and steel products
transactions settled in Renminbi and the disposal of foreign operations.
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the group entities’ functional currency. The Group however did not
engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any
financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2022. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group'’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements
from time to time.

12 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BERRER

HE202F3A3MBILFE  AEENER
BEBEARIEEABLESOAESLIES
BT (20214 « $)116.5B8EB L) - AEEMW
KA EBIEL B

ANRFRLD 2017 4 B 12 B 8 2 BT GEM
T R2021F8 A48 AARIEBREEE
0.017%8 7T A BR 71| V5 812 #9 130,000,000 & X (B
RHERE —RIRIBIZRERSR0.0867 T M
IWMEES (ERA LSO NET - BEF
1B B2HARF B ES R A2021F6 A 11
H 20216 A16H %202147 A30H A o
BULLATR - NEERE ARLEE W E (T F
MET ST BB A BRI

SN L B

AEETEEHFELE  YEHEZEGKRR
PT 51 AE 9 S L Bt Ex?aLA}\Eﬁ%%ZE’J/FEJ
BmNERD RS R ERINETR - BR
X?ﬁ%?&% EHEREENBBEAFEEERS
DREEEHER - RIS HIRIMNERER o 2R
BE202F3A3NBILFE  AEBALRY

RAAITE TAHZ LB ER LA/ TA
LA ST 5o 1N ol B

o

ERBER

AEBECHEBHHRRNEROM G ELT
B MRNBE202F3A3MHILEBAFER
BIRAERRRORDESNN - AEEHD
FERFBEETHEENE R HERPMES

#/RL/(’Z¢1E7E1E;§\J—HZAA ﬁgiﬁﬂlbibé I_HZAA
EEXgRYERAEENRBE IR - AR

RAKEEE  BELRHEMAENRBESR
BIREETHNESE K -



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 11 June 2021, Eastern Champion, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the Property Vendor entered into the
agreement for sale and purchase in respect of the acquisition of a
property by the Company pursuant to which Eastern Champion has
conditionally agreed to acquire and the Property Vendor has
conditionally agreed to sell Office 4, 6/F, Nam Wo Hong Building, 148
Wing Lok Street, Hong Kong, at an aggregate consideration of
HK$21,000,000, which shall be paid by the Company by way of (i) cash
of HK$9,820,000 which shall be paid in full on completion to the
Property Vendor; and (ii) the allotment and issuance of the 130,000,000
new shares of the Company (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,180,000) at the issue price of HK$0.086 per share, credited as
fully paid, for the purpose of settling the consideration, to Mr. Li Fat
Sang. Such property has been rented out for the Group's investment
purpose. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 11
June 2021 and 16 June 2021, respectively for details.

On 7 February 2021, Eastern Champion, Xinyu Holding and Xinyu Steel
Group (being the vendors), Jiangxi Xingang (being the purchaser) and
Jiangxi Xinji, entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement, pursuant to
which Eastern Champion, Xinyu Steel Group and Xinyu Holding agreed
to sell approximately 22.96%, 14.61% and 4.18% of the equity interest
in Jiangxi Xinji, respectively, and Jiangxi Xingang agreed to purchase
the sale equity, in aggregate, representing 41.75% of the equity
interest in Jiangxi Xinji, at nil consideration subject to the terms and
conditions of the Equity Transfer Agreement. Pursuant to the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the completion of the abovementioned equity
transfer took place on 15 April 2021. Upon completion of the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji held by the
Company will decrease from 55.0% to 32.04%

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 10 August
2021 and 12 August 2021 and the circular dated 24 September 2021 for
details.

In October 2021, Xinyu Steel Chain, Eastern Champion, Xinyu Steel
Group, Xinyu Holding and Jiangxi Xingang, entered into the Capital
Contribution Agreement, pursuant to which Xinyu Steel Chain agreed
to contribute RMB30.0 million to Jiangxi Xinji for capital injection.
Upon completion of the Capital Contribution Agreement, the equity
interest in Jiangxi Xinji held by the Company will decrease from 32.04%
to 19.70% and the number of board members in Jiangxi Xinji becomes
five and Eastern Champion has right to nominate one director.

EARE EAREBREE

R2021F6 A11B » RRARINEEZ2EWB
‘A A Eastern Champion 1 Z W ¥ E S A R
BB ZMET LB E 0 Bt Eastern
Champion EBI&HRIEREMZWEE L
BERGREHER B KEH 148N mMITRE
6iB4= - AR{EA21,000,00087T - RIEBH
72 B LA (1) B 4 9,820,000 % 77 (1A 52 A5 B 2
HENTFZWEES)  Ki)[AL Fat Sang %t
H IR BT BT IR 0.086 74 TT AL 28 K B4 1T A
BE 5144 B 59 130,000,000 & A5 2 =] ¥ A% 4 (48
ER4911,180,0008 L) WAEER B - %
MECHEHAIEAAELEZIRERS - BHEH
B B2EARRBES R A2021F6A11
H X 2021F 6 816 BH)AMH o

R2021F2A78 - BR « FiREER#HE
E(EAZEER) I (EAER) T
FOETE AT RS R - B - TR - FT i
EELAFARZERELETIAFES BIL
22.96% ~ 14.61% [ 4.18% R #E » L Fa i A
EEABEHEES A RAENIATE
41.75% B AE - M 78 52 PR A IR R B A 15 A MO M
KRG o RIBRRESE R - LR R
R2021F4 415K - MR EERET® T
g AABRIMERSENRERH
55.0% 8.2 32.04% °

BREFE  B2HAARIBEEA2021F8 A10
A K2021F8 A12 B2 & B 8§ A2021 F
9B 24 HEIEK -

MR20214 108 » #ixilE - S8 - HiHER -
AR TR T E WS - BT R
MBERIERIAFEIBARE0HET -
PEERHETRE  ARFRIRTESEEGN
RS AE 5 B0 32.04% Bl = 19.70% » T T PH T = Y
EEeXEHEATE  BERAEREZ A
EEo

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 13



AN

Management Discussion and Analysis

MIEJE;THHB& *ﬁ'

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (Continued)

As such, upon completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement and the
Capital Contribution Agreement, Jiangxi Xinji ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Company for the purpose of the GEM Listing Rules and the
results of Jiangxi Xinji have no longer been consolidated into the
financial statements of the Group and it has been accounted for as an
associate using equity accounting in the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

On 31 March 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose 51% equity interest in Meijia Shell Group which
is principally engaged in the sale and distribution of lubricant oil in the
PRC at the consideration of HK$9,000,000. The disposal was completed
on 31 March 2022. Hence, the result of Meijia Shell Group had been
accounted in the Group's consolidated financial statements up to 31
March 2022. The Profit Guarantee (defined as above) was released
upon the completion date of the disposal of Meijia Shell Group. For
further details, please refer to the announcement dated 31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, save as disclosed from above of
this report.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THROUGH PROFIT AND
LOSS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had approximately HK$5.9 million of
key management personnel life insurance with an insurance company
(2021: approximately HK$4.8 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, save as disclosed below in the section headed
“Use of Proceeds” and in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, the Group did not have any other material

capital commitments or any material contingent liabilities.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's pledged short-term bank deposits in
the amount of approximately HK$6.1 million, investment property in
the amount of approximately HK$20.0 million, life insurance policy in
the amount of approximately HK$5.0 million and motor vehicles in the
amount of approximately HK$0.6 million were pledged as security for
the Group's banking facilities.

COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group's implementation plans for
its business strategies up to 31 March 2022 as set out in the section
headed "Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 March 2017 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group
actual implementation progress:

Implementation plan

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2022
20174 HA1HZE2022%3H31H
HYHEATRT &

Business strategy

ES

BEERH
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WM ARABBEA2017F3 8298 MK
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RESEITA B AR E TR HEITEE L ¢

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2022
EZE2022F3A318H
BRETEE

Expansion and enhancement Purchase three new diesel tank

of our fleet of diesel tank

wagons
wagons o Replace three existing diesel tank
wagons
J Continue to evaluate the

effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons and assess our need for
additional diesel tank wagons in

view of our business development
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J Three new diesel tank wagons had
been purchased and two existing
diesel tank wagons had been
replaced. The delivery of the rest of
new diesel tank wagon will be
completed at the end of March
2023.

J The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons has been closely evaluated.
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Business strategy

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2022

20174818 %E202263A31H

ESC P

R HETT ST &

ERRBEETEEERETEE
L& (@)

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2022
BHZE2022F3HA31HH
BERETEE

Development and expansion @
of our marine bunkering
business

TR MBS EHORES .

Upgrading our information J
technology and systems

RAEM RS .

Commence trial and full operation
of the marine diesel oil barge

Carry out marketing and promotional
activities and negotiate with potential
customers to secure purchase orders
for marine diesel oil

Evaluate the effectiveness and
operating efficiency of the marine
diesel oil barge

PR M SR B M 2 EUETT

HEITTISHEENREEEE  WHE
R PETERAREMA SR
REERTE

AT A fin PR S oh B A B0 B R0 N AT
Purchase and upgrade new office
administrative information
technology systems

Continue to review and maintain
the performance of the information
technology systems
BEREHFHASITIHEE AR
REH

BERORERFEARERFNE
i}
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The Group had obtained all the
licences and permits and commenced
trial operation of the marine diesel ol
barge in April 2018 and commenced
full operation in July 2018.

The Group had carried out marketing
and promotional activities and
negotiated with potential customers
to secure purchase orders for marine
diesel oil.

The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of the marine diesel oil
barge had been evaluated from
time to time.
REBDEBUSHB IR LFFARE
A7 2018 5F 4 7 B8 fe A A 5 e B
MFEITI R 201847 ARK2E
BT
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BN Rl s AR S0 B e 0 B A1
NBITREK o

Minor upgrade of information
technology systems had been
done. The Group was still in
negotiation with the potential
suppliers on the requirements and
specification of the new office
administrative information
technology systems.

The Group closely monitors and
maintains the performance of the
information technology systems.
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS ER R ITTEIEERRETEE
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL KL & ()

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Actual implementation

Business strategy from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2022 progress up to 31 March 2022
20174818 %E202263A31H EFE2022F3A31HK

E3r S B HEATRT & BRETER

Strengthening our manpower ~ ® Recruit three drivers and three J One logistics assistant was hired, it

logistics assistants to strengthen
our workforce required for our fleet
of diesel tank wagons

° Recruit one safety supervisor to
enhance our occupational safety
management

. Recruit (i) seafarers including two
coxswains, two technical operators,
four sailors, (i) one administration
staff, (iii) one operation manager
and (iv) one independent
consultant to cope with our marine
bunkering business

. Evaluate the performance of the
newly recruited staff and assess our
need to recruit additional staff in
view of our business development

] Provide training to our existing and
newly recruited staff and/or
sponsor our staff to attend training
courses on occupational health and

safety
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is expected that the rest of staff will
be hired around March 2023.

o Safety supervisor was hired through
job reallocation.

o The Group contracted with a
service company to operate the
marine bunkering business.

o The Group evaluates and assesses
the performance of our manpower
continuously so as to facilitate the
Group's business development.

J Training courses and on-the-job
training have been provided to
staff.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

As disclosed in the last year annual report of the Company issued on
25 June 2021, the actual net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the
Share Offer (after deduction of the underwriting commission and
Listing related expenses) were approximately HK$45.1 million, which
was less than the estimated Net Proceeds of approximately HK$50.9
million as set out in the Prospectus and the allotment results
announcement of the Company dated 11 April 2017.

Set out below is the actual use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March
2022:

FRrEREAR

AR A R 2021 6 A 258 TIIB = F R F
WA EE - RIDBEERMERIEEE (B
RIEFHE]) (EHNBReHEme Rk EmHEBERY
BIWABISIEES L BRBREREAR
AIEEA2017F48 1M BNERESERAMHT
AR TS IR FRELS09BEATT °

AT #5 E 220224 3 A 31 BB RIS RIRF
EMERAR -

Expected
Actual use Unused timeframe for
Approximate of Net total Net the remaining
Planned use percentage of Proceedsup Proceeds up utilising
of total Net total Net to 31 March to 31 March net proceeds
Proceeds Proceeds 2022 2022 (Note 6)
BEF2022%F
EZ2022F 3A31AM FeETHA
EYEc HBFRE 3A31AM EER S FrE R RE
HEFR REFE FEREER B AHRER
AEAR  BNESH ERAR TEFR (= 6)
HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million
BEETL % BEETL BEAT
Purchase of diesel tank wagons BEERTES 7.8 17.3% 50 2.8 By 31 March 2023
(Note 1) (FzE1) R2023F3A31H
Z A
Purchase of marine diesel oil barge BB E AL M E 14.0 31.0% 8.5 55 By 31 March 2023
(Note 2) (H5E2) R20235F3A31H
Z A
Further strengthen our manpower E—TMEATF 6.1 13.6% 35 26 By 31 March 2023
(Note 3) GER) R2023%F3A31 R
Z A
Upgrade of our information RAEMEREESR 36 7.9% 0.6 30 By 31March 2023
technology systems (Note 4) (Ftzz4) R2023F3A31H
Z A
Working capital necessary for the EEHMMETEER 9.1 20.2% 9.1 -
operation of the new diesel tank 8RB EN
wagons and marine bunkering BEES (135)
business (Note 5)
Working capital EEES 45 10.0% 45 -
Total Gl 451 100.0% 312 13.9
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USE OF PROCEEDS (Continued)

Notes:

1 Three new diesel tank wagons had been purchased and two existing diesel tank
wagons had been replaced up to 31 March 2022.

2 Marine diesel oil barge had been delivered in November 2017 and has commenced
full operation in July 2018.

3 The Group has been actively involved in the recruitment and selection of suitable
candidates through various means including job advertisements in major

newspapers.

4 The Group was still in negotiation with the potential suppliers on the requirements
and specification of the new office administrative information technology systems.

5 The Group contracted with a service company to operate the marine bunkering
business.

6 The expected timeline for utilising the remaining proceeds is based on the best

estimation of the future market condition made by the Group. It will be subject to
change based on current and future development of market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group will apply the net proceeds
received from the Share Offer in the manners consistent with the
proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The implantation plans for
business strategies and use of net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus
were based on the best estimation and assumption of future market
conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus.
The Group will continue to implement its business strategies and apply
the net proceeds based on the actual development of the Group's
business and industry, as well as market conditions. In addition, in view
of the pandemic situation, the Directors consider that it was not a good
timing to expand our business by acquiring diesel tank wagons and
diesel oil barge, hiring more manpower and upgrade of our
information technology systems during the year ended 31 March 2022.
Accordingly, the unutilised Net Proceeds could not be fully utilised
during the year ended 31 March 2022. The Group intends to utilise the
unutilised Net Proceeds as soon as practicable by 31 March 2023.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 28 employees (58
employees as at 31 March 2021) including the Directors. For the year
ended 31 March 2022, total staff costs amounted to approximately
HK$10.6 million (year ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$12.8
million). Remuneration (including employees’ benefits) is maintained
within the market level and reviewed on a periodic basis. Employees’
salary and relevant benefits are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification, experience, positions and the Group's
business performance.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 April 2022, the Company entered into a vessel transfer
agreement in respect of the acquisition of a vessel at the consideration
of HK$9,500,000 and the acquisition was completed on 29 April 2022,
For further details, please refer to the announcement dated 29 April
2022.

Reference is made to the announcements dated 25 May 2022, 9 June
2022, 27 June 2022 and 10 July 2022, in relation to a share
consolidation of the Company which involves the consolidation of
every ten (10) issued and unissued existing shares of the Company of
par value HK$0.01 each into one (1) consolidated share of the Company
of par value of HK$0.10 each (the “Share Consolidation”) to become
effective on 29 June 2022. In addition, the Company proposed to raise
gross proceeds of up to approximately HK$17.1 million by way of right
issue on the basis of one (1) rights share of the Company for every two
(2) consolidated shares of the Company upon the Share Consolidation
becoming effective.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any significant
event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to the date
of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

During the reporting period, the Company has one isolated case for
non-compliance under the GEM Listing Rules, details of which are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 10 August 2021. Save
as disclosed above, the Directors consider that the Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in the CG
Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company. Further details of the board committees of the Company
are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Group by the direction and supervision of the Group's
business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to day
management of the Group which is delegated to the management. To
this end, monthly financial and operational information are provided to
the Board for assessing the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated by
the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Details of the composition of the Directors of the Company during the
year and up to the date of this report by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee
Mr. Chan Chi Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has
achieved an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The
composition of the Board is in accordance with the requirements of
Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. There are three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has account
professional qualification. More than one-third of the members of the
Board are independent non-executive Directors, which brings a fairly
strong independence element in its composition.
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The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment
on issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 92 to 97 of
this report. Other than that Ms. Lo Pui Yee who is the wife of Mr. Fong
Chun Man, there are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group's activities with
a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’ value.
The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-day
management of the Group as well as the implementation of the
Board's policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (the
"Nomination Committee”), on 23 March 2017 with delegated powers
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affair. Each of the
committees of the Board has been established with written terms of
reference, in which the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee were amended and restated with effect
from 1 January 2019.
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The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”). The Chairman also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of other executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before
convening the Board meeting. For all other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and
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the relevant information of each Board and committee meeting are 2RI = REBRKEZESKE - WAE
generally made available to Directors or committee members at least i%A&X§$i’jTﬁ§Eﬁi 12 A B Bt4
three days in advance. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the management whenever necessary.
The attendance of each of the Directors at the Annual General &% EENFRNET ZH&%EEKA -
Meeting, Board Meeting and meetings of the Audit Committee, &% BRZREZESLH FWZESTgEUR
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee held during the }%%%E@@%Zﬁ}%w%ﬁw—r
year is set out below:
Attendance/Number of meetings
HERB ERETRY
General 'Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting  Committee = Committee ~ Committee
EEpg RRAE 'EZE8E EHZEE HFMZREE REZEE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) HEXERE(EE) 11 9/9 - 17 171
Ms. Lo Pui Yee ShgEL L n 9/9 - - -
Mr. Chan Chi Fai REEELE 171 9/9 - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors: B FHTES :
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert ESCRLE 1N 99 5/5 71 ”n
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BBk 11 9/9 5/5 - n
Mr. Wang Anyuan FEnEE [l 9/9 5/5 n -
Note: 5T -
1. Include a Board meeting where the Chairman met the independent non-executive 1. BREREFEER  TRAZSR LENTESERE

Directors in the absence of the executive Directors and management.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising
from corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.
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Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three

years.

The independent non-executive Directors should be appointed for a
specific term and subject to re-election. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company. The appointment letter of each of the independent non-
executive Directors is for a term of three years, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are subject
to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-election
provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on pages 74 to 91
of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training course or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations. Records of the
training received by the respective Directors are kept and updated by
the Company Secretary of the Company.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
directors’ duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022
are summarised as follows:

ESCHERIIRERRE

RHPEENRHEEERR  ARTEZHES
DEFEEXEFRUBREEMNRE ZAHR
Rt - EEREE ERRSESENBBRT
AEFSFEHEINER - REEHRREE
ABEAH  2BEFCBBLFFIIRIEX
MEERLEE AR ZENSESEEE
Bk - BSEENBIREBRARRZARMWE
RENEF -

BEENEE202F3ANBILFEEIXNE
ERENMRENEBRERBBSEEEERC
BRI

Type of training

EIEE
(Note)
Directors = (Pif=E)
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FESTE(FE) A B
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Bmig+ A, B
Mr. Chan Chi Fai PREEE A A, B
Independent Non-executive Director BAKEHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert ERCRE A B
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BB SE 4 A B
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRITEE A, B
Notes: ffEE -
Types of training IS
A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefing, seminars, ~ A:  HEHFI BERETRAEGE G  HAdE 25
conferences, forums and workshops il &k TIES
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B: BIEMRETE - R - BT MR GEM ETRE

publications relating to the latest development of the GEM Listing Rules, other
applicable regulatory requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and Mr. Wang Anyuan
were appointed as the independent non-executive Directors with
effect from 23 March 2017.

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance,
industry knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge
and experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an
important function of advising the senior management on strategy
development and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in
financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders
and the Company as a whole; and participate in the Company'’s various
committees including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fong Chun Man was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director of the Company on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chan Chi
Fai was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 23 March 2017.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is
also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the implementation of the business strategies, policies
and objectives set out by the Board and is accountable to the Board
for the overall operations of the Group. These functions and
responsibilities are current being shared by the management team.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 23 March 2017
in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference amended and restated with effect from 1
January 2019 in compliance with Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority,
duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both
the GEM website and the Company's website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and
Mr. Wang Anyuan meanwhile Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the balance,
transparency and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
the application of financial reporting principles, reviewing the
relationship with the external auditor and its independence assessment
and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company's accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (the "HLB"), and recommended the Board to reappoint
HLB as the Company's auditors for the year ending 31 March 2023,
which is subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings
and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 23 to 24 in this report.

28 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EEZES

%&%E%

NATR2017 F£3 A 23 B R GEM i
%528:-:5291%5}62%79? =2 WIRE
GEM R B+ B 201941 A1 HEE
FAIREYEMBESE HEBEZET BN

B -BEMEAFBEHN2HBREGR TR
GEM AL M AR R R 8t &R -

BERZEEH-_RBUFRTEFESLCR
BB R ERERITAEM - EELCE
ERFAERLZBEER

BEZZBENIZRERBEMUTERRNE
EeRMBYER  REFSRH|HY A2
AIAMEZENAREERGHRY  EEARR
A BmRANT - BRE RTEBE AN
HERREER - ZEI RN EPAZ BB BRI
B MFEARARBGHABNER - &
RNt - I8 REE -

.:.A;
/\E

Bz aEe GRS E 2 IE R
%%%%ﬁm@TUlﬁDﬁiﬁmﬁaﬂ
R UmMETeERBERTATAREE
20234 3 A 31 BIEFERMZEED - AR ERE
PREGEF K g FERRRALEZR H A EE - Bix
ZEeEEMASEEEEZ202F3A31H I
FEMGREMERE -

RIBEROBIESRE SFRTNEZLZES
SHRENORMARINERBEERR RV E
BERTAIREE KRB — KNG °
EETERZBEEERABMMEFLERIN
HBDIENAREFE2E24EME [ G
RBEEREHFEBER] — -



Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 23 March 2017 in compliance with
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, which comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Anyuan and
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert together with Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Wang
Anyuan is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group,
review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals, and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Remuneration Committee is available on both the GEM website and
the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of

Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 23 to 24 in this report.

Senior Management’s remuneration
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus
and other merit payments are linked to the performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors and senior

management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 23 March 2017 which comprised Mr. Fong Chun Man
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Yuk
Lap and Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert. Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap is the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The written terms of reference are
amended and restated with effect from 1 January 2019.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the Committee has set
for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure in
the Company'’s corporate governance report as appropriate); identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of
reference setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website
and the Company's website.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following key
procedures and process:

i. The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the
current composition and size of the Board, develop a list of
desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset to
focus the search effort;

i.  The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;
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iii.  Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment; and

iv.. The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Policy as well as discussing matters
regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 23 to 24 in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for
maintaining proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable
accuracy the state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity
movement of the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditors about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company'’s auditors, are set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 98 to 104 of this report.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration for the audit
and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to the
Group was as follows:

EXRERDMAAESESRREAKEN
BE  NRBERMERRFEREMERITS
BB EA M MR P RS (EHZH
ERB 2B RE o

ARRZHENNRRE RN AREFBE
104 R AZBEN RS

R ET &

REZ2022F3A3MBIEFE  KARAZH
Bl A S B IR M E R R IER T IR A B < 20
T

Services rendered HK$’000

RAERTE TR

Annual audit service for the year BZE202243 431 HILFED 700
ended 31 March 2022 FEBE R

Non-audit service for the year BZE2022F3 A31 HIEFER 20

ended 31 March 2022 IEEET AR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior management,
the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors will review the Group's corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with
the “"comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report
which will be included in the annual reports upon the Listing.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as
below:

The policy of the Company specifies that in designing the composition
the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates for the Board
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational background,
professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the Board
in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise the
implementation of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revision that may be required, and recommend any such revision
to the Board for consideration and approval.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having
made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have
complied with the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31
March 2022 and up to the date of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted a
Shareholders’ communication policy, which has helped the Company
to ensure that the Shareholders will have equal and timely access to
the information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company.

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and
encourage their participation.

EZEMES TR

ARRERBEXEATAMHARTHRAES
EXREZITEHER - BRBEMT ¢

ARBIBREEERETEFEXNBMAGEHIN
ZETHEREEEXEZLIL - BRETR
RElR XERBEES  BELR BB
i EFEMARBRTHUARAES BT
8 IEZEBNERFATBGRTBERESTENX
Bt - UEBFEE NERMIZ— KT
ZRitBEBEREE  BRETRRER - F
B X Bk HEER  BELR  AF
R FeBE ©

REAZEBEREBFELEEARETREES
K WERBRRNNT REZEEHE
AW RBELNES BRAESEERHE
ARSI 2R AHEEL -

EEETREFERS

RARIEEHRMGEM EH R BIZE 54816 E 5 5.67
BIERBHEAGEHRERETERR S 2IRTE
BI(MEFER ) - KRBE=EHBEEERE -
KRB EBRERBRETENEZ=20229F 3 A 31

BB EFE R E S AR 85— EETRT
g .

R REE

R EHRE - AR BRARRBAEE - AL
BY AR IR RER AT A F M S BRI B B AN X 7]
FER - ERRAEMBER MTEEEFHE
MR B FEHRSEANNFER

ARBHAEBRRRFEER - FH 258
BRBAFRGREMBRAGEEREE - I
SEERBEEF o

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 33



Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information
on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report,
there has been no significant changes in the constitutional documents
of the Company. The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held on Friday, 16
September 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
(a)

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. Shareholders
also have the right to propose a person for election as a Director,
the procedures are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the
company secretary of the Company by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures
set out in “Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders” above.

(c) Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication relating
to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive Officer, in writing to
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the enquiries.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is
a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of
open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders
and investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the
Company (http://www.f8.com.hk) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai,
as its Company Secretary, Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok, the chief operation
officer of the Group, is the primary contact person who Ms. Leung Yin
Fai can contact.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the
Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures
and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as with management.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018
which sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may
propose a dividend.

The Board will take into account the following factors when considering
the payment of dividends:

The general financial condition of the Group;

ii The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

i The future cash requirements and availability;

iv. Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

v The general market conditions; and
vi  Any other factor that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws,
rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and
internal control include a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives.
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An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment within
the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the Board
together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed to
various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into
strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas
2B B

Principal Risks
FTERR

AEBEBREY —EHEBRERE J%ﬁﬁm%i
BRMIEF - BERER - S0 X% 0808
“%/%Wieﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁé$aﬂﬂ%mm
W ERES - RO BNEELRRAE Y E
BRABEEGMS

THRRASEESARES  HERSERR -

REE202F3A3NBIEFE AEEBK T

MEEHA%M&“ﬁ%%%@ﬁ~%E@
- SRR R A R R

Strategic Risks
market competition risk, reputation risk

B A% [ B

Operational Risks

2B R SEPhHETR - TE - BARRRESTE

Financial Risks

BT R RBETRAR - EERR - FIRER - INERR

Compliance Risks

BEFBEOGURE - REFRMREFRK - THHFAR

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste;

BERR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk

iR AR R

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances

ERER HB X2 MEFEABRR

ARSI

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the
risk identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate
management processes as well as to safeguard the Group against
unacceptable levels of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others,
(i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and
(i) an annual review of the implementation of the risk management
plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

+ GEM TR B & AR A A

EXesRAEARENARERE  BHER
RS THRER EETRARBR M EIEZR -
EfEEN B IRERRE A REXEEER
WIRFEAREE B TR TR RIEX -

AEBRRREEREFST R (AR () F
fﬂ&%ﬂ& oA BIEFHEELRROER
A BE 1 DA e il 7E B K AR R o B 0 L B 8 3 T
Q K () FEEMEREEFTSNATIER
RVBRTENITIER

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 37



Corporate Governance Report

TREB®E

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to
ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has engaged an experienced
personnel to maintain an internal audit function, the Board has overall
responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and

for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group's system of internal controls and risk
management annually and further enhance the Group's internal control
and risk management systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The
Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of
the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of
the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint external
independent professionals to perform internal audit function for the
Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue
to review at least annually the need for an internal audit function.

Internal control on connected transaction

As a general control, the Group maintained a list of connected persons
and entities for the monitoring and identification of connected
transaction. The risk management and internal control of the Group
were reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that (i) the risk
management and internal control system of the Company was
adequate and efficient; and (ii) the resources allocated, staff
qualifications and experience in respect of the accounting, internal
auditing and financial reporting functions of the Company as well as
training programs and budget were adequate and sufficient.
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Independent non-executive Directors’ view on internal
control for connected transactions

The management and independent non-executive Directors will
continue to monitor connected transactions of the Company. The
management and independent non-executive Directors consider that
information provided by the Company’s management to assist
independent non-executive Directors in their annual review of
connected transaction are fair and sufficient. The independent non-
executive Directors also made regular enquiries upon whether there is
any continuing connected transaction exceeding the proposed annual
caps to ensure that continuing connected transaction was identified
timely. The independent non-executive Directors have not
encountered any challenges or difficulties in their annual review of
connected transaction of the Company save as disclosed in this report.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the necessary
actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the CG Code.
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INTRODUCTION, ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited ("F8 Enterprises”,

“"Company”,
"Group”), was principally engaged in the provision of the business of

we” and "our”), with its subsidiaries (collectively, the

sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong
during the year ended on 31 March 2022.

This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report summarizes
the environmental, social and governance initiatives, plans and
performances of the Group and demonstrates its commitment to
sustainable development.

Our Business

F8 Enterprise was listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited with the stock code of 8347. The principal operating
activity of the Group is sale and transportation of diesel oil and related
products in Hong Kong, and also supply of marine diesel oil for
construction vessels and lubricant oil for construction machinery and
vehicles. With the competitive advantage of economies of scale, with
our experienced management, our own diesel tank wagons and marine
diesel oil barge, the Group enjoys a competitive edge in the diesel ail
industry in Hong Kong.

Our Vision

To maintain the leading position in the industry in order to provide
high quality products and services in Hong Kong.

Our Mission

To provide the best quality and safe products and services to meet
customers’ demands and create value to the shareholders and

investors.
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors

HE

Exg

Independent Non-executive Directors

HITES BIFHITESE
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
FEXGEE(EE) EECEAE
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
BimigEi L BBz A
Mr. Chan Chi Fai Mr. Wang Anyuan
PR IB S TFRhE
The ESG Governance Structure RIE -HEREANERER

The Group has set up an ESG working taskforce (the “Taskforce”), ZANEBBEMKIZHBIEEEITE THMKNIRE « 1
composed of staff from relevant departments, in which, full-time staff &@&REARTIEEFE/NA(EENA])  EHiE
has been assigned to collect the data relevant to ESG and compile the  #BIRE2HE TWEBIIRE - £ REAHE
ESG Report. The Taskforce would periodically report to the board of EFEWHREIRE - L LEARS - BE/ET
directors of the Company (the “Board”), assisting in the assessment HiAARRZEES ([EEE ) HE - LB
and identification of risk management of the Group on ESG aspects i Ri#BIAEBEERE - 2 REATEARE
and whether its internal control system is appropriate and effective. BREEUNERNIEILZAESTBEE LM -

The Taskforce reviews the ESG performance of the Group, including HE/|JEBEBEARAEENRE  HERER

environmental, labour practices,

and other ESG aspects. The Board #EH ' EFBIERE B TERUAREMIR

sets the tone at the top for its ESG strategies and is responsible for 1}% HERELRHE BESHHRE 1
ensuring effective risk management and internal controls. The detail of  RERKREEN B - WAEBRREREER

the ESG strategy is stated below.

WEESIEE AR - IRIE - B REAREN
AEHEINWT -
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Detail of the ESG Strategy

We established an ESG management system with clarified

management functions and responsibilities at all levels. We carry out

specific work through the Taskforce and help the Board understand

our ESG risks and performance in a timely manner, and so a better
incorporate ESG factor into company planning and daily operations.

42

The Board is responsible for:

assessing and determining the Group's ESG risks

ensuring the establishment of appropriate and effective

ESG risk management and internal control system

developing ESG strategies, action plans and objectives

monitoring the progress and performance of ESG work

reviewing and approving annual ESG reports

The management is responsible for:

reporting ESG-related risks and opportunities to the Board
implementing ESG risk management and internal control
systems

informing the Board of the effectiveness of ESG risk
management and internal control systems

arranging work in accordance with the ESG strategies,
action plans and objectives developed by the Board

reporting to the Board on the progress and performance of
ESG work

reviewing and submitting annual ESG report to the Board
for approval
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J The Taskforce is responsible for:
—  carrying out specific ESG work
—  reporting to the management on the progress of the work
—  collecting information and data

— preparing annual ESG reports and reporting to the
management

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This ESG Report covers the Group's business activities of offices in
Hong Kong and mainland China, which represent the Group’s major
sources of revenue. The ESG key performance indicator (“KPI”) data is
gathered and included subsidiaries under the Group's direct control.
The Group will extend the scope of disclosures when and where
applicable. The KPIs are shown in the ESG Report as well as
supplemented by explanatory notes to establish benchmarks.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the "ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in the Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Information
relating to the corporate governance practices of the Group has been
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on p.21 to p.39 of Annual
Report for the year ended 31 March 2022.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures
taken by the Group from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 (the
“Reporting Period”).
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We value our stakeholders and their feedback regarding our

HE

businesses and ESG aspects. In order to understand and address their

key concerns, we have maintained close communication with our key
stakeholders, including but not limited to Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
government, suppliers, investors, media & public, customers,
employees, as well as society.

We take stakeholders’ expectations into consideration in formulating
our businesses and ESG strategies by utilizing diversified engagement
methods and communication channels, shown as below.

Stakeholders
EEA

EEAZH

ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%\AM&HEﬁﬁ%W&%% ft

MERTHNREE
x@&%ﬂ BA—EREEESARGEY)
Al
BREE BREARRAL EF -EENU

R RTHRERERET

BRERETRREBEBAN - BUT - #E

Kitg o

Expectations and Requirements

HERER

AN
R B@NATXAREETRNSET K R
BRRE LR AL -

NHIE EBARIRE - 8 REIARE

Means of Communication

BEAR

Hong Kong Stock Exchange
BB

Government

1295}

Suppliers

HIER

Shareholders/Investors

R REE

Media & Public

BIRENR

Compliance with GEM Listing Rules
HE<F GEM LR Al

Observance of laws and disciplines
and payment of tax according to laws

TR R ERIWAOENT

Fair competition/quality and price
Stable payment terms

NERFBEERER
BEE R

Financial performance
Corporate governance
Market image

e
TEER
m i’i)ﬁ/%

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, and human rights
TEER  RERERARE
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Routine meetings, website updates
and announcements

PlITE®  BEEFRAE
Compliance checks in cooperation
with government and regulatory
authorities

Periodic filings workshops/seminars
AR ZEERBATEESR
mE
THRRL2HETES g
Business communication/procurement
contract/e-mail and telephone contact
Fair competition
XBR/REEHN/EFHBHERE
i S

NS

Information published on websites of
the Company/Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (e.g. announcements,
circulars, quarterly results reports,
interim reports, annual reports, etc.)

NGV S X 95 DN G Y
(@Uﬁﬂf\tt B FEEERS

FHIRE  FRE)

Explanation on key issues/press
releases

MOSEEERRAXG FER
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Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Means of Communication
EmA HERER BEAR
Customers ® Product quality e Setting up a variety of communication
e Prohibited/restricted substance channels to understand customers’
management needs by email, phone call and client
e Environmental, safety and health questionnaire
management performance e Audit feedback/self-managed
e Implementation performance of the performance feedback
code of conduct (labour relations/
labour rights/compliance with laws
and regulations)
e Transparency and reliability of
information disclosure
EN o EmmE s BUREBBRE BASH FF
o BR/BRANEERE REFHERTHELTR
o R BERFEEBREN o TERX[EIE B EEIREMCIE
o TREABITER(BEMER ST
R, EERROIERE)
o EKEFAAHEHEASEN
Employees e Good salary and benefits e The Company's internal website/
® Fair promotion and career e-mail/employee suggestion box/
development discussion between employees and
* Good and safe working environment executives/surveys (irregular)

e Strengthening communications with
employees to provide fair promotion
and establishing training system to
equip employees with adequate
working skills

== o RIFHVEBN AR o RRRANIAY, BFEHH EEE
o NFHWBEFMBEERE R/ BEBRIEHX HERAE (TE
e RIFZEHTIERIR 1)

o fREB TIER  RHATHBEHE
GREIFIGE - EETABRSH
B TERBE

Society e Environmental issues/compliance with  ® Sponsoring community public welfare
laws activities/community visits/corporate
e Transportation website
e Employment opportunities/ e Environmental protection
community/public welfare
e Corporate responsibility
He o RIRFH TETEE s BIMHEARED BRI, QA]
o B A8k
o BMEHE MHEKBEF o RIFRE
o BEEME

We aim to collaborate with our stakeholders to improve our ESG
performance and create greater value for the wider community on a

continuous basis.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and staff of the Group's respective major operations
have participated in the preparation of the ESG Report to assist the
Group in reviewing our operations and identifying relevant ESG issues
and assess the importance of related matters to our businesses and
stakeholders. Based on the assessed significant ESG issues, a data
collection questionnaire was prepared to collect information from
relevant departments and business units of the Group.

The following is a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues
included in this ESG Report:

Material ESG aspects of the Group

° Greenhouse Gas ("GHG") Emissions

° Energy Consumption

J Paperless Office

° Recruitment, Remuneration, Promotion and Dismissal
o Customer Privacy Protection

o Customer Services

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that it has
established appropriate and effective management policies and
internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents are in compliance with the requirements of the
"ESG Reporting Guide”.

CONTACT US

We welcome stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions.
You can provide valuable advices in respect of the ESG Report or our
performances in sustainable development by sending your feedback
and enquires to our Customer Service Manager at cs@f8.com.hk.
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CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions

Governance on Air Pollutants, GHG Emissions and Waste
Management

The Group is strongly committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which we operate. As such, the Group
has established relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding environment that may
occur in the course of our business operations. During the year ended
31 March 2022, we measured and managed our environmental
performance in several aspects throughout our operations.

In terms of the Group's sale, supply and transportation of diesel oil and
related products businesses in Hong Kong, we understand there are
environmental emissions such as air emissions, GHG emissions, waste-
water discharges, general waste, and hazardous waste disposals.
During the Reporting Period, the emissions and waste produced from
the operations of 8 diesel oil tank wagons. By integrating
environmental consideration into our decision-making processes, we
embrace our responsibilities to create an environmentally sustainable
business. We are also committed to raising our employees’
environmental awareness and complying with relevant environmental
laws and regulations.

To enhance our environmental governance practice and mitigate the
environmental impacts produced by our operations, we have
implemented relevant environmental protection policies and
communicated such policies to our employees. These policies
encourage our staff to contribute towards sustainability by adopting
environmentally friendly operation methods. In the long run, we will
continue to enhance our environmental management strategies in
monitoring and minimizing the environmental impacts brought by our
businesses regularly in the coming years.
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Air Pollutants Emissions

The total air emission produced by the Group amounted to
approximately 2,895 kg, which decreased by approximately 0.98%
compared to last year. The emission intensity was approximately 361.93
kg per vehicles (2021: 324.91 kg per vehicles). The Group strives to save
energy and reduce waste as much as possible in its daily work, thereby
reducing air pollutants emissions. Through different environmental
protection measures, employees’ awareness of reducing exhaust gas
emissions has been raised. The Group's air emissions during the
Reporting Period were as follows:

EROTRYPEIL
AEEELNTERIERYBENR2,895T 5
B EEMBFEERLD40.98% - FWTEHH
PSR E 4 73361.93 T =2 (20214 © B8 /T E
32491 T ) AEBBONBELETEE
ERBEIR MBI AIRE - TR 2= RIS R EE
Mo BB T RMRKRIENE - BELR D ERY
M) EBIS AT - RIREHRE - AEENZ
ROTRFERDIT

Air Pollutants Emission Unit 2020/2021 2021/2022 % Change
ZERT YK By 2020/2021 4 2021/2022F HILEEH
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx") KG 2,725.66 2,698.89 -0.98%
A|tm(TaELd])) T

Sulphur oxides ("SOx") KG 2.51 2.49 -0.80%
meaky ((FwEtw]) Fr

Particulate matters (“"PM") KG 195.99 194.06 -0.98%
AT IR A B ORL ([ o] R A SRS AORE |) Fr

Total 2,924.16 2,895.44 -0.98%
we

GHG Emissions and Energy Conservation

The GHG emissions generated by the Group are summarized below in
direct and indirect section. The direct emissions are from the Group's
vehicles’ consumption of fuels while the indirect emissions are via using
energy and paper disposal at landfills.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG were approximately 425.81
tonnes. Our GHG emissions were mainly classified into three scopes:

Scope 1:  Direct emission from the usage of fuels by our vehicles;
Scope 2:  Energy indirect emissions; and
Scope 3:  Indirect emissions of paper disposal at landfills.
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The following table showed the figures of the Group’s GHG emissions ~ RNRERANEBRREHFAEERESHE -
during the Reporting Period.
GHG emissions Unit 2020/2021 2021/2022 % Change
BERBHER B 2020/2021 % 2021/2022%F HOLL#E
Direct emissions of GHG from the usage of Emissions tonnes
fuels by vehicles 390 406.36 +4.20%
TR RSB AR =R A8 HEHRNE
BEYER
Indirect emissions of GHG from the energy Emissions tonnes 14 12.60 -10.0%
BEIRE K H))E = RS TR R HERL HERUE
Indirect emissions of GHG from the paper Emissions tonnes
disposal at landfills 0.51 1.74 +240.39%
MU R B B A REK AR ERE HEHNA
G379
Total 404.51 420.70 +4.00%

In line with our policies to minimize air pollutants and GHG emissions,
The Group has set a target to reduce the air pollutants emission and
the annual GHG emission intensity per unit of production volume by
3%. The Group's offices air conditioning are set and maintained at a
fixed temperature and requiring employees to turn off all the lights and
switch off the desktops after work.

Employees are also encouraged turn off the lights at lunch time and
using power saving appliances all the times.

Waste Management

Hazardous waste handling method

Despite the Group did not generate hazardous wastes during the
Reporting Period, we have established guidelines in governing the
management and disposal of hazardous wastes. In case there is any
hazardous waste produced, we must engage a qualified chemical
waste collector to handle such waste, which is complied with the

relevant environmental regulations and rules.
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Non-hazardous waste handling method

During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous waste produced by
the Group was mainly paper waste, which amount to 362.16 kg (2021:
319.25 kg) with a rise compared to last year. The paper wastes
produced per employee was 13.93 kg per employee (2021: 13.30 kg
per employee). The paper consumption increased when comparing
with last year. We strive for reducing paper consumption in the coming
year.

The Group has set a goal of reducing the intensity per employee in
respect of hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 3% in the coming
year. With the aim of minimizing the environmental impacts from non-
hazardous wastes generated from our business operations, the Group
have implemented measures to handle such wastes and launched
different reduction initiatives. The Group have disposed the waste
generated by business operation into three categories, which are
general waste, recyclable waste and special waste. Recyclable waste
includes papers, bottles, cans, etc. Special waste includes toner,
battery, etc. The three categories are handled in different ways based
on their nature.

We have implemented the following procedures to encourage

employees to share responsibilities in waste management and

minimize waste generations:

J Receiving faxes electronically as much as possible, using
electronic systems for filing documents and distributing messages

by electronic channels

o Purchasing environmentally friendly by checking item
consumption to avoid overbuying

o Using recycled toner/inkjet cartridges
J Using double-sided printing or photocopying wherever possible
J Avoiding unnecessary paper using in the office

o Recycling one-sided printed paper

o Reusable tableware is provided in the pantry

J Recycling bins are placed in the office

o A food waste decomposer machine is in place for handling food
waste
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material non-
compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and mainland China, including but not limited to the
“"Waste Disposal Ordinance”, “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”,
“"Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong Kong and “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” of mainland China
that had a significant influence on the Group's operations.

A2 Use of Resources

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in our business
operations and take initiatives to introduce measures on promoting
resource efficiency and adopting eco-friendly approaches in our
operations. The Group’s major resource consumption contributes to
energy consumption. We have established related policies and
initiatives related to energy consumption management, which will be
mentioned in this section.

Energy Consumption

The major energy consumption of the Group was electricity
consumption in the daily operation. The Group aims to minimize
environmental impacts in our operations by identifying and adopting
appropriate measures. We continuously explore the use of new energy
in our business operation and how to optimize, integrate and use the
resources in a highly efficient manner with the support of the latest
information science and technology, thereby achieving sustainable
development. Related policies and initiatives on energy conservation
have been developed to show our concern on energy efficiency. All
employees must implement the adopted policies and measures in
resource utilization. Regular review is conducted on our energy
objectives and targets to seek continuous improvement in the Group's
energy performance.
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Monthly monitoring on the usage of electricity was implemented.

Unexpected high electricity consumption would be investigated to find

out the root cause and preventive measures would be taken. During

the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented the following

measures relating to mitigating emissions:

Switching off unnecessary lightings and electrical appliances

when not in use

Don't use the high power incandescent lamps

The air-conditioning of the meeting room should not be turned
on until 15 minutes before anyone uses it, and the air-
conditioning should be turned off immediately when leaving the

meeting room

Lower the curtains before leaving the office to reduce the amount
of direct sunlight in the office the following day

Initiating the standby or hibernate mode of the computer in
order to make sure to turn off their computers before leaving the
office

Turning off unnecessary servers at night and on public holidays

Implementing “no light policy” during lunch time

Using appliances and devices which are eco-friendly or energy-
saving

Setting all printers, photocopiers and computers to energy saving
mode

During the Reporting Period, the total electricity consumption amount
of the Group was approximately 34.06 MWh (2021: 31.46 MWh) and the
electricity consumption intensity was approximately 1.31 MWh per
employee (2021: 1.31 MWh per employee). After carefully reviewing

current business operations, the Group has set the consumption target

of energy as reducing 3% the electricity consumption intensity in the

coming year. The Group will adopt measures in promoting the

employee’s awareness of energy conservation.
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Water Consumption

As our principal business was focusing on sale and transportation of
diesel oil products, we did not consume significant amounts of water
through our business activities. In respect of water sourcing for office
use, since the water source is from the government department, there
was no water sourcing issue during the Reporting Period.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the nature of the Group's business, the Group has no industrial
production and no factory facilities. Therefore, no significant amount of
packaging materials is used for packaging products.

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
Protecting the Environmental Impact and Natural Resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/significant impact
on environment and natural resources. The Group nonetheless
commits to using natural resources wisely and efficiently while we
encourage the reuse and recycling of materials within our operations.
We spent efforts in mitigating our potential environmental impacts
through adopting industry best practices targeted at reducing natural
resources consumption and developing effective environmental
management. We regularly assess the environmental risks of our
businesses, adopt preventive measures to reduce potential risks and
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Due to the increased usage of vehicles for transportation of diesel oil
and related products and the expansion in our business, our carbon
emissions, paper consumption and electricity consumption increased
when compared with the emission from last year. Nonetheless, the
awareness of environmental protection and sustainability has been
raised among our employees.

In addition, in order to prevent any diesel oil leakage during both land
and water transport, the oil tank wagons, and barge are inspected
frequently and are closely monitored. Instant repairs and maintenance
are carried out in case any unusual conditions are found in our vehicles.
Besides, we have enough space vehicles for backup when needed. For
the oil tank barge, we have contracted with a crew of experienced
sailors to monitor the daily operations of the water transportation.
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Paperless Office

In order to reduce paper usage, the Group strongly advocated
paperless office operations. All offices are operated in the electronic
system as far as possible to reduce the use and consumption of office
paper in order to save forest resources. We also encouraged electronic
medium for communications within the office and with suppliers.

As a socially responsible enterprise, protecting nature and the
environment has become an integral part of the Group’s corporate
culture and important value, the Group constantly looks for ways to
maximize benefits with minimal resource consumption and
environmental impact, and continue to strive for sustainable
development.

A4 Climate Change

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been significantly
impacted by climate-related issues while the Group understands
climate-related issues are harmful to the environment and have been
rigorously regulated by the United Nations’ Framework Convention.
The Group recognises the importance of identifying climate change
risk to mitigate the associated impacts on its business operations by
minimizing its GHG emission. However, typhoon, sandstorms, haze and
other natural disaster, all of which, would directly affect the daily
operating of the Group. As a result, the Group has continuously
evaluated for any impact arising from natural disaster and has taken
measures to mitigate its impacts.
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CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY
B. SOCIAL

B1 Employment and Labor Practices
Equal Employment Practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of employees
whom they are considered as the Group’s most valuable assets. Hence,
the Group strives to attract and retain talents and reconcile economical
imperatives with well-beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty
and commitment of human capital.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources manual
which includes policies and procedures applicable to staff. All
employees are treated fairly regarding recruitment, training and
development, appraisal of work performance, promotions, rest periods,
remuneration and benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of Laws of Hong Kong) or relevant
local laws and regulations, as well as the requirements stipulated in the
employment contracts. The Group is committed to providing equal
opportunity for all employees and applicants without regard to race,
color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual
orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal appearance, family
responsibilities, matriculation or any other characteristic protected
under local law.

Throughout the F8 Enterprises’ operation, the Group strives to provide
an excellent and comfortable working environment. Based on the
features of the principal business, the Group understands that taking a
break by its staff from time to time is necessary for accomplishing the
long-term goals of the Group, and so, it strike a proper work life
balance of its employees, providing them 6-day work per week with 8
working hours per weekday and 3 working hours every Saturday. We
appreciate the efforts of employees during their working hours, and
advocate a no over time working culture, to allow sufficient rest time
for employees. In case overtime is needed, overtime compensation is
paid to employees according to the actual additional working hours.
The Group provides paid annual leave, maternity leave, paternity leave
and funeral leave in addition to statutory holidays for the employees.

In addition, we contribute to the Mandatory Provident Fund and
employee’s compensation insurance with reference to the relevant
regulations and laws. Medical allowance is also provided by the Group
to employees covering their clinic consultation, traditional Chinese
medicine, dentistry, as a basic benefit for employees.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 28 staffs in total. As an
illustration, the workforce statistic by gender and age group are
illustrated in pie graphs while the employment type and employment
category are disclosed as bar charts:

DABX  BiEdE
B. &

B1 BRENRETESR

FEREBEESR

AEBEFRERREBRN  GEAAKERE
BEMEE - At AEER RS RBE
A WP KB M SRR - AR A
NERNPMEE  BBEREA -

AEECRAZENANERTM  EHEE
ERARNEENBRERNLER - FIEREREERE
Bl R - THERRFE - &7 BEY - #
RN ST EIS R R TEET - FEE THE
REB AP S 57 BB IRGISKARRE M T A2
FERARBRAHRENEL - REBERN
RITBERELRBERRTIERE  THE
kBB R B MR Fie o BRMR
SRR B BUakA - BASNK K
EEE - BESEAEMS T EARRENR
e

EFRLENBEELERET  AEEH R
HRIFFEOTIERE - ERTBRBOE
o AKEHAAQ THEEEARERERAE
BEREEEME Bt AEEH N REEE
RIEREZR 2 HFREE FE  BRESE
TYERB - FHEAIE/VNE  SBARTHE
= RPRHEER R TREFELNS
N WHRIETEER TIEXE - AMERBEARH
RS o BN TIE - AIAKEESREE
REVERSN T By (AR B X2 (R RS TARAIMEE © BR
EEBRBIN  AEBEREBRESHER E
R FEBRLER-

AN - BB ERBER KA RSB BIEATE
& MR B ERRELHER - AEETRAER
REBBER  EPRELHZE  E5F
B IRRGS - MERBTHEREH -

MR202%F3 7318 AEEASHER28%8
T o RBUbaiPA - MR R ERARINE T
HEUASMREERR - MERER RERER A
LAREAR B4 55 -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 55



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERRE

Gender and Age Distribution

Employee Breakdown by Gender
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour standards
and employment laws and regulations which are applicable to our
business. During the Reporting Period, no material and significant
disputes between the Group and the employees were occurred.

B2 Health and Safety
Promoting Health and Safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees as one of its
primary responsibilities. As such, the Group is committed to providing
a workplace free from injury and illness through effective procedures
and practice on occupational health and safety.

Regarding workplace health and safety, first aid boxes are available at
readily accessible locations in the Group's offices. Treatment for minor
injuries can be obtained on request to the supervisor in charge at the
site of the first aid box nearest to the scene of the accident. The Group
purchased medical insurance for all employees to cover any medical,
dental, hospital and surgical expenses and conducted health check
from time to time to ensure the health of employees. Employees who
suffer from injury arising out of and in the course of employment are
entitled to compensation in accordance with the related regulations.
During the Reporting Period, there were no fatal cases reported, in
which we successfully achieved a 0% rate of fatality.

The measures for emergency situations in respect of fire occurring in
certain buildings or installations are also regulated in terms of
guidelines assisting employees to take sensible immediate action when
discovering a fire. The Group provides fire drill for the employees to
ensure they can evacuate quickly and safely from the premises and
assembled in the designated area away from the building in the event
of a fire.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has ensured full compliance
with relevant occupational health and safety legislations of Hong Kong,
the PRC, and other relevant legislations. No severe injury or fatality was
reported throughout the Reporting Period.
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B3 Development and Training
Talent Management

The Group recognizes the valuable contribution of our talents for the
continuous success of the Group. Nurturing talents and polishing the
skills of our human capital is crucial in leading us to excellence. This is
achieved through development of training strategy that focuses on
creating values and serving the needs of our customers, talents and
society. Therefore, we encourage our employees to attend trainings
and obtain professional qualifications.

We notice the importance of training and development for our staff to
keep abreast of the latest trend in the industry and the dynamic pace
in current market. During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly
provided informal on-the-job training to employees. The Group also
provided regular formal safety trainings for all its drivers and Excel
programming updated for its office staff. The training time hours for
the male staff is 326 and for the female is 13. The Group determine the
company's vision and be willing to share it with employee. The Group
also motivate employees by asking employees for their opinions and
sharing ideas, so as to improve the cohesion and attraction of the
team. In this way, employees feel that they are part of the team and an
important participant in the success of the team. the Group has
established relevant policies in the Staff Handbook stating that it
employees are welcome to participate in the external training sessions
organized by government agencies on occupational safety and
environmental awareness.
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During the Reporting Period, the development and training statistic by

gender and employment category are disclosed in following bar  ZFI|& T HIERBER AT IEFE :

graphs:
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B4 Labor Standards
Prohibiting Child and Forced Labor

The Group prohibits the use of child labor and forced or compulsory
labor at all its units and suppliers. No employee is made to work
against his/her will or work as forced labor, or subject to corporal
punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

Personal data are collected during the process to assist in the selection
of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’ personal data to ensure
no child labor will be recruited. The human resources department also
ensures identity documents are carefully checked. Overtime working is
on a voluntary basis. Also, compensation is provided for overtime
working with prior approval obtained from respective supervisor. If
violation is involved, it will be dealt with in the light of the

circumstances.

Also, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of child labor and
forced labor and the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant rules and regulations on preventing child or forced labor.

B5 Supply Chain Management
Upholding High Procurement Standards

The Group highly values our relationship with suppliers and regards
them as important business partners. All suppliers are evaluated
carefully and subjected to regular monitoring and assessment. The
Group has formulated related procurement policies and procedures to
manage its suppliers and the policies and procedures are reviewed
annually.

As at 31 March 2022, there are 23 qualified oil suppliers in Hong Kong,
including 4 major suppliers: Mobil, Caltex, Sinopec, SHELL. The Group
has set clear requirements on selection and management of suppliers
to ensure standardized management and proper selection of suppliers
and effective control over operational risks resulting from improper
selection, unreasonable method or fraudulent practice of suppliers.
The Group's policies regarding the purchase from suppliers focused
on quality, environment protection, price, and reputation, etc.
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The Group have a set of criteria to choose suppliers. The basic criteria
for selecting suppliers is the "Q, C, D, S” principle, which is the
principle of quality, cost, delivery and service. Among the four, the
quality factor is the most important. First, it is necessary to confirm
whether the supplier has established a stable and effective quality
assurance system, and then confirm whether the supplier has the
equipment and process capabilities to produce the specific products
required. The second is cost, it is necessary to use value engineering
methods to analyze the cost of the products involved, and to achieve
cost savings through price negotiations. In terms of delivery, it is
necessary to determine whether the supplier has sufficient production
capacity, whether human resources are sufficient, and whether there is
potential for production capacity. The last point is the supplier’s pre-
sales and after-sales service records.

In order to manage the progress and quality of work conducted by our
suppliers, we have set up standards for the tender and purchase from
suppliers. We have also established a database of suppliers, which
includes the basic information of suppliers, the types of products or
services providers, the types of suppliers and the supply prices for the
Group’s long-term follow-up assessment of suppliers. Our managers
and project coordinators conduct regular review with the appointed
suppliers.

Related policies are formulated by the Group to ensure that the
suppliers could participate in competitions in an open and fair way.
The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated treatment
on certain suppliers; it would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of
business bribery; and employees or personnel having any interest
relationship with the supplier should not be involved in the related
business activity.

AEEA-—ETEHBRANER - BEHRER
MEREESIQ-C D SIRE - BIEE -
AR RIS RRBREA - B - EERERR
EZ--Bi FHERANEFRRSCRIBESR
MHEERERE  REBIANEBEEAE
HEPTHRREE AR R T
A - BEEREEIRIDENTIPERD
RS A RS E R F B IR o R
SH BEBREHEBESEATHHER T
BARHNANER  2EEBERED - &
&R SR R ERIRF AR o

.
o HRZ

REEHEENTEEENEE  BACDME
FER RO RIS MR I EARZE - BAITREESL T
EEENE  HheRHEENELAER &
ARG E R AER - HERER REE
BI& - ABARESHERDETRBRER
fly - BPIOLIE KRIA B e B H 8 E BRI TT
EMES -

AREE B EERBUR - LR EEEARH
NS EEF -  AEETSHETHERE
TERMERBR S - BREEL I &ER
EWBRTR  BHERANDBENERSKA
BETB2HEEMERLS -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 61



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERRE

B6 Product Responsibility
Delivering Unmatched Product Quality

The Group’s business led by its experienced management team is
committed to offering higher-value services to customers, in order to
enhance the Group’s competitiveness and achieve mutual success
between the Group and customers. In order to ensure product quality,
careful supply quality inspection is performed as mentioned above.
Moreover, to ensure the service quality, regular training is provided to
all drivers for the job-related skills and knowledge. During the
Reporting Period, there was no case of product recalls for safety and
health reason.

Intellectual Property Right

The Group is committed to safeguarding intangible assets and
confidential information of its customers. The Group has strict
guidelines on the handling of intellectual property related products,
including patents, copyrights, trademarks, technology and trade
secrets. Any employee found to improperly handling intellectual
property rights will be subject to disciplinary action.

Customer Data Protection

The Group takes serious protection of our members’ confidential
information. The Group seeks to protect our members’ information
and accounts by employing data security measures such as encryption,
passwords and firewalls, etc. The Group has hired specific employees
to handle the storage and access of our customers’ information. Our
employees are prohibited to use the personal information of our
customers for purposes which are not related to the maintenance of
their accounts, unless their prior consent is obtained. If our employees
would like to access the information of our customers, they will need to
apply for approval. We do not sell, rent or otherwise share the personal
information of clients with any third parties without their prior consent.
Stipulated in our privacy policy, we make sure that the processing of
personal data for marketing purposes, fulfil the requirements of
applicable law.
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Complaint Mechanism

To provide a pleasant user experience for our customers, the Group
has long established a set of procedures to handle customers’
feedbacks or complaints in a professional manner. Customers’
information will be recorded, and enquiries or complaints cases
received will be transferred to the related departments or further
handling. Reviews on feedback or complaints is conducted, and action
plans are in place promptly to address the identified issues. The Group
will collect the information on the complaint cases, such as the
occasion, reason, and the contact of the client, etc. Customers’
satisfaction is evaluated after the cases are settled, and feedbacks or
complaints may be circulated to management if necessary.

During the Reporting Period, there was no case of non-compliance
with laws and regulations in relation to product responsibility within the
offices of the Group.

B7 Anti-Corruption
Commitment to Anti-Corruption

The Group commits to maintaining a high standard of integrity when
doing business as we strongly believe that it is essential to meeting the
expectations of our stakeholders.

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical pursuits. The
Group has implemented an effective whistle-blowing policy for
reporting fraud, corruption, bribery, extortion and money laundering.
We encourage the reporting of suspected business irregularities and
provide clear channels specifically for this purpose. When suspected
wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of duty, abuse of power,
receiving bribes, staff should report to the Board for investigation and
verification, and report to the regulator and/or to law enforcement
authority when necessary.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there are no concluded legal
cases regarding corruption brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.
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RE HERERRE

B8 Community Investment
Contributing to the Welfare of Society

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group participated in
various community activities to help the environment of the society.
For example, volunteering services, flood donation, etc. To have a
better understanding of the needs in society and strengthen the
connection with local communities, we regularly communicated with
local charities. We have also encouraged our employees to participate
in community activities and suggested areas of contribution based on
their personal experiences in the community. In the coming years, the
Group will continue paying efforts in the environmental, employees
and customers aspects and keeping the success of this year and at the
same time, the Group will intend to invest more resources into
volunteering initiatives to contribute to the society.
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RIE -HEKRER

INDEX FOR ESG

Subject Areas,
Aspect,
General Disclosure

HE

REPORTING GUIDE RIB

FHERERREESIRS

and KPlIs Description Section/Declaration
FTHEEE  BH -
—RIRBERBERE
R i3t B, B
Aspect A1: Emissions
A1EE : HK
General Disclosure  Information on: Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
— R BRBERSOBEREYN - FKRLHHOEES  AEREE  BR
BEERVHNELSH
@ BE: Kk
b) BEFTHZBTABERZENHBERZNAEOINER -
KPIAT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Air Pollutants

FASAR IR R ALY

KPIA1.2

PSR RUIEIRA1.2

KPIA1.3

PSR RUIER A3

KPIA1.4

PSR IEIR AL

BEmmtEsa AR AR -

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.

REREBHNEE (M) RTE

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

ELENERENEE (W) REE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.

ELERFEREYEE () k7

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558

Emissions; GHG Emissions and
Energy Conservation; Waste

Management

719 —fﬁﬁ‘;{%%ﬁm{ BE
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Emissions — GHG Emissions
and Energy Conservation
P — R EREBH ML EIKIEE
i

Emissions — Waste
Management (Not applicable
— Explained)
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Emissions — Waste
Management

PR — EERMEE
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEEY - EE

—RRERERE

MR Rt &, 89

KPI'A1.5 Description of reduction initiatives and results achieved. Emissions — Air Pollutants

RRAERIERALS

KPI'AT.6

RRERIEIRALS

R EBE R E B FE b M TS AR

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
BB EEREZEEYN T L - RIKEEENTEIERT
BRR -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2EH : EAER

Emissions; GHG Emissions and
Energy Conservation; Waste
Management

PE — RS RBEN  RE
RESHER R B REEIR - BEEME
b

Emissions — Waste
Management

PR — BERYE R

General Disclosure

—REE

KPIA2.1

RS AR IR R A2.1

KPI'A2.2

RS AEIEIR A2.2

KPI'A2.3

RS AE IR IR A2.3

KPI'A2.4

RRERIEIRA24

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BERERER - ¥R - KEEAMRMEEE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total
and intensity.

HER/RREEERERRERE) BERE

PG

o

Water consumption in total and intensity.

FKBERTE -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

fit e TR (E A Bz At BI M PSR R

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

FHAERBRKSZEEFAENTS BE - B/KEEI RERGKR
BT RE e
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Subject Areas,

Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPlIs Description
FTEEE EEH-
—RIEREREE

MiEE it

Section/Declaration

i) 27

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and with reference to per unit produced.

MERIERA25 ARKE () BEMHEE  Y2REEMLE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

ASEH : REEXARER

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material (Not
applicable — Explained)
ERER — BEMEHER
(TER —ERE)

General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

—RRHE BAREEIT AR RN EREK BT EHBER
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

BRASIEIZEAI  HHEBESHRFEERANERNERAFERDEKDNEERS
R 2n7T8) o

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BT A4 : RIFEL

The Environment and Natural
Resources
RIBERXAER

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Paperless Office

REARAER —BERLE

General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

— R E BRINEH KRR A HETAEETENEARIZIERA
FEHBOR

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted and the actions taken to manage them.

BREMIERAL  HABKNAIESHETAELTENERRGEBER
N EHTE)

Climate Change

TIREE

Climate Change

TIREE
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FTEEE  EH-
— R ERERE
MiEE

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B1: Employment

B1EMm : EfE

General Disclosure

— R

KPI'B1.1

RSB RIEIR B

KPIB1.2

PR IE1R B1.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BRI R R - RIS R SR - TERE - A TFEHK

g Zifb - RBAUREMAFS REN

(@ B K&

(b) HETABEAZEZNEEEERAENNER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
RIER - RIBEE (N2 BEFRE) - FicaR MR E 5 H
EERH -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

RIER - FEAR MR I DHEERKL X -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

B2EMH : RFERZE

Employment and Labour
Practise

BEESTER

Employment and Labour
Practise

BENBTER

Employment and Labour
Practise

BEESTER

General Disclosure

—REE
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Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FARHZE2TERELMREREEBOBELEEN

(@ EHE: &

b) BEBTHBETABEAZENHEBEENBROINER -
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FHEEE  EH| -
—REERERE
BIEER

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3EME : BERIE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'B3.1

RSB RUIEIR B3

KPI'B3.2

RSB ISR B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRRIHEBET LIERE OB R REENBUR - fdiE
EEIE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RURNREEEN(NEREERE PREEE) ENNR
JMEER DL

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

BRI REEERIE D - BRES TN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

B4EME : T %8|

Development and Training

R Mg

Development and Training

R Mg

Development and Training

TR MIE

General Disclosure

— IR

KPI B4.1

RR B IEIR B4

KPI B4.2

RSB IEIRBA.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BB IEE T okoahil&s THY -

(@) Xk

b) BEFHETAEBEAZEMNHBEERLROINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
f it i s RSB B M AR R E T RRH ST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

R38R 2 BB R B B RIS U PT SR ER Y 5 5],

Labour Standards

Labour Standards

5 TR

&%

Labour Standards

5 TR
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FHEEE  EH| -
—REERERE
Mg

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

B5EMH : HEREE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B5.1
RS A 4515 BS.1

KPI'B5.2

RA4 B W IEIZ B5.2

KPI'B5.3

BASEAENIE1R B5.3

KPI B5.4

FASAENIERB5 .4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
EEHERNRE R SEREEK

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
i S oM EREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR HEERNIED - MERTEBEN RS
B UNMEBERITRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Rt B AR RS R NIRE R G ARAES - LA
RAARITRERITE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

F i PR R R 2 R IRE mn L IRBS VB - A
HERITRERTTE -
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FTEEE EEH-
—RIEREREE
MIEE

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6BH : EREME

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI'B6.1

RSB RIE 1R B6.1

KPI'B6.2

PR A MIE 1R B6.2

KPI B6.3

FASAENIEIR B6.3

KPI B6.4

RS AE IR B6 .4

KPIB6.5

PSR AE MIE1R B6.5

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

ERFRHERMREHRERZ S - BE - 8% 7l

HIARFRIT AN

@@ BE: K

b) BFHBITABERZENHBERZNADINER -

el

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEXDEXERAET R BEREHMERKNE D

Lt °

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EIERAE fn RISV IR B A R EH X -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
Fi it R4 o S ARPS AN EERE R A 1E D)

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
i E 2R TEBREREMRBIKIEF

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.
fMUEBEERRE RALBBER - AREBARITRERR
& o

=S

Product Responsibility

Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality
RHREEMER

Complaint Mechanism
BRI

Intellectual Property Right
FERE

Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality
RHREEMER

Customer Data Protection

BEFERMRE
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FTEEE  EH-
— R ERERE
MiEE

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

B7EM® : RESS

General Disclosure

—fRINEE

KPI B7.1

RAS AR 1R BT

KPI B7.2

FASHE ISR BT .2
KPI B7.3

RREMIEIRBT 3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRA RS - $1R - MEFROLREH ¢

@ BX: Kk

b) BETFTHZBTABERZENHBERZNROINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERPAHETASEBERBD A EFENBSHARN
BB E MARAAER o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Rty 15 b R RIR T - AT RERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.
it mESE N8 TRENRESHEI -
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FHEEE  EH| -
—REERERE
BIEER

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B8: Community Investment

B8EM : HERE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'B8.1

RSB RIS 1R B8

KPI B8.2

RS ISR B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BRANZERTBETAEEMELRT2NRRELERE
PeZELRMEHBOR -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
ETEREE(MHE  RREE BIFTR BE X
-85 -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

EEIHRBMPAER(MNSEREM) o

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HEIRE

Community Investment

HEIRE
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EEERE

The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on 30
March 2016.

The shares of the Company have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange by way of placing and public offer on 12 April 2017.

On 21 April 2020, 78,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
were allotted and issued as fully paid for the vendor at the issue price of
HK$0.21 each under the general mandate. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 21 April 2020.

On 8 August 2021, 130,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were allotted and issued as fully paid to a nominated
shareholder at the issue price of HK$0.086 each under general mandate.
For further details, please reference to the announcements dated 11 June
2021, 16 June 2021, 8 July 2021, 30 July 2021 and 4 August 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The principal activity of the Group is
sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong
Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 111. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years is set out on pages 239 to 240 of this
report.
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EEERE

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any
significant investment, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies save for the section headed
“Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this
report. Save for note 51 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group did not have any future plans for material investments and
capital assets as at 31 March 2022.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company’s shares were listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. A total of 200,000,000 new shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Share(s)") were issued at
HK$0.32 per share for a total of approximately HK$64.0 million. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer, after
deduction of the underwriting commission and related expenses in
connection with the Share Offer, was approximately HK$45.1 million.
The net proceeds, upon receipt by the Company after Listing, has
been deposited at a bank and such net proceeds will be applied in the
manners consistent with the proposed applications set out in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2022 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company

during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity on page 109 and note 42 to the

consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operation, business and

prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The

followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group

relating to our business:

76

The Group is dependent on the major supplier (in terms of total
purchases) for the supply of diesel oil. Any shortage or delay in
the supply of diesel oil from it, or any change in its existing
marketing strategies may materially and/or adversely affect the
Group's business and results of operations if we cannot secure
alternative sources of supply immediately.

The Group's customers are not subject to any minimum purchase
requirement to purchase diesel oil from the Group.

A significant portion of the Group's revenue was attributable to
the sale of diesel oil and its profitability may be adversely
affected if demand for diesel oil declines for any reason.

The demand for our diesel oil would be adversely affected by the
delay in public sector projects caused by failures or delays in
passing funding for public work proposals by committees of the
Legislative Council due to lawmakers’ filibustering.

The Group's business and results of operations are dependent
on the oil price which are driven by factors beyond the Group’s
control and the uncertainty of the crude oil price could have a
material adverse impact on the Group's financial condition and
results of operations.

Changes in the market conditions and trends in the construction

industry and in the overall economy may affect the Group's
operations and growth.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Up to 31 March 2022, there has been no purchase, sale or redemption
of any Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022
and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee (Vice Chairlady)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan

Pursuant to article 84 of Articles of Association of the Company (the
"Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles, provided that every Director shall be
retired at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Fong Chun
Man, our executive Director and Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, our
independent non-executive Director, will retire from office as an
executive Director and an independent non-executive Director
respectively at the forthcoming annual general meeting ("AGM") to be
held on Friday, 16 September 2022. Mr. Fong Chun Man and Mr. Chui
Chi Yun, Robert, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent and meet the independent
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BE - HEIED LHES

HE2022F3A31H » KA E AL IS
NEMERE - HEIBREAARR LHE

S

HE202F3A3MBEFEREZAFHEHR
B RAREFNOT ¢

HITES

TR (E/F)
SmEet (B/LE)
REWESE L (TTBAEEL)

BAFHITESE
BE kA
BB S A
FLnhE

BEARQNRIEBEZERME(THAEA ) Eealk
=oZ—WMEBEZARBMBUINARRBRERS
AeLHMERARERET  HEREFAES
LEB=FRE—R Al MITESHENEL
ERBUIENITERELCAEEBR 202249
A16B(EHR) BT EERFBF A ([K
RBEKRE]) Lo RRERITES RIBILIEH
TER - FEXEERESCREFEERY
FREREEKRERAT Kg FEEET -

B

BRI IFRTESTERIEGEM LM RIZES5.09
ERAARNRRXBABLIME 2 FEERE - K
RARR ERBIUFNTESTHRBILA
T WA GEM MR RIS 5.09 RATHE 2 18
MIEES] -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 77



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a)

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company and shall continue thereafter unless
terminated in accordance with the terms therein. Under the terms
of the service contract, the service contract may be terminated by
not less than three months’ notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company which may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by either
party on the other. The term of service of a Director is three years
commencing on the Listing Date subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 92 to 97 of this report.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during or at the end of the year
ended 31 March 2022.

As of 31 March 2022, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole
or any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022
and up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that the internal control measures in relation to
managing actual or potential conflict of interest of the Group have
been properly implemented.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS

On 23 March 2017, Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited
(being controlling shareholders of the Group) entered into a deed of
non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to which each
of Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited has irrevocably and
unconditionally, jointly and severally, warrants and undertakes with the
Company that, immediately upon the Share Offer becoming
unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall procure each of his/its
close associates and any company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr.
Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited (except for the members the
Group) shall not, except through any member of our Group, directly or
indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as principal
or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement and whether for profit or otherwise), carry on,
engage in, invest or acquire or hold any rights or be interested or
otherwise involved in any business that is similar to or in competition
directly or indirectly with or is likely to be in competition with any
business currently and from time to time engaged by our Group in Hong
Kong and any other country or jurisdiction to which our Group carries on
business or grants franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).

Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited further undertake that
when he/it or his/its close associates other than any member of the
Group is offered or becomes aware of any new project or business
opportunity (“New Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to
engage or become interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall
promptly notify our Company of such New Business Opportunity in
writing, refer the same to our Company for consideration first and
provide such information as may be reasonably required by our
Company to make an informed assessment of such New Business
Opportunity; and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the controlled
persons or controlled company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity is
declined by our Company, or our Company does not proceed with
such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from the date
of the written notice (of if requested by our Company in writing, such
30 business days period may be extended to a maximum of 60
business days), and the principal terms of which he/it and/or his/its
close associates invest or participate in are no more favourable than
those made available to our Company.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed "“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited have both confirmed
to the Company of his/its compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under the
Deed of Non-Competition have been complied by each of Mr. Fong
Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited and duly enforced during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

For the year ended 31 March 2022, there has been no purchase, sale or
redemption of any Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any
of the subsidiaries.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (ii)
to be entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERBRSTHRAEBREQATREAGEE
BHRG  HEROREEZPIOERZR
-}

R202%F3 8318 EFERARAI REITR
ABRART SR EME AR (& RES M
EIEFIEXVED) %D - IR D S EEEF
BA () REES M EEPIEXVIBET R8H
HEMG AN RBRATHERS KRR (B
RIEFE % M BB E (5018 B SU B 1E AR Ve
BREREARE)KG)BAARBESRBAE
1151 55 35218 7B 77 B My & R0 1 7 A 4 25 R0
2 - 8 (i) BB GEM TR B £ 5.46 16 5 5.67
EERBAMEARNR MBS RITNE S EITES
RS MANGAQE KRBT KA R
™

Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
EEnE 51 REnttE BEROHBE BREDL
Mr. Fong Chun Man Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 504,576,000 50.06%
(Long position)
TEX L EEtEEEE (1) 504,576,000 50.06%
(F8)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Interest of spouse (Note 2) 504,576,000 50.06%
(Long position)
BMEL T RO B RS (Mt 2) 504,576,000 20.06%
(F8)
Notes: HsE -
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZERMNBERFERAREE - H100%&#EH 5 &

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

2. Ms. Lo Pui Yee is the spouse of Mr. Fong Chun Man and is therefore deemed to be
interested in all the shares which Mr. Fong Chun Man is interested for the purpose
of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO
(including interests and/or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered
into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2022, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed to have interests in shares or underlying shares which
(i) were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules or, (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of any member of our Group.
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Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
BRREB A B EnttE BEROHBE BREDL
Grand Tycoon Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 504,576,000 50.06%
(Long position)
REFBRAA BEamEAA (M) 504,576,000 50.06%
(F&)

Note: fisE -

1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZEROBEFERARREE - H100%KEHT &
as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested NEEER  c ESRBEGRMIEXNVETE - HE
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO. XEEWRARBEFT ERAFEE 2 2HMRG %

B o
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors have not [ F X EE I - R2022F3A31H » &

been notified by any person who had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme in
which certain eligible participants including, among others, the
Directors and employees of the Group may be granted options to
subscribe for Shares on 23 March 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The
share option scheme became unconditional upon the Listing Date.
Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant
options to eligible participants to subscribe for Shares.

No share options were granted since the Adoption Date up to 31
March 2022, and there was no share option outstanding as at 31 March
2022. Therefore, the Company may grant options in respect of up to
80,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result from a sub-
division or a consolidation of such 80,000,000 Shares from time to time)
to the participants under the share option scheme.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders or the
Directors and their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with our Group's business during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirms that all of the Directors complied with such required standard
of dealings and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as at the date of this report.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save for one isolated case for non-compliance under the GEM Listing
Rules, details of which are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 August 2021, the Director is aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group and no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations during the year ended 31 March 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest customers
accounted for 15.0% and 46.6% (2021: 20.5% and 51%) of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 20.7% and 69.9% (2021: 22.2% and 70.3%) of the total
purchases of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended
31 March 2022 did the Directors, their associates nor any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the
Group's major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 30 August 2019, 18 September 2019 and 25 October 2019, JTFHHT
#EB HERHE AR QA (Jiangxi Xinji Power Technology Company
Limited®) (“Jiangxi Xinji"), a subsidiary of the Company at the time, for
the purpose of its requirements necessary for production of steel
products and motor parts, had entered into certain purchase
transactions with #1ifl(=/8)& 5B A7 (New Steel (Shanghai) Trade
Co., Ltd.*) (“New Steel (Shanghai)”) for the purchase of iron and steel
materials (the “First Purchase Transactions”). During the period
between August 2019 and June 2020, Jiangxi Xinji had entered into
certain purchase transactions with JT ¥l f8 5 # M R AR QA
(Jiangxi Xingang Southern New Material Company Limited*) (formerly
known as FURFE T (FTR)RELFTM BT AR AR (Wisdri (Xinyu) Cold
Processing Engineering Co., Ltd.*)) (“Jiangxi Xingang") for the
purchase of iron and steel materials (together with the First Purchase
Transactions, the "Purchase Transactions”).

* The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names

of these entities are in Chinese.
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Report of the Board of Directors
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Prior to the completion of the deemed disposal on 15 April 2021,
Jiangxi Xinji was an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, with the Company holding 55% equity interest in Jiangxi
Xinji. The remaining equity interests in Jiangxi Xinji were held as to 35%
by ¥ # i # & B A R 2 7] (Xinyu Iron and Steel Corporation Ltd.*)
("Xinyu Steel Group”) (a state-owned enterprise) and as to 10% by a
shareholder. Xinyu Steel Group, being a substantial shareholder of
Jiangxi Xinji, has held 100% equity interest in New Steel (Shanghai),
which in turn is an associate of Xinyu Steel Group by virtue of Rule
20.11(1) of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore, Jiangxi Xingang is
owned as to 70% by ¥l %5 B R A F] (Xinyu Iron and Steel Co.,
Ltd.*) (“Xinyu Iron and Steel”) which in turn is owned as to
approximately 38.17% by Xinyu Steel Group. Therefore, Jiangxi
Xingang is an associate of Xinyu Steel Group by virtue of Rule 20.11(3)
of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, each of New Steel (Shanghai) and
Jiangxi Xingang is a connected person of the Company at subsidiary
level and the Purchase Transactions between the Group and each of
New Steel (Shanghai) and Jiangxi Xingang constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The purchase prices for the Purchase Transactions have been and will
be determined on order-by-order basis with reference to the prevailing
comparable market price after arm’s length negotiation between the
Group and each of New Steel (Shanghai) and Jiangxi Xingang. The
purchase prices are settled in cash. Our Group has purchased the iron
and steel materials on an as-needed basis and will continue to do so
on such basis. As the iron and steel materials required are generally
readily available in the market, it is our policy to obtain quotations from
at least three independent suppliers that provide similar materials
before we make any purchase from New Steel (Shanghai) and Jiangxi
Xingang. Based on the fee quotes provided by other independent
suppliers, we will be able to ensure that the purchase price to be paid
to New Steel (Shanghai) and Jiangxi Xingang by our Group represents
the prevailing market price and on normal commercial terms.

We have purchased iron and steel materials from Jiangxi Xingang and
New Steel (Shanghai) since August 2019 and November 2019
respectively. Since our Group is satisfied with the quality and timely
delivery of the materials provided by Jiangxi Xingang and New Steel
(Shanghai) and the terms offered by them to our Group are on normal
commercial terms, our Directors are of the view that it will be in the
interests of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole to continue the
Purchase Transactions with Jiangxi Xingang and New Steel (Shanghai),
where necessary.
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Report of the Board of Directors
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The Company estimates that the amount of the annual cap in respect
of the Purchase Transactions is HK$72,000,000 for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022, and Jiangxi Xinji ceased to be a subsidiary of
the Company on 15 April 2021.

For the period from 1 April 2021 to 15 April 2021, there is no Purchase
Transactions incurred by the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 20.99 of the GEM Listing Rules, a connected
transaction between the listed issuer’s group and a connected person
at the subsidiary level on normal commercial terms or better is
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
shareholders’ approval requirements if: (1) the listed issuer’s board of
directors has approved the transactions; and (2) the independent non-
executive directors have confirmed that the terms of the transaction
are fair and reasonable, the transaction is on normal commercial terms
or better and in the interests of the listed issuer and its shareholders as
a whole.

The Company has obtained approval from the Board regarding the
Purchase Transactions, For further details, please refer to the
announcement dated 3 July 2020.

Confirmation from the Directors in relation to Continuing
Connected Transactions

On 30 June 2020, the Company has obtained the approval from the
Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) regarding
the Purchase Transactions. Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) have confirmed and ratified that the terms of the Purchase
Transactions have been entered into and will be carried out:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreements governing the Purchase
Transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company confirms that the Company has complied with the
reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions
set out above.
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The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
consider that the Purchase Transactions above and the annual caps are
fair and reasonable, and that such transactions have been entered into
and will be carried out in the ordinary and usual course of the business
of the Group, on normal commercial terms, are fair and reasonable,
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

As such, pursuant to Rule 20.99 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Purchase
Transactions are only subject to reporting and announcement
requirements, and are exempted from the circular, independent
financial advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions disclosed above in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong GEM
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board in respect of the
disclosed continuing connected transactions that nothing has come to
their attention that (i) causes them to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the
Company's board of directors; (i) were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and (i) had exceeded the caps set by the company.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group did not enter into any transactions which need to be disclosed
as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 47
to the consolidated financial statements of this report. These related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in notes 14 and 15 to the Group's consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt
from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Board of Directors
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Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve
the corporate governance practices and standards constantly. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code
Provisions”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 21
to 39 of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2022 or subsisted at the end of the reporting
year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers in order to
meet its employees, immediate and long-term goals. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material or significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers and customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws
of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, a directors’ liability insurance
was currently in place to protect the Directors against potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 28 employees (2021: 58
employees) including the Directors. The remuneration package the
Group offered to the employees includes salary, bonuses and other
cash subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’ salaries
based on each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The
Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of the Group's
decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and outlook of the Company as well as a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position,
including a description of an indication of likely future development
can be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on
pages 6 to 20 of this annual report. Those discussions form part of this
report.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or tax exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

The Company has received no tax relief for the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: approximately HK$165,000), which is reflected in note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting ("AGM") of the Company will be held on
Friday, 16 September 2022, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 13 September 2022 to Friday, 16 September 2022, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of the Company
will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9
September 2022.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and
related products business of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
Hong Kong.

These laws and regulations cover a broad range of environmental
matters, including air pollution, noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil
products or other hazardous substances. The Group recognises the
importance of environmental protection and has implemented various
environmental protection measures in order to minimise the operation
impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will continue to monitor the business operations in order to
ensure that it does not have only significant adverse effect on the
environment and that the Group's environment protection measures
are adequate to ensure compliance with all applicable current Hong
Kong laws or regulations.

As at the date of this report, no prosecution, penalty or punishment
has been imposed upon the Group for the violation of any
environmental laws or regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
significant events that have occurred requiring disclosure.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2022
has been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible to offer themselves
for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
FONG Chun Man
Chairman
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Chun Man (“Mr. Fong"), aged 42, is our founder, executive
Director, Chairman, compliance officer, member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee, and is responsible for our
Group's overall corporate management and business development
strategies. Mr. Fong was appointed as an executive Director on 23
March 2017. Mr. Fong established our Group in early 2005 and was
appointed as the director of Great Wall (International) Oil Limited in
December 2005.

Mr. Fong has over 17 years of experience in the sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products. The performance of the Company is
achieved in great level. He was responsible for the Company's daily
operation, including but not limited to submitting tender proposals
and undertaking construction projects, managing its corporate
accounting and administrative matter, monitoring the logistics of
projects and contacting suppliers and customers, such as authorised
agents appointed by the Oil Majors. Mr. Fong has also been the
director of Jet Good Limited since April 2005, a company whose
principal business involves the provision of construction materials and
related logistics services in Hong Kong, where he has gained
experience in business operation and management expertise.

Mr. Fong has been a committee member of the 13th and 14th sessions
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou
City Yue Xiu District Committee (FEIARBUAHE @ EMNTBFEE
B ) since May 2008 and the committee member of the 13th session
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou
Committee (FEIARBUAHEEZEMNTZE®) since January 2017,
Mr. Fong is the director and the chairman of the audit committee of
Pok Oi Hospital, a non-profit hospital in Hong Kong since 2012 and the
director of the planning and procedure department of the Hong Kong
Road Safety Patrol since 2021. He is also the current honorary president
of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association Shatin branch. Mr. Fong is
the spouse of Ms. Lo.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. Lo Pui Yee ("Ms. Lo"), aged 43, was appointed as our executive
Director, and vice chairlady on 22 August 2016. Ms. Lo is responsible
for supervising the overall administration and operation of our Group.
She has more than 19 years of experience in the business
administration and marketing area. Ms. Lo joined our Group in June
2016.

Ms. Lo has completed the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examination in
July 1999. Since June 2002, Ms. Lo has gained exposure in the daily
administration, operation and executive management and has been a
sole proprietor of Alpha Communications Company, which carries on
the business of the provision of telecommunication and internet
services, and has been responsible for supervising the business
development and corporate governance. Since 2011, Ms. Lo has been
a director and shareholder of Luxe Tuxedo Limited, an apparel
company offering high-end men'’s formal suit and attire in Hong Kong,
responsible for overseeing the administrative function, enhancing
communication channels between management and staff and product
branding. Ms. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Fong.

Saved as disclosed above, she was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Chan Chi Fai (“Mr. Chan"), aged 41, was appointed as our
executive Director and chief executive officer on 22 August 2016 and is
responsible for the operation of our fleet of tank wagon and business
strategies implementation. Mr. Chan has joined Great Wall
(International) Oil Company since September 2010.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher certificate and a higher diploma in Civil
Engineering from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in
July 2007 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Chan also completed the
certificate for Safety Supervisor (Construction Industry), Safety Training
Techniques Course and Safe Working Cycle Course in February 2002,
January 2009 and January 2009, respectively. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Chan worked as a foreman in Yuk Shing Engineering Co.,
Limited from March 2000 to February 2007 whose principal business is
construction and engineering, responsible for general site operation
for drainage work and earthwork. From March 2007 to July 2010, Mr.
Chan joined Vibro (H.K.) Limited and was promoted as a geotechnical
field technician, whose principal business is construction, responsible
for ground investigation arrangement and carrying out necessary
testing.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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EEEREREEREBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert (“Mr. Chui"”), aged 65, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chui is
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chui obtained a Bachelor’s degree in commerce from the
Concordia University in June 1978 and was awarded the Medal of
Honour by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2014. Mr. Chui is currently a practicing certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants since June 1991 and the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants since May 1989. Mr. Chui has over 35 years of
experience in the accounting field and is the founder of a Hong Kong
accounting firm, Robert Chui CPA Limited since August 1991.

Mr. Chui has been appointed as a director of the following listed
companies on the Stock Exchange during the periods indicated below:

BMFHITES

BIZERE(TERE]) » 6557 KR2017F3 A
HEZTARMABILIERNITES - EXE
BEZZESEIFEANRELLESRFNEE

ERAERI1978F 6 ARG EE B K2 Tl
T8 W 2014 FES B R77T B IR BT
EREET - EXLEBN AT ENEST
B - WD RIE 199196 AN E 1989445 A#
MAETEGIASREFARGIATH
BEFRGE -  EAENRGFEGEEAIFL
5% 81991 F8 ARANEBNEFTITEC
SEHEITTAER R RIMAIHEA o

EEERN T XA RHREER ERIA T
MARIMES

Period during which he held

Name of listed company (stock code) Position held directorship

EH AT EE(RGAHR) FREER EEESHH

Asia Cassava Resources Holdings Limited Independent non-executive August 2018-Current
(stock code: 841) director

DMARZBERIZERER AR (RMHAE - 841)  BUFRTES 201858 RES

National Arts Group Holdings Limited Independent non-executive May 2009-Current
(stock code: 8228) director

B E AR A R A R (R H5% - 8228) B EITES 20095 RES

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited Independent non-executive April 1999-Current
(stock code: 417) director

HAImBAE (BEE)AER QA B IFITES 199F4RES
(B RSE - 417)

Wing Lee Property Investments Limited Independent non-executive February 2013-Current
(stock code: 864) director

KA EERBR AR (RO : 864) BIFRNITES 201352 R &S

Huiyin Holdings Group Limited Independent non-executive October 2020-December 2021
(stock code: 1178) director

PE SR E KR B AR AR (BMOAR - 1178) BUIFRTES 2020F10 A= 2021512 A

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEEREREERBE

Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 46, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Kwong is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Kwong obtained a Bachelor's degree in electronics from The Open
University of Hong Kong in December 2001, a diploma in information
technology from the School of Professional and Continuing Education
of The University of Hong Kong in June 2004 and a master degree in
information technology from Charles Sturt University, Australia in
November 2005.

From December 2013 to October 2015, Mr. Kwong was appointed as a
non-executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
stock code: 8269). From November 2015 to August 2016, Mr. Kwong
was re-designated as an executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings
Limited.

Mr. Kwong has been appointed as an executive director of Sino Energy
International Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 1096) since April
2022.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

BB 4 ([ ]) « 4657 112017 F 3 A
VHEZTARMOBIIENITES - B4
BRRALEEQTREREZEZECKE -

B AER2001F12ABBELAHAERNESE
FEBES BN - R2004F6EBFBARAER
FHEEBREEEMBIEOUR - LA KR 2005
FNNAEBRMNERET L EEREBRFEAE
RIE T84 o

B2013F 12 BE 20156108 » BB AL (T
AEEERERAG (BARMNMRR - 8269)H
JEMITESE - B2015F 11 B 22016588 -
BAEERATAEEIERERARNAITE
$o

B 202294 A#E - BRI A ER T AP EEER
TR E B AR A R (MRS 1096) $i1TE
$ o
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEEREREEREBE

Mr. Wang Anyuan (“Mr. Wang"), aged 51, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Wang is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree specialising in maritime and
communication accounting from the Shanghai Maritime University in
July 1994. He joined China Merchants Group and served as the
manager of the audit (risk assurance) department from September
1996 to July 2001, the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Securities (HK) Company Limited from July 2001 to January 2007 and
general manager of audit (risk assurance) department of China
Merchants Finance Holdings Company Limited from February 2007 to
February 2008. In April 2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International
Holdings Company Limited as an executive director and head of China
operation, responsible for the equity sales. From June to December
2009, Mr. Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director and
head of China operation, responsible for their securities business and
had been the account executive of CITIC Securities International
Company Limited from January 2010 to November 2012. In October
2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of brokerage department of
China Investment Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited,
responsible for securities trading. In February 2013, Mr. Wang served
as a responsible officer of China Investment Securities International
Brokerage Limited of Type 1 (Dealing in Securities) regulated activities
as defined in the SFO. Since May 2013, Mr. Wang joined Orient
Finance Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited as a business director of the
brokerage department. Mr. Wang has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Carbon Neutral
Development Group Limited (stock code: 1372) since November 2021.
Mr. Wang is licensed with the SFC as a representative of Orient
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities)
regulated activity and as a representative of Orient Futures (Hong
Kong) Limited to carry out type 2 (dealing in futures contract) regulated
activity.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEEREREERBE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 44, is our chief
operation officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily operation
and general financial management of our Group. Mr. Cheung has
joined our Group since April 2016.

Mr. Cheung has over 14 years of experience in operational
management. He obtained a bachelor's degree in mathematics from
the National Central University, Taiwan, in June 2002. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Cheung worked as an information technology engineer
in Di Sheng Computer Limited (4 B8 A R A F]*) from March 2004
to July 2005, and from January 2007 to May 2007, responsible for
conducting products testing and providing customer support. From
June 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Cheung worked as an engineer in
Chunghwa Picture Tubes, Ltd. (FZEME % {55 R A 7)) whose principal
business is involved in the optoelectronic industry (Taiwan stock
exchange, stock code: 2475, and Luxembourg stock exchange, ISIN
code: US17133M7092), responsible for supervising the production
operation and quality control, as well as managing technicians and
support staffs for improving operational efficiency. Mr. Cheung then
worked in the sale of diesel oil related business in Great Wall
(International) Company for six years from April 2010 to March 2016,
responsible for the daily operations of the sole proprietorship.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#&), aged 57, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 26 October 2017. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services
provider) since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management
& Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an
independent non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS
Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green leader Holdings Group
Limited (Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May
2004 and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a
master’s degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales,
Australia in November 2002.

Id%_ll %EE
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M % BAT R

B ot EH A R A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of F8
Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
105 to 238, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “"Code"),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

98 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

31/F, Gloucester Tower B

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street E4TH115R
Central B ES

Hong Kong HERTITREIE

HFix (ZR) KEARAF
3R
(RFASHSEME LA ERA )

=R

AAZHEN (A TERHM) BBATERE
105FE 238 BRI EEABRAF([E
RN REMBAR (KB IEEE]) NEE
SRR - AR A MR ER BTN 20224 3 A
JMNBZEAVBRARAEEZALFED
BABEREMEERER GEESEHER
MEARERER  URGATHRERME -
BIEFEZESHERHE -

BMRE  ZEGRAUBRERCREST S5
Mmag ((BEEMAE ) BHNEEHBER
HEA([BBTBHREEN D EEMF SR
T BEBNR202F3A31BMERETHE
MARBEZEZBIEFERNGEEWBRERRS
RemeE  WERBREBQ KON ERTE
I B

RRNER

BRPCBREEESAMASRMONETEETE
A (TEBFET LR ) EITESZ - RAIELFE
AT AENETEEARNRE [ RHEI L F 4
BHBFHENEL] BT EE— TR - 1R
BEBGMASBEMNERSEN BT
(T=pR1)) - BB BEXKE - YEETT
Al B B BIEEE - RAMBIE - B
ERMEBEERELEEHARMANER
PG ELRE -



Independent Auditors’ Report
B M A% B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
BARESEE

BRENEE

RETFRISRERMNEXHE - BRY
AR MBRENBETRRIEEZNTIA - 5
LEHEARMBABEREAMBHRERIEA
TBREETERIEN - AT SHELFHREH
BEENER -

How our audit address the key audit matter

RANETNMRERRETSE

Allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on trade
and other receivables

EEREMERFRARFESR (AREEER]) BRE

Refer to Notes 5(b), 27 and 28 to the consolidated financial

statements.
BRI A M IETRERMFESD) » 27 228 ©

At 31 March 2022, the Group had trade receivables and
other receivables of approximately HK$83,284,000 (2021:
HK$69,408,000) and HK$10,077,000 (2021: HK$8,920,000),
respectively with allowance for ECL on trade receivables
and other receivables of approximately HK$13,290,000
(2021: HK$3,215,000) and HK$3,820,000 (2021:
HK$3,900,000) respectively.

2022638318 EXEEE S BRI N M EKRFIE
7 Bl 49 483,284,000 % 7T (2021 4F : 69,408,000 7L) &
10,077,000 7T (2021 4F : 8,920,000 7T ) » M & 5 FE Y51 IA
K B At e W SRR TR BAE B B R B 9 B 40 513,290,000 78 7T
(20214F : 3,215,000/ 7T.) } 3,820,000/ 7£.(20214F : 3,900,000
BIT)

The determination as to whether trade and other
receivables are collectable involved high level of
management’s judgement. Specific factors management
considered include the age of the balances, business
nature of customers, existence of disputes, recent historical
payment patterns and any other available information
concerning the creditworthiness of counterparties.
Management used these information to determine whether
a provision for impairment is required either for a specific
transaction or for a customer'’s balance overall.
ETESHREMERFRIBREAIWES REKFNERE
HEr -  EREZRNNTARBREEHRER TREBML
B REGFEFZ OHBENFIEARBEHFHES
WEMEMAESER ERECTRABEHEANEERS
ARFERHRERE P EBRHERERE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s ECL
assessment of trade and other receivables included but
not limited to:

BN EEENE S REMEWRFIBTERESEBETG
EITHREFEEETRER :

o Understanding the key controls that the Group has
implemented to manage and monitor its credit
risk, and evaluating management’s assessment
process for allowance for ECL;

A BEEECEMNBREEEBATE RER
HEERR YA EERESHENEEHREEE
MRS IBAE |

J Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade and other receivables as at 31 March
2022 to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;
WMEBRER2022F3 A31 AU KRN ES
Ko oAt e OsR IR BR B 1B 0 A F 48 R R SRITAEH UK
i
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Key audit matter
HAEETEE

How our audit address the key audit matter

BN ETNNEEFARETSE

Allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables
(Continued)
ESRHMEVREBEEREESERE (B

100

o Inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material trade and other receivables past due
as at year end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
performing public search for selected customers,
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of
and other correspondence with the customers; and
EHEEERAFHAOCANNSEERES LA
b WU R TR AR S50 A e 87 32 i DA 7 i S 5 N R R (1
MEEERFPETARAL - ENE HIC sk AR R
BEPNFEEBRAR REBERREEELHEIN
NEZR 2z REMERER) » &

o Assessing the appropriateness of the ECL
provisioning methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the ECL.
AHMETEMEEERERERTRE  MEEEH
R A BB AT ERIE MBI YERER
FEREEEEFT AN RR (B35 BE RATRIEER) -

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables and determine allowance for ECL on trade
and other receivables to be supportable by available
evidence.

BB - EIRE R AN E S5 & E At fE Y E T Y El
BRENUAKRETE S LEMEKFREREEBERED
HIET AL ET B RIS BB S HF ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Hon Koon Fai, Alex.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 22 July 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEEkEtEERER

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
For the year ended 31 March 2022 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2022F3A31HLEE Bt EE FET FAT
(Restated)
(Fe=3%1)
Continuing operations BEREXEK
Revenue Uk &5 ) 357,471 357,753
Cost of sales HE AR (352,579) (332,420)
Gross profit EF 4,892 25,333
Other income Hitn g A 8 6,954 2.096
Other gains or losses HAb Wk Eia (222) 491
Fair value change on contingent JEW AR B R T EEE
consideration receivable = 1,220
Loss on derecognition of contingent IR ARENEER
consideration receivable (15,421) -
Administrative expenses THRAX (14,062) (13,038)
Other operating expenses Hibh&EMRS (5,713) (7,982)
Allowance for expected credit losson & RVEETEHZEEBREE
financial assets, net FEE (11,635) (3,250)
(Loss)/profit from operations me (EE|), 8RN (35,207) 11,870
Finance costs BE A A 10 (4,437) (2,745)
Share of results of an associate JEE—FHIEEE R A EE (703) -
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREAT (B518) B R 1 (40,347) 9,125
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrisBiEe, /(M%) 12 1,090 (1,533)
(Loss)/profit for the year from FRFELEEK
continuing operations (E’|) aFl (39,257) 7,592
Discontinued operations DRIEEEEL
Profit/(loss) for the year from FARAEKRIEEET
discontinued operations w AL (E18) 13 7,370 (2,133)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EE), BRI (31,887) 5459
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMEEWKZE (EiE)
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified HigmgEmoBEEan
subsequently to profit or loss: 5E :
Exchange differences arising MEBINETSEER
on translation of foreign operations [ 5 = %8 174 3,536
Reclassification of cumulative BN ER 18 25T
exchange reserve upon disposal S FEHER DR
of foreign operations (1,466) -
Share of other comprehensive FE(E — A& A R A A
income of an associate FHEE 293 -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income KREEERNEMEE
for the year, net of tax (B518), e (999) 3,536
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E__FFRH 105



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReEEEkEtEZERER

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 F
For the year ended 31 March 2022 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2022F3A31HLEEE Bt aE FET FAT
(Restated)
(Fe=3%1))
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ERE@E(FE), \WEEE
for the year (32,886) 8,995
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable ZRQATEEAEEER
to owners of the Company: (E8|) EA
— from continuing operations — R ER (39.257) 7,592
— from discontinued operation — BRIEREER 8,040 (1,205)
(31,217) 6,387
Loss for the year attributable FEREREEFER
to non-controlling interests: &8
— from continuing operations — B ER - -
— from discontinued operation — BRI ET (670) (928)
(670) (928)
(31,887) 5,459
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FRELZE (BE)
for the year attributable to: W AERE
Owners of the Company RAREEA (32,293) 8,331
Non-controlling interests SRR =R (593) 664
(32,886) 8,995
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  AAFEEAEEFAZE
for the year attributable to owners  (E5i8) IR %E :
of the Company:
— from continuing operations — BB EER (38,954) 7,592
— from discontinued operation — ERIEEEEE 6,661 739
(32,293) 8,331
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable Z"QFHEGAEEER
to owners of the Company (7| B 17
From continuing and discontinued BEKEEBRERL
operations: R
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR #E (BL) (32.40) 7.31
From continuing operations: BFEREHEK .
Basic and diluted (HK cents) R EEE (BL) (40.74) 8.69

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BRI R

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
At 31 March 2022 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M202263A31H Bt = FTHET FHET
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - = MEE 18 5,122 21,621
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 19 574 956
Investment property = 20 20,000 -
Prepayment for right-of-use assets FEREEEENZHIE 21 - 8,920
Goodwill R 22 - 2,044
Interest in an associate — B N R 23 17,922 -
Contingent consideration receivable U AR(E 24 - 7,060
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESABRESN
profit or loss SREE 25 5,945 4,778
Deposits for property, plant ME - BMEMKEZS
and equipment 28 - 13,867
Deferred tax assets ELEFIBEE 37 159 650
49,722 59,896
Current assets REEE
Inventories Ve 26 820 16,350
Trade receivables H 5 IR 27 83,284 69,408
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE - Ze Rk
other receivables H {th & Uy F0 08 28 12,285 27,914
Amount due from an associate i dinli R l/NEI B 29 13,082 -
Contingent consideration receivable TEUR SRR (B 24 - 8,361
Tax recoverable I EI B IR 1,587 -
Pledged bank deposits BHEIRRITIFH 30 6,077 12,158
Cash and bank balances B & MIRITE 64 30 14,276 20,535
131,411 154,726
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables B ER IR 31 36,622 32,517
Accruals, other payables and BErER EfEMNZRIER
deposits received e 32 4,616 11,812
Contract liabilities GHEE 33 - 5,780
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EHMER 34 43,089 21,294
Bonds payable TERHES 35 800 8,800
Lease liabilities HE&E 36 168 648
Tax payables JE IR - 1,172
85,295 82,023
Net current assets RBEEFE 46,116 72,703
Total assets less current liabilities EELRERRBEE 95,838 132,599

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 107



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MR R

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
At 31 March 2022 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
R2022F3H31H Bt EE FET FAT
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEaE 36 - 110
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 37 468 451
468 561
Net assets EEEE 95,370 132,038
Capital and reserves EAR#E
Share capital B 38 10,080 8,780
Reserves s 85,290 107,703
Equity attributable to owners KARFEEAEGLERS
of the Company 95,370 116,483
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR RS - 15,555
Total equity MR 95,370 132,038

Approved and authorised for the issue by the board of directors on 22 B 72202297 A22 A EE £ € #t ) & % #E T

July 2022 and signed on its behalf by: B WA TATRERESEEE
Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
FHEX ZimE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — MizF AL ELRE M EFRET MBS ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERBRBEX

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG LN 1
Fair value
through
other Retained
Capital  comprehensive earnings/ Non-
Share Share Other  contribution income Exchange  (accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Sub-total interests Total
BATEHA
&x Eft2E RERFH/
e RiEE HtiE RAGE hsGfE Eifis  (2HF8) Nt FBRER &3t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$000
Thn Thn T Thr Thn T T Thx Thn T
For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Notei) (Note i) (Note i) (Note v) (Note )
BEN2FIANALER (Rt (Wi (M) (Hitw) (Hitv)
At April 2020 RANE4R1R 8,000 092 = 24652 (905) (565) 11,369 9,772 14,762 106,534
Profit/{loss) for the year ERER/(B8) - - - - - - 6,387 6,387 (%28) 5459
Other comprehensive income for the year  EREth2ENZE - - - - - 1944 - 1904 1592 35%
Profitand total comprehensive income ~ EREFIR2 AN LE
for the year - - - - - 194 6,387 8331 b4 8995
Issue of shares upon acqisition REREREAARG
of subsidiaries (Note 39) i (BE39) 780 15,600 - - - - - 16,380 - 16,380
Acqisition of subsidiaries (Note 39) WEHELE (M - - - - - - - - 19 19
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RANEIANER
LNE4ATE 8,780 64,821 & 24,652 (905) 1379 17,756 116,483 15,555 132,038
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (31,217) (31,217) (670) (31,887)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income EREMRE (BE)/ K&
for the year - - - - - (1,076) - (1,076) 77 (999)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREERAEERSE
for the year - - - - - (1,076) (31,217) (32,293) (593) (32,886)
Issue of shares upon acqisition BENERENEET
of investment property (Note 20) i (3£ 20) 1,300 9,880 - - - - - 11,180 - 11,180
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) HENBAR (M) - - - - - - - - (14,962) (14,962)
At 31 March 2022 R202%3831R 10,080 74,701 - 24,652 (905) 303 (13,461) 95,370 - 95,370

Notes: B3

0} Share premium represents the excess of shares issue over the par value. (i) R EERMDEITRAMENSE -

(i) Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total equity of  (ii) REBEREAMFHEIEZSHE QR R A5 EN
the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries pursuant to the BARRBREMERIGERARTE 2 M Z5E (EEMA
reorganisation where the transfer of the subsidiaries to the Company are satisfies by BRARTARRIBBARRGFITHRMD )
issue of new shares from the Company.

(iii) Capital contribution reserve represents the amount of the financial impact arisen (iii) EAREHGEREN(BER)AHARCBELEER)
from the transfer of business from Great Wall (International) Oil Company (Sole mES (BB AaERAREEEBELENIBY
Proprietorship Business) to Great Wall (International) Oil Limited. EHERE o

(iv) Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve comprises the cumulative (iv) BATEFAEMZEARGSHERCERETAKATF
net change in the fair value of equity investments designated at fair value through BEf AEMEEKRGSHNERKRE A TFERTEHF
other comprehensive income. H o

(v) Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the (v) N B OERE R BRINNBINEE S B MK
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations outside Hong Kong. EERFTAINEZRE

The balance was approximately HK$8.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
For the year ended 31 March 2022 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2022F3A31HLEE Bt EE F#ET FAT
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Operating activities RETER
(Loss)/profit before taxation from B EREEBNR TR
continuing operations (B18|),&E (40,347) 9.125
Profit/(loss) before taxation from BAR R E TR
discontinued operations B ATE R (E18) 7,644 (2,323)
(32,703) 6,802
Adjustments for: BUTRBEELAE
Interest Income B A 8 (15) (135)
Finance costs A& KA 10 4,437 2,745
Depreciation of property, plant WE - BEMREITE
and equipment 18 1,140 2,183
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 19 382 564
Loss arising on change in fair value REMERTEES
of investment property FTEE A 518 20 1,907 -
Unrealised gain on financial RATFEFABZNSH
assets at fair value through BEREHR WG
profit or loss 9 (167) (100)
Realised gain on financial assets BAFEGABRNSH
at fair value through profit or loss BECEHE KR 9 - (363)
Gain on deemed disposal of RIEL & — & QRN
an associate Wz 9 (81) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHTB AR (8,744) -
Loss on derecognition of contingent TR IR S AR ER
consideration receivable &8 15,421 -
Gain arising on change in fair value R ARBAFEER
of contingent consideration T EE A U e
receivable = (1,220)
Allowance for ECL on financial CRIEEMNTBEEE
assets, net e TR 11,630 4,586
Unrealised exchange gain REIRE H U 9 (1,437) -
Share of results of an associate e L /NG E 703 -
Operating cash flows before EEESBHAI 2 KE
movements in working capital ReReE (7,527) 15,062
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLD,/ () 16 (1,856)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables 2 5 FEUERIE (3 0) /S5 (30,939) 9,330
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, B4 - FETFE R EH A E
prepayments and other receivables I (1) 12,581 (15,962)
Increase in trade payables E 5 AT FORE N 13,955 20,404
(Decrease)/increase in accruals, other  JEEtE A - EfENRIER
payables and deposits received BlRSE O, /180 (2,416) 2,401
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities & #& &N, CGFL) 683 (2,387)

110 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
For the year ended 31 March 2022 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2022F3A31HLEEE Bt aE FET FAT
(Restated)
(F5&31)
Cash generated from operating KEEBMERS
activities (13,647) 26,992
Income tax paid EATPTEE (1,429) (1,732)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REER (A FBRS
operating activities EEE (15,076) 25,260
Investing activities REETE
Interest received S 15 135
Deposits for property, plant and BR/(B)WE - BEK
equipment refunded/(paid) RiEEe 6,000 (13,463)
Net cash inflow from acquisition WEEKTB A RIMIRE A TR
of subsidiaries 39 - 503
Net cash outflow from disposal HEMBRARIRE KL F5
of subsidiaries 40 (1,867) -
Acquisition of property, plant WEEME - WE M&E
and equipment (14) (2,227)
Acquisition of investment property B B3 (10,727) -
Acquisition of financial assets at R AT ERT ABRE
fair value through profit or loss CREEE (1,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of HERAFEF ABRD
financial assets at fair value through SREEMSRIE
profit or loss - 1,113
Withdrawal/(placement) of pledged REL (7)) BEERIRITER
bank deposit 6,081 (133)
Net cash used in investing activities REEFEFFARLS T (1,512) (14,072)
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid ERFLE (4,177) (2,140)
Proceeds from bank and other WITREMERAERIE
borrowings 48,219 21,800
Repayments of bank and other BERITREMBER
borrowings (25,087) (16,596)
Repayments of bonds payable BEERMNES (8,000) -
Repayments of lease liabilities EBEHERRE (590) (769)
Net cash generated from RMETEMEREFE
financing activities 10,365 2,295
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BRERBESZEYH
cash equivalents (R2) s (6,223) 13,483
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERBLEEY
beginning of the year 20,535 6,661
Effect of foreign exchange rate ERFEHTE
changes (36) 391
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRABRERREZEY
of the year
Cash and bank balances e MRTTHE R 14,276 20,535
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  fizF AL ELRE M EFRE MBS ©
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

112

GENERAL INFORMATION

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law as
an exempted company with limited liability on 30 March 2018
and its shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and principal place of
business in Hong Kong is Unit 3304, 33/F, Tower 1, Enterprise
Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. The
Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Grand
Tycoon Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. Grand Tycoon Limited is controlled by Mr. Fong Chun
Man, a director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in sale and transportation of
diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

The Group was also engaged in sale and transportation of diesel
oil and related products, manufacturing and sale of steel
products and sale of injecting molding machine in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") which were discontinued in current
year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
(HK$'000), except when otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond

30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Internet Rate

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee of the International Accounting
Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the costs an
entity should include as "estimated costs necessary to make the
sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

2.

ERAEEMBREEAN(EFR
PR E R DERT A

REFERFHERNEBMBERSE

ST A

EAKEF AEEEERER T BEE
St ([EE AT ])PTH

%502021¢4H1EIIZ1§%EJ§AE’J$F

EATED 58 ) A2 20 T 51 B 8 B 7 S o 2 R

BRI - MR RUAR G BT IS TR ER -
BAEVBRELA HEERRE
F16% (B A) HENHS
BRI R EER 2021564308
F165R(BFTR) BRI
RERBEN
HEeER
BEPBERELAFEIH - %IJT%‘%E&@—
BEAGFERIE9R B
BAVBRELRETR -
BAVBRELR
FAFRB BRI REER
F16% (BRI A)

o AEEERARB e ERIEED
72021 £ 6 A 355 1y B R B 7 R 5 22 A
REZEENZEAT MIAEEESTF
GFEAZRFEREERAAREH
ENBEHEAA] -

RAFERBEEY B REEIET A
HAKBAFESBEFE ZH BN
RRBE/ SR EGE W BHRRAER
BYEBATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract'
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors anticipated that the application of all the new and

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

B BE

&8t
S
REMBHREREE

3.1 Basic of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and related interpretations issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain property and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
the consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basic of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment property which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT B BUER (&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FEEFHE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidation financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

J has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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3.

118

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owner of the acquire and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the indefinable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquire are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2;

o assets that are classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard; and
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120

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquire
(if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchases gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEeMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTEERE)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquire prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

EBEo(E)

EAKBREGAHREENRE
BERIARBLHE - HAR(E
RIS B IR A FERT 8 - S
BREHAGHERAERN
- ARRERFEZEB S ERE
REGAHTEZRAEN K
- A ERFTEHHARNINR
RENDFEES  FREHTA
ETHE - FEMEABRSER
[FHEHE ] (TS B BE s
—F)ARERKERHEFERN
SERBERWEINERMIEL A

%go

TEEBERETERHEHBHIAR
BEERGHERETIEURNHAR
BRI DHE - DR EEA AR
EBETENERBE R RENTE
MEREERETAAR - DBA
BESBENIARERERRS
HHMEHtEERNTE  MEEY
Yeas sk B R as TR

HEBE Gt OBEERTK - BIAREE
BIEFTR AR T A E S B3
AEENER M (BASEESE
HIEE RN AFE . MATEER
Wk EiE (INH) @B E A
EEYE (ER) R o IAEE
BEEZ N E LRI A RRE - SuAl
EREMEmREERLRIEERE
MBREEREORAENENE
BRI AT B T R R S P EE AR Y
TR SAREREEAR -

WRBAMFNT TS RERA G
MRS FR AR - BIARSE
BE2HRACTKETRENEENY
EeH - ZFEESHINTEY
B (R 3O AEHEHAE - Wi
REINEERBE - ARRFTEUS
RURE BB T M IE AT AR BERZ
EZHEERFANABEEERR
SLHIFTE KL o

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

122

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost a established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

REBEENFZRE
BENRRAKREAREARE
B EAXENIE2EKKRES
LR EBFRORR - 1B IEFE I
S HFEENZFRR2ES -

BERRZEENEERBBTR
DDA ASREPBRE -
RETERARMMEABZERARZ
AR - Ty EA S EAEEL
BRATHBUR S R EHFAAE—
Bz @t BRAEE - REEDE -
KB E QB2 WE VTR AR R
BB RER - LRIEL A
B UBRLAKEEEBERARZ
BahEME2ERE - BERRE
EFHE (B R E M 2RI
ZEBHTT AR BRIFABE
LSO SEIGIESIPIRCE 3 Sagunbith o
B o BEAKERGH L QR EER
BERBERRZ#ERE(BREE
FRAARERBERARFREZ
EARMED)  AIARKER LE
REEBIGEZE-—TER - EELE
B0 E AT S E B RS R
BRRSFIE - AEREING
1’

REERRNIRERERRE KR
BENRE BREEREREARK-
PR L A RINIRER - ’RE
FRANER AR SR E D HARE 77 A
%'Jﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ’]’“?i%‘ﬁﬁ’\]fﬂﬂ%ﬁ
DHERAREE  FARKRENRE
B AEES AR EERAE
B FE AR R E AR (AT B
R EREH R RKEIRE
HEFEJETE SHERR o

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

124

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that associate had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provide to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocation resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.

RBEERAZRE (E)

EAREERMDHERBERRNES
BEDEAEEEEERERE
B - w8 B R sk B IR 0 B 4
MEEXREREN D EERH -
QRS B SE AT 7 E 2 W
FER M A SR A R
Wets BB R D B DB E B

mEEE AL B E A RHEIT
R HEENEEITRSES
E’J/ T R BB R BB RE A e

CEENEREEEFANBE A
T%m%@

BYRIB#HE

B B8 R BB IR B AR F0 BR R E 5
R MABRRBRENBEERRBMNX
e WEBARMEERARAIRD
W Ko FE USRS BB

WS HBBAE KRG BEAMN B A
A2 KA SRMER I
BHRERNWRERAEBBLRA M
BRARKRERREEFE(RRE
EE)WREME  BIRKIZER
BEOMRER  VEAHMBARRE
YERME DRI, ©

TR E

BEDENBREST AN AR T ELE
J&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%}mﬁ\éﬁm*%#ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ‘t—
B FHRBRRNEEREER
TEZ @J&ﬁ% HBEDEER
W AL ED AR -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to
be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of diesel oil and related product, injecting molding
machine and steel products

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods is transferred, being delivery of the goods to the
customers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

J an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in

dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other
than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-
19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments included:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

J the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

J payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FRENBRREREERTE
2EBCR ()

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

HE (&)

AEEERABA (B)
REMSRE
ENMAIREHESRE HRIERE
MBHMEENFEIRAR - V)T
RFERE - YO FRANATFE
TR A BIRR A BRIMEE 5K -
Wt NEREEEMA

HEAE

REERME B AEEZRNZA
MAXNHEENFRERRLE
HEREB RAEHENFRE
- SRS R AEE -
AIAREEEANEERG B HE

BRI -

HENRBRE

s RBETHEMNR(BRHREEET
OB AREEEES

. BTEBSLEmENTE
AEMK - D5 AR
EE RGP

o AMAREXSKEEERE
HIE %8

o MAMASBEEITEBE
EERE AZFEERNT
BE R

o WEHHARRITEREZEKL
HE - B EEE RS RS

Eo
A °

RBIsA B % - EA EEBT S
B0 BT AR P 39



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that standalone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the
lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments
using the unchanged discount rate, unless the change in
lease payments results from a change in floating interest
rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount rate
that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets. A lease modification is required by interest rate
benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these conditions
are met:

o the modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

o the new basis for determining the lease payments is

economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FRENBRREREERTE
2EBCR ()

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

HE (&)

AEEERABA (B)

HEEs (&)

A EIE R —REBHEARNE
SNmE  ARERFEBER
PMER AR A IR RT B3R R B
BETHEN RN KERHER
HEmEHtEHERE -

AEBEBERBEEREEEFD
MEARNEEREENTEA
BE o

HEEREHBEE —BREMMKE
DRk —IERZRBIMNEERIFHEE
MRED D - RIRKEREHEEAEN
BB ARSI BB ER MIFHEAEN
B BEBERGMEEERE L
RESEEZXEEEAMD -

DR ) o B 2 5 ) 28 B T R OR AR
ENREEZEE)

B ) R B O 5 I B B E R 2R
HENREEZEHME - AEE
RARTREDE - BBEARR
MBI RS S AT BN RRRIR I
FAEHMFEMERE - FRIFEE
MREF M R BB M HIRECR
tERlEm © A BRT - AEEER
[RERF R E B IS FTRER X - I
HRMEEAREEFLARAR -
EHREENA TAME GRS -
EEMARBN R E BN S MmF

EE

° REBHEMNEEENEZE
BER R

s EEHENRZHEEEK
B E R ST B (A&
BB AT 2 EXE)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEFHERGE)
Leases (Continued) HE(B)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREEERFMA (B8)
Changes in the basis for determining the future lease ﬂ%%‘;&ﬂﬁziﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬂiﬂﬁﬁ
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform ENREEEY (E)

(Continued)

If lease modifications are made in addition to those lease
modifications required by interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the applicable requirements in HKFRS 16
to account for all lease modifications made at the same
time, including those required by interest rate benchmark
reform.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which the event occurs.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& EJH%*E?E*F%E—E&EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEE e

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
,except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group's interests in
associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

136

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended

use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are included.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %445t
SETEE @)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other gains or losses”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.
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3.

138

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefits costs (Continued)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The Group's contributions to the MPF
Scheme are expensed as incurred. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. There are no forfeited contributions for the MPF
Scheme as the contributions are fully vested to the
employees upon payment to the MPF Scheme.

The employees employed by the Group's subsidiaries in
the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the government of the PRC. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes
operated by the government of the PRC is to make the
specified contributions under the schemes.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the
Group in respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEelMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEEHEER®E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services received, except where that fair
value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of
the goods or services received are recognises as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

BR G BE# 5%

U A E AR BEFERN AL
2

BT IR EB B RE
HEBAINZ NTEITZ AR 4
BB BERNONRR S - &E
WE MR 2 N FEFE - KR
NEEREEFEHEE - BIRER
HIRAT A2 AFERFE - ERHE
RATAZ A FERERISER
SHFHTRERBERAE - B
EmERBZ AT EERRER
HEBAEERARGTEERERR
BE - BIfERI -

B

P15 15 58 S 45 BN A B A< 1 0B MR AT
TR AR ©

BVEP FE A A0 TR DA AN 4 &2 RR A5 g A
P E - R G M B R AT
A/ BETRE 2 BENEMFER
FERRTE 2k AT S MY ML A B ST A K
e R B AR AL KA A K HY IR
B - ARFIAHAHBERERBRE B
REEHmIAR L BT RET

=
Ft

BB AER DR A M BHREA
BENBENREENLBIAGERE
AR M AR B R BT 2 7R - IR
EHRERE RS ERHA ERR
EREFERE - BERAEE RS
FRFTAE A HRN e B 2 B 1T & DA AT RE
IR EY R B R RS E RN AV FE AR
BB BR - MERZBRE B X
HER (RIFAHERIN TR ERRN
mAKEH BN ZHNEERA
B AAREEREEERAET
THER ° AN WERZRIRERN
BMERER > AT SRABETH
JHAIE -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of
the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are depreciated over their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account of their residual value, on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms
Motor vehicles 30%-33%

Office equipment 20%-33%

Oil barge 10%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

REY*

REMERFHIERBES R HE
RIBEMYIE ©

REMENTEEAGTE - BFE
MEEEE X - RIBHERRE -
REMERERNTEFE  BER
TEEEAEMSESNEEHEE
WA

REMEZ A VHEESMELZW
M BB E SR AR -

HEXFEMEXKAERLERA
?Eiﬁﬁﬁ%?\ EERREEN R
R IEERZIREYE - AR IE
mEZ%%WﬁF%E’JT{ﬂ%Z S IE
BORLEMSRRFRAEER
HEZHRZ8EAE) T AL LT
REMEHF B P -

¥ BERZHEAREHAESE
(BEBRIM) B

REBRERAR XEBEEHEY
¥ BMERZBAREREEER
HE  NEEEREEMTRET
ZEEECLRREBESE - WEL
EZEDR - AehstEESNT
WEl S REAEEREEE(E)HN
BE-

ME - BEEREBAREREEE
BRI U Bl B S E BIE R © B AR
BefhEtERI B ER A @S58 - BY
AEEeHtREEMBREES
B AREISE -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU unit or group of CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHBERE)
Inventories -1
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable GFEURKA R AT IR FEMRE R
value with absorption cost. Cost is determined using the KEEH2ILKAR—RE IR o BN
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents IEFEEEET o A #IRFEET

the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
Group assesses continually the development of contingent
assets. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of
economic benefits will arise, the Group recognises the asset
and the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change

occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in banks and deposits held at call
with banks.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHEER®SE)
Financial instruments (Continued) sHITEE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (B)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

J it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

J it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the FVTOCI
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or
loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other gains and
losses” line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and losses” line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEeMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances) which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting period. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEelMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

J it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

] the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivable are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

. Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

156

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through

a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEeMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
bonds payable, lease liabilities, trade payables, deposits
received, accruals and other payables) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEeMBHRRFEREERTE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ETEX @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEFHERGE)
Related parties transactions BEHEXE
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: B IA T AL - BIREHR R
B
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is (@) THEBIATAL  BliZzA+sk
related to the Group if that person: AT HEAEE G
JE
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) = ek LA R A S
;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEBEBEEAFE

7k

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel iy AAEESIAEETGA
of the Group or of a parent of the Group. AMTFEEEENKE -

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) (HHFEATEMAIEHE  BIE
conditions applies: RHEAEEERE

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the 0] E EREASEEBR—
same group (which means that each parent, .E’JWE\ EINQEIE=S
subsidiary and fellow subsidiaries is related to NE - B AR KA
the others); ?&W%’&ﬂ?ﬂilﬁtZﬁaﬁ b2

BRAE)

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy —HEERAES —EEMN
other entity or an associate or joint venture of a g Nals A & E
member of a group which the other entity is a (3273 ERAKER
member; AIMSEETKE AR

Bt E QR A &
%)

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i MEEEHAER—%=
party; FHEERE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and vy —MEERAF=ZFEE
the other entity is an associate of the third MesEts¥ mE—%8
entity; BARZE=-SERN

/NS

158 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employees are
also related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Company's
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(a)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

par‘mer;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between

the Group and a related party, regardless of whether a

price is charged.

3. w8 Eﬁﬁ%#ﬁ%f%g-ﬁ)&iii
SRR (&

3.2 FEESHBE#E)
BBEXE (E)
v) EBRAMASENEAR
SEERENEENE
SR MR B e
FETE - WAREEKE
BEBE MMEE
TR £ [ A5 i
wv) & gﬁ a) Tk B A £
ek LA

o
i‘*

S (a)(i) AT a8 Bl By A £ ¢
BEAYENTE
(&?aFM!

EEEKE

(vii)

DR mg X
i ?Fﬁﬁ“
?E”\% S

E)

\o

=

ZEBNZERMES
B Z BRI B RBRA
ﬁli$a BRAE
HEITBEEERBABR
& o

12
?E’la

(viii)

N\

ER AL TR AT TR B %
BERZRIPHEZBATHRZ
ANETREBZRGKRE - B

@ ZBALTZTFREEBRFA

A
b) ZEBALZEEXRFEMFIAE
ZFE R
© ZBATHHEEBIKRREH
BZEEA -
HERNE B LR 2 MEBBER
B (TwmaTWIGRIE) - Bl
AR SRR RSB IRS -
Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

4,

160

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the management have made in the
process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties are not held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, in
determining the deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any
income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment
properties on disposal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for ECL for trade and other receivables and
deposits

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration
the Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

Other receivables and deposits are assessed for ECL individually.
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The

information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables and deposits are disclosed in Note 5(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in Note 20.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.
Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair
values of the Group's investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties is HK$20,000,000 (2021: Nil).
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. 2@IT A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) «RTEEH
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 £
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets tHMEE
At amortised cost biig: $i=10 %N
— Trade receivables — B SR FRIE 83,284 69,408
— Deposits and other receivables — &E RH MK RRIE 10,853 23,564
— Amount due from an associate — FEULES S A R 13,082 -
— Pledged bank deposits — BHEMRITER 6,077 12,158
— Cash and bank balances —IRe MBITESR 14,276 20,535
127,572 125,665
At fair value woFE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFTABRZNESREE 5,945 4,778
Contingent consideration receivable ~ fEURER AR (B = 15,421
5,945 20,199
Financial liabilities tHasE
At amortised cost - 317N
— Trade payables — B S EMNFIE 36,622 32,517
— Accruals, other payables and — EFTER - EMEMFUR
deposits received koWize 4,616 11,812
— Bank and other borrowings — RITRAMEK 43,089 21,294
— Bonds payable — ERES 800 8,800
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 168 758
85,295 75,181
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (by MKEEMEEEERBER

The management monitors and manages the financial risks
relating to the operations of the Group through internal
risks reports which analyse the exposures by degree and
magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk
(including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit

risk and liquidity risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from an associate, pledged bank deposits, bank balances,
financial assets at FVTPL, contingent consideration
receivables, trade payables, accruals, other payables and
deposits received, bank and other borrowings, bonds
payable and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate other borrowings and lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances and variable-rate bank and other
borrowings. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rates on bank balances and Hong Kong Inter-Bank
Offered Rate ("HIBOR") and HK$ prime rate as
determined by the lender arising from the Group's
HK$ denominated borrowings. The Group aims at
keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they
are within reasonable range.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including
the replacement of some interbank offered rates
("IBORs") with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details
of the impacts on the Group's risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform and the progress towards implementation of
alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under
“interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the
variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis point (2021:
50-basis point) increase or decrease in variable-rate
bank borrowings are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March
2022 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$88,000 (2021: HKS$Nil). This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and
transactions are mainly denominated in HK$ and
Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign currency risk arises from
future commercial transactions, which are
denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency of the Group.

5. 2@ A
HREREERERBE(E)

(b)

(i)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. &mI A
BHREREERRERBEE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)
(Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of the

0]

mismEkE ()
SME a2 (#8)
REREHR - AEBEUA
R& (XL ITHEER ) FTEN

Group, which are denominated in RMB, that is not the EHAENBENETED
functional currency are as follows: T
Assets Liabilities
& &
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4 2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THERT TET
RMB AR 13,090 9 - -

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used which represents
management'’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where HK$
weakens 5% against RMB. For a 5% strengthening of
HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax loss and the number
below would be negative.

RASNEHENEER AR
mE - AEBEREILEINE
HHABR - AEEKETIE
RESMERR - R BE
R EASMNER R

TR B A BB T A
RASEE R TM 5% 08
BE - 5% BEEEHELM
b 5 B {1137 12 i PR A1) B
o It BB 5 AT 1 B 35 I
518 51 {8 0 1508 5 16 0 B
B R 35 4 505 5 9 s o g
B 5% ¥ LA B (TR B o
TREHZTFMBETEAR
W (5% + B A AR o
BB T30 A R B FHES%
= U5 B RE A AR
MERARNEE TEK
PRS-

2022 2021

2022 £ 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FABT

If HKS strengthens against RMB by 5% /& 7T X A REEFE 5% (547) *

If HK$ weaken against RMB by 5% BT AR E5% 547 *
* Amount less the HK$1,000 * SFOMR1,000/8 7T
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate, pledged bank
deposits and cash and bank balances. At 31 March
2022 and 2021, the Group's maximum exposure to
credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Trade receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as to the
economic environment.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arises when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.

5. 2@ A
HREREERERBE(E)

(b)

(i)
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FERRKBERG

AEEMNEERBREIEREE
SR - 1BS REMEIR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables arising from the sale
and transportation of diesel oil and related products
in Hong Kong and steel products in the PRC, the
Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group has concentration of credit risk as
14% (2021: 21%) and 42% (2021: 48%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively
within the sale of diesel oil business. The directors
closely monitor the risk exposure of the customers
and would take appropriate action to ensure the risk
exposure is acceptable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
reviews the recoverability of each trade receivable at
the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate allowance for ECL are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivables to provide for the ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The Group measures loss
allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

5. @I A
HREREERERBE(E)

(b)

(i)

FERRERBERNG (B

B NG IE ()
HREBHEE REXRLEH R
A B dn B pA AP B 8 2 R P
EENEZERKZKENE -
AEBEAERETENES
MEFREERR RNSHE
HR ARE ZRERIER
2 #914% (20214 : 21%) R
42% (2021 4F : 48%) & Bl &
BASEEEEEMEBN&
ARAREFE » RSB &
EEEETRR - E2H
ERZFHER I HEEE
i DA TR BB B 1A ] 35 2
OF IS

SREEREEERR &1
BLZKEGEEEEREE
R EEEHLEREY
Yoo i R TS SRR IR 1T B
MEMERERF - U B
BEEREREHRRFSEE
5 YRR A Y EEE -
VAT OR Bt A BJ 4 815008 R i
VR ERER - NEE &
AR B 5 B WA
IRBEEMBHRELENE?
AR ENEREEER
REH AEEZEERE
HEHEEEENSRAE
EHRYAERER &
BemiERREREE
BH - HRARENBEE
EFEBRERYEBRTIRE
Fo#OmEaAXTRERR
A MERNBEAHMREDN
BEBEEYEE-FEHA
SENTRZTFER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision
matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Debtors that are credit-impaired with gross carrying
amounts of HK$12,342,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:

HK$1,255,000) were assessed individually.

5. 2@ A
(b) HERMRETEBEREE(®)

(ii)

FERRERBENGE(E)

EH SN E (E)
TRIEHEBENRZHBESHE
BEBE (IR EERE) AK
PR BB R B8 R T
MEZEKFIENEERR
Z Ko M2022%3A31H
i8R ™ 4 18 & 12,342,0007% 7T
(20214 : 1,255,000 7T ) 3
EEERENEFEADET
ERIFHA -

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEE=R IREAE BEREE
At 31 March 2022 % HK$'000 HK$'000
R2022%3A31H % TER FET
Current (not yet past due) BNHA (R HA) 0.51 63,769 325
1-90 days past due BHEI1 E 90K 0.96 14,812 142
91-180 days past due mHI91 2180 H 6.00 2,627 157
181-365 days past due #HI181 £ 365H 9.10 2,852 260
1 year to 2 years 1226 37.33 172 64
84,232 948

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEEE R R FREAE EERHE
At 31 March 2021 % HK$'000 HK$'000
202143 A31H % TAET T
Current (not yet past due) BHA (SR HA) 0.29 40,157 118
1-90 days past due BHEI1 = 90K 0.68 19,659 133
91-180 days past due ®HEI91 =180 H 1.20 8,268 99
181-365 days past due #HF181 & 365 H 53.46 2,879 1,539
1 year to 2 years 15226 17.29 405 71
71,368 1,960
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170

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

At 31 March 2022, the Group provided HK$948,000
(2021: HK$1,960,000) loss allowance for trade
receivables, based on collective assessment. Loss
allowance of HK$12,342,000 (2021: HK$1,255,000)
were made on credit-impaired debtors.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach:

5. @I A
(b) HMERMRETEBEREE(®)

(ii)

FERRRBEGE (B

B Z BN E (B)

B EREIREEBAR
EHRFHNBEERMFE
WEMGEE XREFH LB
LA L ) BIA] 15 /O A BE
HERHELBE - ERETE
HimandE  ARRE B
EEBANEBENCER

MR20229F3A318 " AEH
RIEEBTH B E 5 R UK
TE TR B9 18 45 948,00078 7T
(2021 4F : 1,960,000 7T ) °
ERELEEERENEEA
YE ) /&5 18 B 45 12,342,000 7%
TT(20214F : 1,255,000/ 7T)

TRIVRRIEB T AR E
SR FRERN 2 BB S
EEEEZED)

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEHGEE 2HEHEER
18 (L& EiE (2
EERE) EERE) FLEC)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2020 MW2020F4 A1 H 1,771 - 1,771
Transfer to credit-impaired EREZERE (83) 83 -
Allowance for ECL recognised ERRESREE
B iER s 228 1,172 1,400
Exchange alignment PE i g% 44 _ 44
At 31 March 2021 and MR2021E3A831HK
at 1 April 2021 R2021F4 18 1,960 1,255 3,215
Transfer to credit-impaired BEREEERE (126) 126 -
Allowance for ECL recognised BEERBHEE
iR 477 10,961 11,438
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBRE (1,420) - (1,420)
Exchange alignment [E R 57 - 57
At 31 March 2022 7202263 F831H 948 12,342 13,290
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O}

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period
greater than agreed contract terms.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as allowance for ECL within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
impaired are credited against the same line item.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background
and creditability of those debtors on an ongoing
basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing
with counterparties which have good credit history.
Majority of the trade receivables that are not yet past
due have no default payment history. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Deposits

For deposits, the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits based
on historical information about the counterparties and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group
believes that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. At 31
March 2022, an allowance for ECL on deposits
amounted to HK$16,000 was recognised (2021:
HK$2,000), with ECL rate of 2% (2021: less than 1%).

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Group makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical information about the
counterparties and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there is no
significant increase in credit risk for other receivables
with gross carrying amount of HK$10,247,000 (2021:
HK$9,170,000) since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. Other
receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$3,650,000 (2021: HK$3,650,000) is credit-impaired
and the Group provided impairment based on
lifetime ECL. At 31 March 2022, an allowance for ECL
on other receivables amounted to HK$3,820,000 was
recognised (2021: HK$3,900,000), with ECL rate of
27.5% (2021: 30.4%).

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

5. @I A
HREREERERBE(E)

(b)

(i)

FEERBRBENE (&)
i

HiZems  AEEIRES
BHFABEERETE
MRTIEEE R T HEIZSH
A] Ug (Bl 32 FE 1T R B FR A o
REBRE - BYVIRHERN
K ZEFRERNEERRIL
mEEW) - BASEERE
128 AIE 8 s B BB
B R2022F3A318: B
BRIESEREEBHEBEE
16,0007 7T (20214 : 2,000
B BHEEBEEA2%
(20214F © LAR1%) ©

H b fEW A
REMEWRZENRSE A%
EREEESNFAINBEE
K 7 35 ATRE AR A
R WK IE A A] U [0 72 8 i
TEBRER G - AEER
5 BYIEFERIAR - BRMA
4818 /510,247,000 7T (2021
£ 1 9,170,000 7T ) Hy H 4 jE
WHIBME B R R I MR E
#hn - BAREERE12(EA
TEHEEEEIZBER
& - BR A 48 (B /5 3,650,000 %5
7t (2021 4F : 3,650,000 7T )
H EL fth E W RIE IR E BOR
B AEEREZBEHE
EEEFTIRRE - 120224F
3A31H - BHEREMEIW
REMEBEEBEREBES
3,820,000 jT (2021 4 :
3,900,000/87T) ' BHAIEEE
B R B27.5%(2021F :
30.4%) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss

5. 2@ A

(b)

(i)

BRRREERERBEE)

FERRERBERNG (B

H ot fEH AR (1)
TRIRE BLE A U FRIA

allowances that has been recognised for other RSB EEEER
receivables:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—IEER EoRER B gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET TET TERT
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1 H 716 - - 716
Transfer to credit-impaired EERZEERHE (716) - 716 -
Allowance for ECL recognised D HREHREE
ERERE 250 - 2,934 3,184
At 31 March 2021 and R2021E3H31H R
at 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1H 250 - 3,650 3,900
Allowance for ECL reversed EHEEEHER
R (56) - - (56)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBERE (24) = - (24)
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3A31H 170 - 3,650 3,820
Amount due from an associate JEM & 1 A0 A

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the associate. The Group's credit risks
in this balance is mitigated through the value of the
assets held by the associate and the power to
participate the relevant activities of the associate. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of this amount since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 March
2022, the Group recognised ECL by assessing the
credit risk characteristics of amount due from an
associate and the prevailing economic conditions. At
31 March 2022, an allowance for ECL of HK$234,000
was recognised, with ECL rate of 1.76%.

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558

ZK;‘%IE,HHEQ%% HEAME
BRIK - AEERZEL

Wiz ERKR S BHE AT
BEMNEBERSEBE AN
BB D RER - B2
BRA ZtBENEERR
B )44 FE 7R LA B A 4 E 2 0
e BARSERE12(8A7E
HEEBETRRE - HE
202E3A3MBIEEE - K

5 EE BT R E AR
AR EER R RRIRITE

/HHj(/RﬁEEZ‘IJ\]z/E\/HE'fE ,%j}gﬁié °
MR2022%F3A31H 2R
T8 HR {5 B B 1B 58 % 234,000 7
T EHEEBBEEXA
1.76% °
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged bank deposit/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
pledged bank deposits and bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on pledged bank deposits and bank balances are
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance were recognised.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a
substantial portion of its financial assets and financial
liabilities are due within one year and it can finance its
operations from existing shareholders’ funds and
internally generated cash flows.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and
cash deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effect of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
current and expected liquidity requirements on a
regular basis.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest dates on
which the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash flows.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(iii)

5. 2@ A

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHEMRSEEEREE (S
Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBESEM(E)
The tables below analyse the Group's financial TR ABZBEE AR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on REENSRABE D IEEE
the remaining period at the end of reporting period HEDW - D EFEERR
to the contractual maturity date. Specifically, bank HEHREEOINHAOF %
and other borrowings with repayable on demand HH Mo LER  AERZEKE
clause are included in “on demand or within one B RN R1T R H 18 RN
year” regardless of the probability of the banks or AlEEXRSIR—FA] T
counterparties choosing to exercise their rights. The WIRTTHREFAEETEE
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial BERIAY AT BEME - HAMIEPTAE
liabilities are prepared based on the agreed TRIBEMIEA NIRRT
repayment dates. The amounts disclosed in the table BERBEmAER - TRAE
are based on the contractual undiscounted payments, E@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\ & # AR BB A
are as follows: BT
More than ~ More than
Weighted ~ On demand  one year but two years but Total
average or within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
il EER HB-F RBWE FERRE
FHH= g-FR  BORWE  BOREE BRIE HEAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TER TERT TER TER TER TER
At 31 March 2022 ®2022%3A31H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3 {74 4 REAE
Trade payables ELANE S - 36,622 - - - 36,622 36,622
Accruals, other payables and EHER - EthEATER
deposits received Bl - 4,616 - - - 4,616 4,616
Bank and other borrowings RTREMER 9.8 43,089 - - - 43,089 43,089
Bonds payable EfES 10.0 880 - - - 880 800
Lease liabilities HEAR 34 169 - - - 169 168
85,376 - - - 85,376 85,295
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E__FFRH 175
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5.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(Continued)

5. @I A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HXKEMEREBZERBER(E)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) FREBELEMRE(E)
More than More than
Weighted ~ Ondemand  oneyearbut  two years but Total
average or within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
il EEX Bh—F BRRE AERRE
FHME I—ER EIRBME  BIRLE BRLE st REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TAT TER TAT TEr TAT
At 31 March 2021 2021434318
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ $54 4 REE
Trade payables EUT RN - 32517 - - - 32517 32517
Accruals, other payables and [EHER - ERAFER
deposits received Bl - 11,812 - - - 1812 11,812
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 103 21,29 - - - 21,294 21,294
Bonds payable ERER 10.0 9,680 - - - 9,680 8,800
Lease liabilities HEAR 34 668 114 - - 782 758
7597 114 - - 76,085 75181
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(iii)

5. 2@ A

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MEEREEBEEZEREE(E)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBESEM(E)
Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on B A5 4% B SR E B IE R IRTT
demand clause are included in the “on demand or R EMEFE AN LR HS
less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity e [EESksy DR — @A |
analysis. At 31 March 2022, the aggregate carrying BFERIA » PA202243 3318
amounts of these bank and other borrowings ZERTNEMEREART
amounted to HK$43,089,000 (2021: HK$21,294,000). & 543,089,000/ 7T (2021
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the 121,294,000 C) © EE
directors do not believe that it is probable that the RIAREBFERR  EFR
banks/counterparties will exercise their discretionary BR1T/HF ARG TS
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors TEERBEEZRKAEE
of the Company believe that such bank and other Ko ARFEZRR %5
borrowings will be repaid within four years (2021: one IRITREAMERERREH
year) after the end of the reporting period in REWF(2021F : —F)A
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set RRER TN TATEE
out in the borrowings agreements, details of which MAHERE  FEHNTE
are set out in the table below:
Maturity analysis — Bank and other borrowings with a FIEIDHT — W SR EEIF
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled FEERTT R E MG (R GE
repayments AatE])
More than More than
one year but  two years but Total
Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years cash flow amount
BA-F BBmE KR
-ER  BEIRRE  EOREE RERELHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHT THL TAL TAT
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3A31R 38,304 2,770 4,849 45,923 43,089
At 31 March 2021 R01E3A31H 23,495 - - 23495 21,294
Interest rate benchmark reform (iv) RIREERE

(iv)

Several of the Group’s HIBOR bank borrowings may
be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The
Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates,
including announcements made by the relevant IBOR
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.
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REEETEBRITRZER
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HEWE AKEZVESR
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ERE - ZREEREFER
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O}

178

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i)  The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively,
and

(i) The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models (e.g. discounted cash flow
analysis using observable and/or unobservable
inputs).

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

(i) Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

(i) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

(i) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value of the Group's financial assets are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5. 2@ A

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (0 £RMIBENATEHE(E)
(Continued)
vl of the Grouy's ndol st andfranci EEREERNL TR RO
basis (Continued) ? EEMEER S HARATE(E)
Fair value at
RUATRBNATE
Valuation Significant
Fair value techniques unobservable
Financial assets 31 March 2022 31 March 2021 hierarchy and key inputs inputs
2022F 2021% ETER FEATER
EHEE 3A31A 3A3NE ATESS TEBAEH BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR
Financial assets at FVTPL:
BRRTEFARGHEREE -
— Key management personnel life 5,945 4778 Level2 Quoted redemption N/A
insurance policies F2R value by insurance TR
—IREBABABRE company
IR 2 R EREY
EOER
— Contingent consideration receivable - 15421 Level3 Discounted cash flow Discount
— WS ARE F30 approach factor 16%
ERReRER HRRH
16%

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets.

TREEFEIPATEAEHER -

Contingent

consideration

receivable

R AKE

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 April 2020 20204 A1 H -
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 39) BB E A B1ZEE (M1FE39) 14,201
Fair value change N EES 1,220
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 MR2021F3A31 B KR2021F4 418 15,421
Derecognition (Note 24) TR (FY5E24) (15,421)

At 31 March 2022 R202253A31H

At 31 March 2021, it was estimated that a 5% increase or
decrease in the discount rate but less than 10 million RMB,
of Meijia Shell (Global) Lubricant Technology Limited
("Meijia Shell”) and its subsidiaries (the “Meijia Shell
Group”) while holding all other variables constant the
amount of contingent receivable would increase by
approximately HK$187,000.

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558

MR2021FE3A3MH MATAEE M
FESHIFTE B ESH ORI
HREREERAR ([R5 RH
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(¢) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values at 31 March 2022
and 2021.
(d) Capital risk management (d)

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged during the reporting period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total
borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and injection of capital.

5. @I A

EMTRENQIPEFEGE

HEEEMEEL L FETEHE
EETHEERTHMAEALFE

AEBEMEER SR A EREHE
XS Y BR T B 81 52 2022 F K 2021
FIANHMAFELEEBERER -

EXmEmERE

AEBEEEEEN - LHERERER
Frgge RS ERE(ER kg
SAERAEREREAE R - A&
EHNERBRENRENRHERTT

IR A ISR - AEHE
MERRBEBEREERRANRRE
BARGED  EREREEAN -
BRI N ©

ARREETHENEARE - K
SEEEREANRAREZERE
AEBROER - WFEBIRMRE R
TEFEEBEARE -

The following is the gearing ratio at the end of each UWTASREHRNEEARGLL
reporting period: %
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT
Total borrowings (Note (a)) AR (HIFE @) 44,057 30,852
Total equity (Note (b)) mEm (b)) 95,370 132,038
Gearing ratio BERBHE 46.2% 23.4%
Notes: BT

(a)

Total borrowings represent bank and other borrowings, bond
payable and lease liabilities as set out in Notes 34, 35 and 36; and

(b)

Total equity includes share capital and reserves at the end of each
reporting period.

180 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

(@)  AMERIENTEE34 - 35 M 36FTHIRTT
E&iﬁﬁﬁf%%ﬁ CENEFREERE:

R B RE PR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

6. REVENUE g
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFEFEHNNKEDIF
customers
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHBT
(Restated)
(7 5&31)
Continuing operations BEREEK
Type of goods BmER
Sale of diesel oil and related products: IHESH MAEEE @
Diesel oll e 351,095 293,678
Marine diesel oil P AL 3,997 63,061
Lubricant oil BE i 2,379 1,014
Total et 357,471 357,753
Timing of revenue recognition i 328 TR 22 Y B P
A point in time ISRy 357,471 357,753
Performance obligations for contracts with customers EFEHNNEHNER

Details of performance obligations for contracts with customers
are set out in Note 3.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

All revenue from sale of diesel oil and related products are for
the periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

BRAEFPAANBENEINFBRIIRN
FaE3 -

TERERNBEFEANBHEEN
RZE®

P B 2K B $H & S0 0h R ARRE & fm p W as 19
R —FFIUT - BEBYHMmEER
FISHART > PEERXFIREEKE L
M HERILARKE -
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7.

182

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The information reported to the directors, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of performance does not contain discrete
operating segment financial information and the directors
reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole since the
operating segment of sale of steel products was discontinued
during the current year upon disposal of JTFAFTES) HEHZHBR A
Al (Jiangxi Xinji Power Technology Company Limited*) (“Jiangxi
Xinji"). Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosures, major customers
and geographic information are presented.

* for identification purpose only

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. The Group's
revenue from continuing operations from external customers
based on the location of customers are detailed below:

AARERRHERATMWES (NE2
SIDRAE) ERO AR LRRA B
EESUMBEAN  DETRBELE
BHAEEAOYHEE  REARDE
TR B )RR R A A (T
3 RAESWEEED BRAEEE
GILEE - At B2ERBER
B TERFREER -

* EHEF

Hh 3B &

HE2022FR2021F3A31BILFE -
REENEBURNEBERPE - KEH
REFPHREWE HRAINEE P FEE
KRB FIBOT ¢

Revenue from
external customers

REMBEF S
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx THBT
(Restated)
(#e&E5)
Hong Kong HE 357,471 357,753

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets are detailed
below:

AEEREEMEMBE D2 EIER
BEEMNMHEBEMFELT

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FHEIT
Hong Kong &8 25,696 13,204
The PRC = 17,922 32,160
43,618 45,364

Non-current assets excluded financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, contingent consideration receivable, goodwill and
deferred tax assets.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Information about major customers

Revenues from customers of both years contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group from continuing and discontinued
operations are as follows:

DEER (&)

EEIEEFHNESR
REZMEFE  TFPAERMEAERERA
FEEEXEBRERIEREEBHE RS
B8 10% My e an T

2022 2021

2022 F 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Customer A’ BEEA 55,848 54,500
Customer B’ EFB 41,336 N/ATiEF 2

Customer C' BEC N/A & 2 89,871

Notes:

Revenue from sale of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue

of the Group.

GEE

! REBIHE S R AR E R -

? MR R I B AN R B AR 10% A L -

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HgA
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FABT
Continuing operations BEREXEK

Bank interest income HRITHAEWA 15 135
Transportation services fee BERRGE 3,467 590
Rental income from diesel vehicle KESMEHNEE WA 2,968 1,774
Rental income from investment property KRB EWENEEIWA 46 -
Interest rebate A2 B 297 -
Government grants (Note) AT B (B 5E) 76 1,404

Compensation income arising i M R 78 BE A Y B (B
from profit guarantee - 5,150
Sundry income B A 85 43
6,954 9,096

Note:

Government grants for the year ended 31 March 2021 mainly included

approximately HK$1,244,000 provided by the Hong Kong Government in relation to

Employment Supporting Scheme.

B -

BHE2021F3ANAEFE  BA#HBEIERIER
BHT LR 32 BT A 491,244,000 7T ©
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9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

9. HttmsiEiE

2022 2021
2022 20216
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THBT
Continuing operations BEREXK
Realised gain on financial assets at BAVFEFABGHNEREE
fair value through profit or loss B &R = 363
Unrealised gain on financial assets at BATEF ARG SREE
fair value through profit or loss REIR U S 167 100
Loss arising on change in fair value of REMELNTEEDELNEE
investment property (1,907) -
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate (& £ & —EE: & A RIS 81 -
Exchange gain PEE 3, W 2 1,437 28
(222) 491
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BLE KA
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Continuing operations BEREXEK
Interest expenses on bank borrowings HRATHE R A B 112 369
Interest expenses on other borrowings HE b fEsmF B 4,115 1,463
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts HRITE LW F B Z - 2
Interest expenses on bonds BEENFERZ 192 880
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENMNERAX 18 31
4,437 2,745
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11. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 1. BRBiAT (B518), S85R

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FET
(Restated)
(&=751)
Continuing operations BESEEK
(Loss)/profit before taxation has been  BRH AT (FE) SHRES MK~
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (5T AN) T5I%E :
Directors’ emoluments (Note 14) BEHN (MI5E14) 2,975 2,807
Other staff costs: HME TR :
— Salaries and other benefits — He REMETR 6,163 6,331
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIRBFIFT B 5K
contributions 262 267
6,425 6,598
Auditors’ remuneration (2 GIEaT
— Audit services — ZEPRTS 700 700
— Non-audit services — IEZERTE 20 20
720 720
Cost of inventories sold DEFERA 335,848 324,466
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - B RREITE (MiEE18)
equipment (Note 18)
— Cost of sales — BHEKAR 935 1,763
— Administrative expenses — THAX 205 407
1,140 2,170
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (MEE19)
(Note 19) 382 564
Allowance for ECL on financial assets, ERMEEBHEEEBERE
net SRR
— Trade receivables — B Z WA 11,443 82
— Deposits and other receivables — e MEMEWRIR (42) 3,168
— Amount due from an associate — FEYG — B & N Rl R TE 234 -
11,635 3,250
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HHER AN 12,641 2,226
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12.

186

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

12. FRBHER), BIX

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THBT
(Restated)
(Fe5&31)
Continuing operations BESEEK
Current tax: BIHARR IR :
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEF G - 1,799
Over provision in prior years: RBEFEEERE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEN (1,259) -
Deferred tax (Note 37) EFERIE (M5E37) 169 (266)
(1,090) 1,533

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on
the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands.

Under the Laws of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (2 AR HME B EPAFHUE) (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, tax rate for the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (Continued)

According to the EIT Law and the Implementation of the
Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (F 2 A R M H (b E 715
BEEMEED]), an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise
(/NEUBFITS %) is subject to preferential tax treatments. From 1
January 2019 to 31 December 2021, a Small Low-profit Enterprise
with annual taxable income not more than RMB1,000,000 is
subject to Enterprise Income Tax calculated at 25% of its taxable
income at a tax rate of 20%. During both years, a subsidiary of
the Group is eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise and is
subject to the relevant preferential tax treatments.

The income tax (credit)/expenses for the year can be reconciled
to the (loss)/profit before taxation per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FRBH (ER), BxX )

BECEMSRARTEARLMBE D
EMBREERIGH - 56/ NEF B
X¥ERNERIZXHRERFS - K
20191 A1AE202156 128310 »
[E R UL A TR 1B A R ¥ 1,000,000 7T
B9 /)N AU B I £ 2 AT 3 B SR 20% 3t EL R R
FRUA B 25% st E ¥ FTSH - MEF
R AERE—REKBRRFE N
FIEER  wZHEETRES -

FAMEHRGER) X EEAERR
Hofh 2 U 2 R A5 B0 BR B AT (B
18),/ s AT HERINT

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TE T FATT
(Restated)
(re=3%1))
Continuing operations HEREER
(Loss)/profit before taxation BB AT (E18), A (40,347) 9,125
Tax at domestic income tax rates HETEMERGTEMNTIE (6,657) 1,506
Tax relief of 8.25% on first HK$2 million H2EBBTERT NN
assessable profit 8.25% TIF B R = (165)
Tax effect of incomes not taxable for BAERBTRANT G L
tax purpose (296) (1,075)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AT B L TR A &
tax purpose 3,018 794
Tax effect of share of results of SIEEE AR EENT B
an associate 116 -
Tax effect of deductible temporary AEZRA R E R EZREN
differences not recognised M E 66 -
Utilisation of deductible temporary B RBTFENEERY
differences previously not recognised AT E S = 5 (32) (267)
Tax effect of the tax losses not recognised &R IE E 1B TS = 3,954 750
Tax reduction TR - (10)
Over-provision in prior years RBEFEBEREE (1,259) -
Income tax (credit)/expenses for the year  FRFTER (%), B (1,090) 1,533
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

188

(i)

Sale of steel products operation

On 7 February 2021,
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Eastern Champion Development

Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement with a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level under
the Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Investor”),
pursuant to which the Investor will make capital injection of
RMB20,000,000 to obtain 22.96% equity interest in a
subsidiary of the Company, Jiangxi Xinji, which carried out
all of the Group’s sale of steel products operation. Upon
the completion of the deemed disposal on 15 April 2021,
the Group retained 32.04% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji
and lost its control over Jiangxi Xinji. As a result, Jiangxi
Xinji ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and is
accounted for as an associate using equity method of
accounting in the Group's consolidated financial statement
since then.

The profit/(loss) for the period/year from the discontinued
sale of steel products operation is set out below. The
comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit

13. ERLERERK

(i)

HEMEEEL

R2021F2A78  ARAIEE:
EMBARERERABRARE
GEM EMRBIFE20FE TAR A
WEARERM —ZEEALT (R
BE DT s R E - B
"EE K EE AR 20,000,0007T

ES AR AIH B AR AT E
22.96% IEHE - TR EEITAEE

2 EB 8 EE an 8H S T o 722021
FA4ANSHBIELEFBETKE -
AEBRBENTAFERN32.04%
S iE - A 2k A H ¥ T PR T E A5
e A ITAFETBALAER
RHBAR) - WELEABE QT

RAEBMEE BB IRE P (FEH®
/jﬂ_)\/ﬁ% ©

J/IE\L%ZLI

KECRIEMMEMBEEERBED
B/ Fra ), (E1R) BN TX -
reEEmMEMEERERANL

or loss and other comprehensive income have been REFETEY - AEHERMNE
restated to re-present the sale of steel products operation B AR IEEETR o
as a discontinued operation.
Period from
1 April 2021 to Year ended
15 April 2021 31 March 2021
20215
AR1HE BE
2021 % 2021
4A15H 3H31H
L HA R IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Loss of sale of steel products operation 8f /4 Rl & R 5 & R E 18
for the period/year (78) (2,898)
Gain on deemed disposal of RIEL & — M B A Rk
a subsidiary (Note 40) (Pfi7E40) 1,652 -
1,574 (2,898)
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13. ERLEREER @)
(i) Sale of steel products operation (Continued) () MERMBEER (B
The results of the sale of steel products operation for the SFFAGEBEEMEMEERERA
period from 1 April 2021 to 15 April 2021 and for the year B SHEE MR SH & TS R 202194 A1
ended 31 March 2021, which have been included in the HZ2021F4 8158 [F BRI K
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HE2021F3A31HIEFENE
comprehensive income, were as follows: BESIMT
Period from

1 April 2021 to Year ended
15 April 2021 31 March 2021

2021 F
4B18%E BHE
2021 & 2021
4H15H 3HA31H
LEHARS IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT 4T
Revenue g 42 66,881
Cost of sales $HEE Ak AN (14) (66,851)
Gross profit EA 28 30
Administrative expenses THRAX (106) (2,926)
Allowance for ECL on other Hm W ZOETEHREE
receivables, net EiERE - T8 = @
Loss for the period/year B/ FAEE (78) (2,898)
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13. ERIEREEK @)
(i) Sale of steel products operation (Continued) (i) MERHEEXRK(H)
Loss for the period/year from discontinued sale of steel ERIEKREHENEMEBH
products operation has been arrived at after charging/ By ENEE &R (BT ) LA
(crediting): T&IE :

Period from
1 April 2021 to Year ended
15 April 2021 31 March 2021

12021 F
4R81B% B=
2021 F 2021 4F
4A15H 3H31H
LFEA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T FAT
Cost of inventories sold EEFERAE 1 66,102
Depreciation of property, plant and M B RRETE
equipment - 13
Staff cost: I :
— Salaries and other benefits — e RHEMBER 114 2,390
— Retirement benefits schemes — RIKEHET B
contributions - 213
114 2,603
Cashflows of the discontinued sale of steel products ERIEKEHEWMEmmEBRN
operation for the period/year were as follows: B/ FANRSTENT
Net cash inflow from operating activities A% /5 ENIR 7R AJFEE 766 938
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & /EB)I8 &7 i /F 58 - (2,058)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BerA/ (Rt F8 766 (1,120)
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Jiangxi ATHEEERBERNRIELHES
Xinji at the date of deemed disposal are disclosed in Note AR BREER M40 M HEER o
40.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(i)

Sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related
products operation in the PRC

On 31 March 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to dispose of its entire equity interest
in Meijia Shell at cash consideration of HK$%,000,000 which
will be settled in six instalments over six months. The PRC
subsidiaries of Meijia Shell carried out all of the Group’s
sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related products
operation in the PRC, which was a separate major line of
business included in the sale and transportation of diesel
oil and related products operation and reportable segment
of the Group in previous year’s consolidated financial
statements. The disposal was completed on 31 March 2022,
on which date control of Meijia Shell passed to the
purchaser.

The profit for the year from the discontinued sale and
distribution of lubricant oil and related products operation
in the PRC is set out below. The comparative figures in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been restated to re-present
the sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related
products operation in the PRC as a discontinued operation.

13. R UEREEK &)

(i)

RABEHEER S HBEEBRME
BEmMER

MR2022%3A318H » AR AIEZ
BEHRUREERERZHNET
B #E - IR & X {8 9,000,000 JT #5
RANEARD NEE - ERHA
H B B A Bl B B R 8
ERDHEEERIEEEMN I
X% mEBAHERERSHAK
HHEREBBEN —BEVEE
EBURAEER E—FEHZEIME
HERAN—EARREDE - HES
ER2022FE3A3MBEK - M=
RERMESIENZHEBEE ) -

BERIENRPBIHEE ko #HEE
REBEREBOFEREMEN T
X RAaBRahEMEmEBERA
MHEBRBFE TE - AR E
$HE K0 $H B8 MARREE X1
BIIRERIEEERT -

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
B=E Bz
2022 F 2021 4F
3A31H 3H31H
LLFE IEEE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(Loss)/profit of sale and distribution of AR EIEHE & 7 488 M &
lubricant oil and related products HBEEMERNTA
operation in the PRC for the year (B8),/ &5 (1,296) 765
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE— B AR RA S
(Note 40) (3£ 40) 7,092 -
5,796 765
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13. BRIEKEEER @)
(ii) Sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related (i) RHPEFEERDHEEEHKXME
products operation in the PRC (Continued) BEMEX(E)
The results of the sale and distribution of lubricant oil and HALABZRHEMEAEKEED
related products operation in the PRC for the year, which AR RN E RS EE R ERE
have been included in the consolidated statement of profit DERERNZEEDT
or loss and other comprehensive income, were as follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
BZE BHE
2022 F 2021 %
3H31H 3A31H
IEFE 1EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Revenue g =5 14,476 13,583
Cost of sales $HE Al AN (14,029) (10,818)
Gross profit EA 447 2,765
Administrative expenses TEF X (1,474) (856)
Allowance for ECL on trade and 5 RAMBUGIAEHRES
other receivables, net EtE R - TR 5 (1,334)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREAT (B518), s A (1,022) 575
Income tax (expense)/credit e (Ax%), e (274) 190
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(EE),amF (1,296) 765
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(i)

Sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related
products operation in the PRC (Continued)

Profit for the year from discontinued sale and distribution of
lubricant oil and related products operation in the PRC has
been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

13. R UEREEK &)

(i) APEHERDHEBHhEME
BAEmMER(E)
ERIEEERFEHEE LD HBR
N AR R E Gn SR A P A DA
kr, GEA) AT HIA -

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2022 2021

BZ H=

2022 % 20214

3A31H 3A31H

IEFE WFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&x TFETT

Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 11,230 9,480

Staff cost: BT :

— Salaries and other benefits — HE MEMER] 908 771
— Retirement benefits schemes — R FIET 85k

contributions 154 58

1,062 829

Cashflows of the discontinued sale and distribution of
lubricant oil and related products operation in the PRC for
the year were as follows:

BRI ERTRREE RS HEE
MR IEEEREBRNEANNIR SR
M

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
BZE H=E
2022 % 2021 &
3A31H 3HA31H
IEFE WHFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net cash outflow from operating KEEEIR SR T
activities (569) (298)
Net cash inflow from financing activities & EE)IR &R AJF 58 1,355 -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) WEAA Cnt) F58 786 (298)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Meijia
Shell Group at the date of disposal are disclosed in Note
40.

EEHREBRTLERHNEEREA
BERMERMFE40RHEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

14. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2022

14. EEHE
BE2022F3A31MBLEE

Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and other scheme
fees benefits contributions Total
5K RIKEF
E=Hd Hith @7 HE @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER

Executive directors HTES
Mr. Fong Chun Man FEX RS - 720 18 738
Ms. Lo Pui Yee BELT - 900 18 918
Mr. Chan Chi Fai BREBILE - 1,071 18 1,089
Independent non-executive directors BUFHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert BECEA 120 - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BByEE 80 - - 80
Mr. Wang Anyuan Tk 30 - - 30
230 2,691 54 2,975
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE2021F3A31HILEFE
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors' and other scheme
fees benefits  contributions Total
Fe R RAER
EE0E Hb a7 REESA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THET T THT
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Fong Chun Man HEEE 665 165 18 848
Ms. Lo Pui Yee BELT 665 165 18 848
Mr. Chan Chi Fai REELE 780 193 18 91
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECELE 120 - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap B L - - - -
Mr. Wang Anyuan Tkt - - - -
2,230 523 54 2,807
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

14. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

15.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown were mainly for their
service in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received and receivable from the Group by these directors in
their capacity as employees to the Group and/or in their capacity
as directors of the Company during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and
Mr. Wang Anyuan agreed to waive their emoluments amounting
to HK$40,000 (2021: HK$120,000) and HK$90,000 (2021:
HK$120,000) respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group as compensation for loss of office
(2021: Nil).

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals included three (2021: three)
executive directors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2022, details of whose emoluments are set out above in Note 14.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining
two (2021: two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

14. EEHM )

15.

FIRATESFMEIZEREFRERE
RRRRAEBEEHA B IR -

EXAIRMEIEZEESTREE202F
F2021F3A3MAILFEEAREE R
BES R/ FIEARRREZGHEW
MERAEBE NS

HE2022F3A31HILFE - BB %
ERTELZITEAEE D PR B R EH F
40,0007 7T (2021 4F : 120,000 7T ) &
90,0008 7T (2021 £F : 120,000587T) °

HE2022F3A3MBIFE - AEEH
BINEAEHTFERNES  EEMA
A IS 52 (3] 18 1) S2 B ok 1E & B B 1
B (20214 « #) -

BEHMESREZEASHMH

HZE202F3A31HILFE  AELES
FTALTBERARG=/02021F : =
BIRTES - BEHIFBSEHR X
H14- B TMAQIE : ME)&E
MiEE ERAFEEREFEITHRAR)
REBEENT ¢

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FETT
Salaries and other benefits He REAMER 1,172 1,016
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR {48 FI5T 2| 3% 36 35
1,208 1,051
FeE¥(IER)EBMBRAR/ —T-=FFHK 195
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

15.

16.

196

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

15.

BEFMRSREEANSHHN

(%)

HEFEMENATEEANFFEERSH
HEE AT

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AB A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 2 2
The number of the senior management (excluding directors) HEMWERUTHEANSREREAR
whose emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows: (TBEES) ABROT
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 T 1 1

None of the above highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to any of the above highest-paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).
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8 EAIASRINARE B % H 25
EABERMEE (202146 &) -

Hﬁ /%\
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

17. R (BE) BF

L EEEF PR

AR AEA AR R A BRI E B0
SIREA RIS (F1R), BFITEAT
B

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TE T FATT
(Loss)/earnings (B8),BA
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to TETEBREARNES
owners of the Company for the purposes  (E18) /EFIM S
of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings RAREEANEEFEA
per share (E518),&= 7 (39,257) 7,592
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
‘000 ‘000
TR Fix
(Restated)
(K&&E7)
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary M EGREARAREE
shares for the purposes of basic and (E18), ‘BFmE -
diluted (loss)/earnings per share o AR A I RE S 96,348 87,394

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share for both years has
been adjusted for the share consolidation effective on 29 June
2022.

MREFEENERLEE(EE) BT
msE @ TERAINEFIEE 12022
F6H29BEBMRDEFHHEITHRHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

17.

198

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
From continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

from continuing and discontinued operations attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

17. R (BE) BR @)

REFACEEBRRCRIEREX
%

AREEREANEBIEREFELEET R
ERIEREXBNERERRES (B
18),/ BRITRATSIEAE

2022 2021
2022 % 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAT
(Loss)/earnings (&8 &R
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to Mt E SR EAR L #E
owners of the Company for the purposes  ([E518), BEFIM ST » AQ A
of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings A AERER(EER), %57
per share (31,217) 6,387

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for
both basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share.

From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings per share from the discontinued
operation is HK8.34 cents per share (2021: basic and diluted loss
per share of HK1.38 cents), based on the profit for the year from
the discontinued operations attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$8,040,000 (2021: loss for the year of
HK$1,205,000) and the denominators detailed above for both
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share were same as the basic (loss)/
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
share in existence during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BMENRRZRE

Leasehold Motor Office Construction
improvement Oil barge vehicles  equipment in progress Total
BENREE  KRBE RE  BARE  ERIE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TATL TAT
Cost A
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 718 662 8,500 9,775 69 12214 31,220
Additions E - - 169 - 2,058 2221
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR
(Note 39) Rz 39) - - - 1 - 1
Exchange alignment BN AR - - - 2 1,081 1,083
At 31 March 2021 and R2021E3A318
1 April 2021 R20NF4A1H 662 8,500 9,944 72 15,353 34,531
Additions NE - - - 14 - 14
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR
(Note 40) (it 40) - - 4 (39) (15,425) (15,468)
Exchange alignment [ AR - - - - 72 72
At 31 March 2022 12022%3R31A 662 8,500 9,940 47 - 19,149
Accumulated depreciation: Z3HNE !
At 1 April 2020 R00F4A18 521 1,983 8,175 4 - 10,726
Charge for the year FERTH 135 850 1,186 1 - 2183
Exchange alignment 3k E - - - 1 _ 1
At 31 March 2021 and R221E3A318
1 April 2021 R20NF4A1H 062 2,833 9,361 54 - 12910
Charge for the year FRTH - 850 288 2 - 1,140
Eliminated upon disposal of HERBAREYH
subsidiaries (Note 40) (P3£40) - - v 21 - 23)
Exchange alignment [ AR - - - - - -
At 31 March 2022 ®2022%3R31A 662 3,683 9,647 35 - 14,027
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 March 2022 #2022%63A31H - 4,817 293 12 - 5122
At 31 March 2021 R E3IA3MA - 5,667 583 18 15,353 21,621
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E__FFRH 199
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

19.

200

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EREEE
Motor Office
vehicles premise Total
RE PAEYHE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT FAT T
Cost R
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1 H - 1,469 1,469
Additions NE 1,275 - 1,275
Lease expired THEER - (1,469) (1,469)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 A2021 3 H31H - 2021 F

and 31 March 2022 4818K%2022%3831H 1,275 - 1,275
Accumulated depreciation 2EHIE
At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 H - 1,224 1,224
Charge for the year FAXH 319 245 564
Lease expired HEEm - (1,469) (1,469)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3H31 B K&

1 April 2021 202141 H 319 - 319
Charge for the year FALH 382 - 382
At 31 March 2022 "2022%3HA31H 701 - 701
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March 2022 MR2022F3A31H 574 - 574
At 31 March 2021 M2021F3 A31H 956 - 956

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THBT

Expense relating to short-term leases BREIHEENRX 12,641 2,226
Total cash outflow for leases HEMR &R LLE 4,849 12,626

The Group has the option to purchase the right-of- use assets for

a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

20. REYWE

HK$'000
FHET
Fair value ATE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1 H -
Addition VN=E 21,907
Loss arising on change in fair value recognised in ~~ REZERN A FEZESELENEE
profit or loss (1,907)
At 31 March 2022 202243 A31H 20,000
Unrealised loss on change in fair value of KREWMFE LA TEZDHEENARERERE
investment property (1,907)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acquired an
investment property located in Hong Kong by cash consideration
of HK$9,820,000 and allotment and issuance of 130,000,000 new
ordinary shares. The Group recognised the investment property
with reference to fair value of the investment property at
completion date of acquisition which was valued by an
independent qualified professional valuer, International Valuation
Limited (“IVL"). Acquisition cost of approximately HK$907,000
was capitalised in the acquired investment property.

The Group's investment property has been pledged to secure
the Group's other borrowings.

Fair value measurement

The Group's investment property was measured at fair value at
31 March 2022. The valuation was carried out by IVL which has
among its staff members with appropriate qualifications and
recent experience in the locations and categories of property
being valued. The directors have discussion with IVL on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation
was performed at the end of each reporting period.

In estimating the fair value of the investment property, the
highest and best use of the investment property is their current
use.

HE2022F3A3NBILFE - AEBE K
BUREENREDNE  FRNAERER
9,820,000/ T A & BC B K& % 17
130,000,000 i #T & i@AY - AEBMN L E
BUYAEREBEEGEMBERFEERA
AI(TEFED) KUK SR B i IS E %
ERHENAFEERERILENZE - K
BERK R 49907,000 78 T E NI & W 2
B FR A A o

AEENREMEDFEM - LAEBEAR
SEAEMER -

A EFE

AEENLEMER2022F3 831 %
NEEE - HETHBEFET - BF
MEEERBEEERREGHEMEMT
B RERAEEER  BEEENER
SHFRETHERERT I mHERR
MGEEER -

RIEFFRENEN R FER - KEME
M RRERGRERRE AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

21.

22.

202

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group's investment property
located in Hong Kong is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. Valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurement are as follow:

20.

BEWE @)

DN EFEE)

AEBURFBNREMEN R FER
EEDBREIRATESHR - A FE
AHERMARGERN RBAZRENT -

Valuation Relation of significant unobservable
techniques Significant unobservable input inputs to fair value
EXTUEERAHIEHE
fEE R EATIEERARE ATENEE
Commercial property Income Capitalisation rate, taking into account the Aslight increase in the capitalisation rate

capitalisation

WAERE

located in Hong Kong
(NEETEESYES

PREPAYMENT FOR RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At 31 March 2021, the balance represents the prepayment paid
by the Group in connection with right-of-use assets in the PRC.
The balance was derecognised upon disposal of Jiangxi Xinji.

capitalisation of rental income potential,
nature of the property, and prevailing
market condition, of 2.7%.

ARERMCERRNEN MELEREA
i ERMEERR27%

Monthly market rent, taking into account the
differences in location, and individual
factors such as floor level, building age,
size and conditions of the properties, at
an average of HK$27 per square foot.

ZRIMEZRAREE - #&  KNRY
FMREEFIRE - BATHEEE AT
SEHER27BTT -

R2021FE3 831 H
FEFERAEEENSMNIENKIE - &t
REETAFERERIFER -

used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value, and vice versa.

FRANERMERAEMEERATE
KETE - RZIMA -

A'significant increase in the monthly
market rent used would result in a
significant increase in fair value, and
vice versa.

ARG ATmERSREENKERA
TERBEM R2HAR -

21. FHBEEENRE

CRERTIIE AR EER

GOODWILL 22. B8
HK$'000
T
Cost and carrying amount MARREE
At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 R -
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 39) B YN E A Rl E A (FHEE39) 2,044
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R2021 43 4318 K&2021F47318 2,044
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) & B A /) (B 3£ 40) (2,044)

At 31 March 2022

R2022%3A31H
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

22. GOODWILL (Continued) 22. ﬁ%(%)

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated to
individual CGUs that is expected to benefit from business
combinations. The carrying amount of goodwill are allocated
according to the business segment as follows:

EBAMESNEEIEEENBEZ
EGatEamENReELEN B
EMEREEREGYBORET

2021
2021 4F
HK$'000
FAT
Sale and transportation of diesel oil B MEEEREE RES
and related product 2,044

The Group tests goodwill impairment annually or more frequently
if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, no impairment loss was
recognised.

The recoverable amount of above CGU has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation by Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited (“Vincorn”). The calculation used cash flow
projections based on the financial forecasts approved by the
directors of the Company covering a five-year period. The pre-
tax discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are 15%.
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the
five-year period is 3%.

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The terminal growth rate used
is with reference to the long term average growth rates and
expected market development. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not cause
the recoverable amount of CGUs to fall below their carrying
amount.

Other assumptions for the value-in-use calculation related to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which included budgeted
revenue and profit margin. Such estimation is based on past
performance, existing sales contracts and management
expectations for the market development.

AEBEBFETHERENB KRB

LA ERIR - BE2021E3A31 B IEE
[E - EERREEE -

taReEEEMNAKRESEDRE
st R EHE AR AR (1505 ) #17
MEREBEFEMEE - X EERAE
RARBIESHEN D F R BIER K
BenefE - ERARESRERRN
B0 A BA IR K B 15% o A HEET 1 5 5
RIEHRSREMNERERF3% -

B E R A A] AR B AT TS E R A ]
BENGMESELELNSERR
H BRI AT L R AR ETBEIR R PR OKAEIE
REDNZERPTFHERELFEHTS
BHRET - BEERR TERRNE
MEREAREHE ISR ELE
R AT @ 2 FRIER HREE -

AREREBEAENEMERERSR
A/t ERE - EhBEEE KGR
MEE - BEMGATDERBERR - HA
HEAHNMEEBHMSERTER -
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23. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 23. RE¢E N RIS

2022
2022
HK$'000
FHET
Cost of investment in an associate =L =N l:0) 9N 18,507

Share of post-acquisition loss and other DN IEREE KAt EEE
comprehensive loss (591)
Exchange alignment PE 5 B 6
17,922

Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

ARBRRE DA NG ERTDRENT

Proportion of

ownership interest

Place of Principal place of and voting power
Name of entity incorporation business held by the Group Principal activities
AEBERANRERERER
ERER 118 B AL 3t 2 TEEXHH R ERELLA TEEH
2022 2021
2022%  2022F
Jiangxi Xinji (Note) The PRC The PRC 19.70% N/A  Manufacturing, sale and
T E (Kish) + H TiEF distribution of steel products
MEMBE - HERDH

Note: B &E -
As disclosed in Note 13, Eastern Champion Development Limited entered into an MM 13FTHEE - BREEAR QAR EER]

equity transfer agreement with the Investor, pursuant to which the Investor will make
capital injection of RMB20,000,000 to obtain 22.96% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji.
Upon the completion of the deemed disposal on 15 April 2021, the Group retained
32.04% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji and lost its control over Jiangxi Xinji. As a
result, Jiangxi Xinji ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and is accounted for as
an associate using equity accounting in the Group's consolidated financial

statement since then.

On 18 October 2021, the Group and the three existing shareholders of Jiangxi Xinji
entered into capital contribution agreement with ¥T7R i SRR ZE Z R ESI G E
@& (BRE#) (Xinyu Steel Chain Technology Industry Innovation and Development
Guidance Fund (Limited Partnership)*) (“Xinyu Steel Chain”), pursuant to which
Xinyu Steel Chain agreed to contribute RMB30,000,000 to Jiangxi Xinji for capital
injection. Upon completion of the capital contribution by Xinyu Steel Chain, the
Group's equity interests in Jiangxi Xinji decreased from 32.04% to 19.70%. The
Group is still able to exercise significant influence over Jiangxi Xinji because it has
the power to appoint one out of the five directors of Jiangxi Xinji under the articles
of association of Jiangxi Xinji. The Group continues to use equity method to account
for its equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji. The Group recognised a gain on deemed
disposal of HK$81,000 in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022 resulted from the capital
contribution.

*  for identification purpose only
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UREEEGE B REEKIBEARE
20,000,000 7T LA BR 15 /T 78 % 22 22.96% A 1 © 722021
FARSARMEHE TR - AEBRRE TN
R 32.04% MM - WAREEENT R E AR I
Bt ITEMETBEAREENNERR X B

ERBEARERESEHAAREAREANGS
BITSEmR o

M2021F 108188 AEBRIAMEN =K
BERREEFTRMENFEXATNERIIEES (BR
&%) ([FxigE ] I DEE e - Bt - FrRingE
A& AL P 201 A AR % 30,000,000 TT#/TIEE ©
RITRIMBTAEE R - AEBER L HHE AR E
H132.04% B & 19.70% ° AN E{DRE LT AR E AT
FEAXEN REAAAEEERRBIANEYN
BERERANRTIANERREETN—RES -
RNEBBEFEAESEARE N IENENIRAE -
REBMETEMNEE 202243 A31 B LFEHE
FEFZREMEZEKSRPEIRIED S K
81,0007 7T °
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23. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 23.

Summarised financial information of material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

material associate is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts shown in the associate’

financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

REBENTNER (@)

BEABE QTN BENEE

BRAASEERE 2 RRNMEE R
REIT - TIHBERB R BRE
BEM B RE ERREY L XM B R
RFIREHE °

Jiangxi Xinji AR
2022
2022 F
HK$'000

TERT
Non-current assets EMBEE 76,538
Current assets MENVE B 53,066
Current liabilities mEBAE (38,627)
Non-current liabilities ERBEIE -

Period from
15 April 2021 to
31 March 2022
H20214R158%
202243 H31H
LEERE
HK$'000

THET
Revenue for the period A 459,532
Loss for the period HNES1E (3,930)
Other comprehensive income for the period BN E fth 2 T E 1,486
Total comprehensive loss for the period HANEEEEERE (2,444)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

AR E R R R A M R T

the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in REREE A AR R e BREE 2 E 8
the consolidated financial statements: R
2022
2022 F
HK$'000
TET
Net assets of Jiangxi Xinji TP ERFEE 90,977
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in REB T E A PT A EE LD
Jiangxi Xinji 19.7%
The Group's share of net assets of Jiangxi Xinji AREBDNIAMENFEE 17,922
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AREER IAMENERNERE
Jiangxi Xinji 17,922
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24.

206

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE

Contingent consideration receivable represents the profit
guarantee given by the Vendors (as defined in Note 39) to the
Group in relation to the acquisition of Meijia Shell Group.
Contingent consideration receivable has been designated as
financial assets at FVTPL upon initial recognition and is measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The movement of
the fair value of contingent consideration receivable is as follow:

Details of the profit guarantees are as follows:

24. EWERNRE

IR B E 5 (23 RHTEE39) 3t
U 2 35 70 25 L ) 4 SR IR 440 36 AR
& BRAARBER NSRRI T
BEAFEAABENSRAE B
WEMARRAT @B - BURARE
AT EREIT -

mAREFBEAT

Meijia Shell

Profit guarantees Group
AR E EEREE
HK$'000

TET

At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 1 -
Arising from acquisition (Note 39) E4 B iEE1E (M5 39) 14,201
Gain on change in fair values NP EEF K 1,220
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R2021 43 4318 K&2021F4 7318 15,421
Loss on derecognition IR E A (15,421)

At 31 March 2022

R202253A31H

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) in
relation to the acquisition of Meijia Shell Group, the Vendors
have given a guarantee to the Group that the audited
consolidated net profit after tax of Meijia Shell Group for the
three financial years ending 31 March 2021, 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2023 (each of the “Guaranteed Period”) would be no
less than RMB5,000,000, RMB10,000,000 and RMB10,000,000 (the
“"Guaranteed Sum”) for each of the Guaranteed Period (the
"Profit Guarantee”).

In case the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled for the corresponding
period/year, the Vendors shall pay of the difference between the
Guaranteed Sum and the actual audited consolidated net profit
after tax of Meijia Shell Group (the “Shortfall”) to the Group.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the actual audited
consolidated net profit after tax of Meijia Shell Group did not
satisfy the Profit Guarantee. Hence, the Vendors are required to
pay the Shortfall to the Group in accordance with the terms and
condition stated in the SPA.
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24. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE

(Continued)

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable as at 31
March 2021 is determined based on the valuation conducted by
an independent firm of valuers, Vincorn, by using the discounted
cash flow approach and a gain arising in fair value change of
approximately HK$1,220,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Upon completion of disposal of Meijia Shell Group during the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into agreement
with the Vendors to release and discharge their obligations and
liabilities under the Profit Guarantee. Accordingly, the Group
recognised a loss on derecognition of contingent consideration
receivable of approximately HK$15,421,000 to profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

At 31 March 2021, the contingent consideration receivable is
analysed into current assets and non-current assets as follows:

24. EWEARE @)

R20213A31H  BIRKAKRENA
FETVRB B (A ER A RS R
BReRBFETHHERE ma¥
ERFESNIKEL 1,220,000 TE R
ReaBmMlEMEERERER -

REE2022F3A31HIEFERREE
EEREEE AEEES L
FOUHEBRESENENRETNETLR
=% At AEBEREZE202293 8
3N HIEFEMEZEFRRE I ERER
SRR B EIE4915,421,000%5 7T °

MR2021F3 A31H » ERAREZIA
TARS T ARBEENIERBEE :

Analysed for reporting purpose as: HEREMSTTRE -
HK$'000
FETT
Non-current assets FEREBEE 7,060
Current assets MEEE 8,361
15,421

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25. RAFEFABENEREE

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT

Key management personnel life insurance =TBEEE A B AFRE
policy 5,945 4,778

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RERBEDIN A :

Non-current assets FRBNE E 5,945 4,778
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25.

26.

208

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The Group entered into life insurance policies with insurance
companies to insure against the death and permanent disability
of executive director. Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy
holder are the Company, Great Wall (International) Qil Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the total insured
sum is approximately US$3,150,000 (2021: US$2,600,000)
(equivalent to HK$24,570,000 (2021: HK$20,280,000)). The
contracts will be terminated on the occurrence of the earliest of
the death of the key management personnel insured or other
terms pursuant to the contracts. The total insurance premium
paid at the inception of the policy was approximately US$768,000
(2021: US$639,800) (equivalent to approximately HK$5,990,000
(2021: HK$4,987,000)). The total initial premium charge paid was
approximately US$38,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$309,000). The Group may request a surrender of the contracts
at any time and receive cash back based on the cash value at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the gross premium
paid at inception plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned
and minus insurance premium charged. A guaranteed interest
rate for the first five years ranges from 4.10% to 4.25% per annum
applied to the contracts, followed by the a minimum guaranteed
interest rate of 2% per annum for the following years until
termination. The fair value is based on redemption value quoted
by the insurance companies.

25. BAFEFABEENSHEE

(%)

AEBRRBABIRE—MHASRE
MATEE TR R AKAEELR - BIE
RE  ZmARREFBEABERRAT R
AR Z2EWNBRAREN(BEE) A
BRAG - B IREE 4 53,150,000
70 (20214 : 2,600,000 7t ) (B & »
24,570,000 7T (20214 : 20,280,000 %
TL)) c BHEBRZRHNFEEEEAS
FiNE s IR IR A S B M IR FGR E T T A
BIEAREBREEARE) - RRER
REFE AR B AERE 4 5 768,000
JC(20214F : 639,800k 7T ) (HHE R K
5,990,000 7T (20214 : 4,987,000 %8
T  ENMUBRREERETEN A
38,0003 7T (#8& 7 47 309,0008 L) ° A&
EEABERERERR - WRERKRAEH
ReEENEES  BHEBERERS
B E X TRREEENS BRI RETR
BANEBAIBREREET - BAREGHON
BRAFREBENENT410EE425F -
HeFEAREKREFANER2E - &
2RIEAIE - ATFERRB AR TRE
ElEEE -

INVENTORIES 26. ZE
2022 2021
2022 % 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Raw material E A - 695
Work-in-progress pank R — 27
Finished goods SURK 820 15,628
820 16,350
All inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable BT B TF S5 4 B n] 15 % E 2 K
value. FIER o
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES 27. EZ WA
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Trade receivables B 5 W GRIA 96,574 72,623
Less: allowance for ECL, net W BHEEEERE - F58 (13,290) (3,215)
83,284 69,408
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRERDAT
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables ATARBREHRREZHHES
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the ME ZRIIERER DT

reporting periods:

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within 30 days 30HA 43,406 29,038
31 to 60 days 31260H 12,150 10,831
61 to 90 days 61E290H 12,413 10,811
91 to 120 days 91E120H 6,076 3,956
121 to 150 days 121E150H 4,609 2,381
Over 150 days BB 150 H 17,920 15,606
96,574 72,623
The Group's average credit term with its customers is, in AEERARFPHTAHEER R
general, 3 days to 150 days. The Group seeks to maintain R3IBEI0E - REBB N EH
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue AN [B] ) JE SRR IE A R BR AR R ) o
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. BHESRASREEE T HEMN -
(b) ECL assessment on trade receivables by EZFEWRFENEREESE
R
During the year ended 31 March 2022, allowance for ECL HE202F3A3MBILEFE &
on trade receivables of approximately HK$11,438,000 was ZEWFIENTRHREEBHIRRELD
recognised to profit or loss (2021: HK$1,400,000). 11,438,000/ LA 18 7 AR #ERR (2021

£F 11,400,000 7T) °

Details of ECL assessment on trade receivables are set out BAE S EWFENTEEEEEIR
in Note 5(b). S EE BRI EE 5(b) ©
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28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

210

28. ENRIE RERHEMEBRRK

RECEIVABLES b
2022 2021
2022 £ 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Deposits, net of allowance for ECL & (KR BEEEFIERE)

(Note (i) (BFEG) 776 14,644
Prepayments (Note (ii)) TEA FRIE (M EE Gi)) 1,432 18,217
Other receivables, net of allowance H b fE U FRIE (F0BR TEHR

for ECL (Note (iii)) BEEEERE) (M i) 10,077 8,920

12,285 41,781
Less: non-current portion R FERVEREL = (13,867)
Current portion BNHEAEE 2 12,285 27,914

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

Deposits mainly represent rental deposits and utility deposits. Included in
deposits at 31 March 2021 was deposits paid for property, plant and
equipment of HK$13,867,000.

At 31 March 2022, an allowance for ECL on deposits of HK$16,000 was
recognised (2021: HK$2,000).

Included in prepayments at 31 March 2021 was prepaid rental for oil barge
of HK$9,600,000.

Included in other receivables at 31 March 2022 was consideration receivable
from disposal of Meijia Shell Group of HK$9,000,000, net of allowance for
ECL of HK$169,000.

Included in other receivables at 31 March 2021 was compensation income
receivable related to the Shortfall (Note 24) of HK$5,150,000, net of
allowance for ECL of HK$196,000.

At 31 March 2022, an allowance for ECL on other receivables of HK$3,820,000
was recognised (2021: HK$3,900,000).

Details of ECL assessment on deposits and other receivables are
set out in Note 5(b).
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GEX

(i) REFEREBASRERAHBZHIES - R
2021F3 A3 AR BRERDE  BE K
HE A AiE S 13,867,000 7T ©

MR202F3A31H  CHEREZEEHEEES
1B 16,0008 7T (2021 4F : 2,000/87T) ©

720214 3 A 31 B TER ZIE R IETE T R
4 9,600,000/ 7T °

20224 3 A 31 BREAMAERFIERELHE
ERAEEAERAE9,000,000% 5T + Mk
TEEEE B8 A& 169,000/ 7T ©

720214 3 A 31 BEYE A EGRIE B iE B =
A B MR E YA (F7E 24) 5,150,000 7%
7T - HIBRTE B B B 1B HE 5 196,000 8 7T ©

MR2022F 3 A31H - BHERE M ERFRIER
8 415 & /&5 48 3,820,000 7T (2021 4F :
3,900,000/87¢) ©
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29.

30.

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

Amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-interest
bearing, and repayable on demand.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, allowance for ECL on
amount due from an associate of approximately HK$234,000 was

recognised to profit or loss.

Details of ECL assessment on amount due from an associate are

29.

FE W B & N RIFRIR
PRI A R RIB AR - R B RA
REREE -

%%i2022¢3ﬂ31 AIEFE - EUHE: =
FRIBHYTE B BB 1B R 549 234,000
/EEEE/\\?Eﬁﬁ‘:F'ﬁEu«m °

JE Wi & 1 B SRR K FEHME B B R AT

set out in Note 5(b). SEIEE M EES((D) °
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK 30. 2K TN HERET
BALANCES EER
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Pledged bank deposits EHEMRITIFR 6,077 12,158
Cash and bank balances e MR 14,276 20,535
20,353 32,693

At 31 March 2022, the Group’s cash and bank balances
denominated in RMB was RMB7,000 (2021: RMB273,000)
(equivalent to HK$9,000 (2021: HK$323,000)). RMB is not a freely
convertible currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out
of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control
promulgated imposed by the government of the PRC. The
Group's cash and bank balances denominated in RMB which
located in Hong Kong are not subject to the foreign exchange
control.

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at bank and cash on hand
held by the Group. Bank balances earn interests at floating rate
based on daily bank deposit rates and is placed with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

The pledged bank deposits were pledged as collateral for bank
facilities and carried interest at 0.25% (2021: 0.04% to 0.25%) per
annum.
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EMHR e RRITEH A ARKE7,0007T
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31. TRADE PAYABLES 31. EZEARE

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$’'000 HK$'000

TET FET

Trade payables 2 S EMNFUA 36,622 32,517

The average credit term from suppliers is up to 3 to 90 days. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods:

HEBETHOFHEERRZ HIEN
HeATRRRERAREERAHZS
HVE 5 e R MR RIRMRE AT

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&x FHIT
Within 30 days 30HA 18,454 14,833
31 to 60 days 312 60H 8,195 6,297
61 to 90 days 61E90H 9,093 5,532
Over 90 days B\ H 880 5,855
36,622 32,517
32. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 32. EEERA HENRIERE

DEPOSITS RECEIVED Wiks
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Accruals JEETEH 2,880 5,990
Other payables H i fE A FRE 1,573 5,792
Deposits received e 53 30
Rental deposit received 2WEe%S 110 -
4,616 11,812

212 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 33. ANAME
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THBT
Contract liabilities EHEaE
Provision of selling steels products IRMEMNEREE &
and sales of injecting molding HE T ER
machine products
— Billings in advance of performance — RERRTTEYRIA = 5,780
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract HIEHERENBESEENTEN—R
liabilities recognised are as follows: IR T
Provision of selling steels products and sale of injecting RERERHERHFEETERER
molding machine products
When the Group receives a deposit before the sales contract AEEEHEES YRR IREZE SR -
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of A TEAHNFARRELESANEE  HEE
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract. IS LR BLE -
Movements in contract liabilities BEREERS
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
At 1 April n4H18 5,780 4,509
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 39) W s BT 8 & 7] (BT 5E 39) - 3,217
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) H B B B -~ &) (BT 5% 40) (6,576) -
Revenue recognised that was included in = 5T AFHIA LN B EHE R E
the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (2,273) (4,509)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of & AERU B EL
recognising revenue during the year arasERd = (44,113)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of & AFLE MW EIZ &
receiving deposits during the year in MEHA LA FEHEIN
respect of the goods 2,956 46,041
Exchange alignment M % 113 635
At 31 March M3H31H - 5,780
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34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

214

34. SRITREMER

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Secured bank borrowings (Note (i)) EHERRITIER(FIEEG) 11,810 -
Secured other loans (Note (ii) B3R E A B 3k (B R Gi)) 31,279 21,294
43,089 21,294
Carrying amount repayable: FEEEMNBREE -

On demand or within one year and BRERFIERBBEMTAE

shown under current liabilities N—FRNEE 43,089 21,294

Notes:

(ii)

The bank borrowings are interest bearing at 1.5% per annum above HIBOR
for a period equal in length to the loan period, secured by pledged bank
deposits of the Group and guaranteed by the Company, and maturing within
four months. At 31 March 2022, the effective interest rate of the bank
borrowings ranged from 1.83% to 2.26% per annum.

Other loan of HK$7,987,000 (2021: HK$10,000,000) is interest bearing at
20.4% per annum and secured by shares charge over subsidiaries of the
Company. The loan was fully settled in May 2022.

Other loan of HK$9,292,000 (2021:HK$11,294,000) is interest bearing at 1%
per annum above HK$ prime rate as determined by the lender and
guaranteed by the Company and Mr. Fong Chun Man, an executive director
of the Company, and maturing in December 2025.

Other loan of HK$14,000,000 (2021: Nil) is interest bearing at 12.5% per

annum, secured by investment property of the Group and guaranteed by Mr.
Fong Chun Man, and maturing in August 2022.
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35. BONDS PAYABLE

36.

The bonds payable are interest bearing at the fixed coupon rate
of 10% per annum, payable annually in arrear and repayable as

follow:

35. B &S

ENEFZEEREFFEI10% S
ARNEBFFEN  LRATHAEER

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within one year —FR 800 8,800
Analysed as reporting purpose as: HEHRENSTR -
Current liabilities mENE & 800 8,800
The effective interest rate of the corporate bonds for the year HZE202F3ANBLEFE  AFES
ended 31 March 2022 is 10% (2021: 10%) per annum. BB FH R 5 10% (2021 F : 10%) °
LEASE LIABILITIES 36. HERE
2022 2021
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Minimum lease payments due: BB SEEENK
Within one year —FR 169 663
More than one year but not later than R —FEDRME
two years - 1M1
Less: future finance charges B ARKREEE R (1) (16)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABRE 168 758
Present value of lease liabilities: HEAERE:
Within one year —FR 168 648
More than one year but not later than BB —FELRRE
two years - 110
168 758

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to

lease liabilities is 3.4% (2021: 3.4%).

R34% (2021 4F : 3.4%) °

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558
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37.

216

DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax balances recognised
and movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021:

37. EERE(EE) B
AN AREZE2022F &% 20213 A31 H

EFERRNETEEEHIBEHR LAY
& -

Accelerated

Allowance tax

for ECL depreciation Total

RHEE
EERE MEHERE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET TET
At 1 April 2020 M202064 A1 H (291) 698 407
Credited to profit or loss BPNGE (348) (247) (595)
Exchange alignment PE 3¢, % ) - (1)

As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R202163H31H

K 2021 4R1H (650) 451 (199)
Charged to profit or loss NkiEs 500 17 517
Exchange alignment BE 5%, F % 9 - %)
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3A31H (159) 468 309

At 31 March 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$40,060,000 available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 March 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$22,878,000 available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of approximately HK$3,231,000 arising from
the PRC which may be carried forward for five years. Other losses
of approximately HK$19,647,000 may be carried forward
indefinitely.
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38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. A&
Number of
Share HK$'000
RGEHE FHERT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each EREECI BTNEER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 7R2020F4 418 -
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 2021 3H31H -
2021 F4H1H
20223 H31H 2,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A1 H 800,000,000 8,000
Issue of shares upon acquisition RUEEKT B R RI&EITRG
of subsidiaries (Note (i) (FEE ) 78,000,000 780
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R2021F3H3 B R
2021 F4H1H 878,000,000 8,780
Issue of shares upon acquisition of R B M E B BTG
investment property (Note (ii) (BT Gi)) 130,000,000 1,300
At 31 March 2022 7202263 A31H 1,008,000,000 10,080
Notes: Bt eE -
(i) On 20 April 2020, 78,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were (i) 202044 A 20 H + 78,000,000 % & f% M &
allotted and issued for the acquisition of 51% issued share capital of Meijia 001 BT E MR IRFITEER021E
Shell at the issue price of HK$0.21 each. TR R R BT - AREE R R 51% B &
TR -
(i) On 4 August 2021, 130,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were (ii) 7202148 A4 8 » 130,000,000 % & A% [ &
allotted and issued for the acquisition of an investment property located in 0.01 78 T HY T E @AR B AL 3 R 39T - DAl
Hong Kong. BUNBBNREDE

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558 217
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

39.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 March 2020, the Company and Mr. Zhu Yixiang and Mr. Li
Weinian (collectively, the “"Vendors”) entered into the SPA,
pursuant to which the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and
the Company is conditionally agreed to purchase 51% equity
interest in Meijia Shell at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$16,380,000. The consideration was satisfied by
the allotment and issuance of 78,000,000 shares under general
mandate (the “Consideration Shares”) at the issue price of
HK$0.21 per share by the Company to the Vendors. The
acquisition was completed on 21 April 2020. The principal activity
of Meijia Shell is investment holding and its principal operating
subsidiary, 1L E/ER B{EEHEHBER AR (Foshan Shunde
Aodexin Lubricant Company Limited*) (“Foshan Shunde
Aodexin”), is principally engaged in the business of research and
development, production, sales and distribution of lubricant in
the Asia Pacific region. Upon the completion, Meijia Shell
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and the financial
results of Meijia Shell Group is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Consideration transferred

39. WEEHI B A =

2020 3 A23 8« AARIEKEEEL
ERBESEEFEBIEFDITLEE
WE - Bt BEAEERUERERES
MARRIEBBRHEREEEEXRZRS%
A #E - 48R (B A #916,380,00058 7T ° 1
BUERRBIRE —REFBIZETEESR
B 0217 L A B 5 R B Kk BT
78,000,000 8% B 10 ([ R EB Rz tn ) & & -
W ETHM2020F 4 A21HEK - £5
BT EEBAREZER  MEXTES
EMBA RGBSR REEEEH
BRAT(HLIEERES]) FEMN G
KB EMEE - £E - HERDHE
BHER c REME  ERROKAR
EERNZ2ENBAR  MEEZREEDN
VBEERAEAREAEBNGEY B
Wk o

EERNE

HK$'000

THET

Equity instruments issued BETERTIA 16,380

Contingent consideration agreement (Note 24) SARE R (M5 24) (14,201)

Total 4t 2,179
Note: BeE

Based on the SPA, the Group is guaranteed by the Vendors that Meijia Shell
Group's audited net profit after tax in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard for the period from the completion date to 31 March 2021 shall
be not less than RMB5,000,000 and shall be not less than RMB10,000,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2022 and for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$52,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expenses in the current year, within the
"administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

* for identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

Wt B B /BB 2 B ()

REREMEEEE RO ERAEEN
T

HK$'000

FABT

Property, plant and equipment W - BB N 1
Inventories FE 1,912
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 3,246
Deposit and other receivables e R E A W RIE 2,999
Cash and bank balances RE RIBITEEH 503
Tax recoverable Af Y eI R IR 197
Contract liabilities SHERE (3,217)
Trade payables B 5 ENIE (4,138)
Other payables, accruals and receipts in advanced ~ E M fERFUE - T2 B K FEWRIE (1,239)
264

The fair values and gross contractual amount of trade receivable,
deposits and other receivables as at the date of acquisition
amounted to approximately HK$3,246,000 and HK$2,999,000
respectively. No trade receivable and other receivables were
expected to be uncollective.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests (49%) in Meijia Shell Group
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to
the proportionate share of identifiable net assets acquired and
approximately amounted to HK$129,000.

B RKHIA - ke REMEEEIAER
WEHRANRAFERENERDIOR
3,246,000 7% 7T 5 2,999,0007% 7T o 78 BRI
B8 5 M YR IR Ko H At FE USRI T AT
g -

FEERER

RUEE B BRFTRE RN =S ik S B A JE %
AERE RS (49%) T2 ZE B WIB ] B & EF
ENLAIDERFE - £84)5129,00078

JC °
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39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. WIBHE 2 J (a)

220

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEREEEEWEE
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred EEERE 2,179

Plus: non-controlling interest e SRR ER

(49% in Meijia Shell Group) (REZFREBEN49%EZ) 129
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired B B EEFEN D ER SR (264)
Goodwill arising on acquisition W EEESNEE 2,044

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Meijia Shell Group is
attributable to future growth and profitability expected to arise
from the business combination. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Meijia Shell Group:

WEEXEREEEENEENREANE
HIRB A EELENRIIER AN EE
N e FENm I EEEE D FER - R
RREIL N A A BRI B EEMNER
fRfF

BEHZSRBEEMELNEE TR
IO

WREEXEREENRESRAFE

HK$'000

T

Cash consideration paid ERNBRERE -
Add: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired  #1: EWENIR G MRS S B W% 503
503

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year is approximately HK$765,000
attributable to the additional business generated by Meijia Shell
Group. Revenue for the year includes approximately
HK$13,583,000 generated from Meijia Shell Group.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2020, total group
revenue for the year would have been approximately
HK$14,021,000, and profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$781,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 April 2020, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(i)

Deemed disposal of Jiangxi Xinji

As disclosed in Note 13, on 7 February 2021, Eastern
Champion Development Limited entered into an equity
transfer agreement with the Investor, pursuant to which the
Investor will make capital injection of RMB20,000,000 to
obtain 22.96% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji. Upon the
completion of the deemed disposal on 15 April 2021, the
Group retained 32.04% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji and
lost its control over Jiangxi Xinji. As a result, Jiangxi Xinji
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and is accounted for
as an associate using equity method of accounting in the
Group's consolidated financial statement since then.

40. HEMH BT
() BEHESTIHEFHE

R7H
BRI MRS R -

RBERRRAEEES
AEEGRAVBRE

AR EE13FT K FR - 72021 2
CERBERBRAFEKRE
B 18E
#1151 & AR ¥ 20,000,000 7T LAER
BARRNRIM B AR I AME22.96%
f% #E - FA2021 4 A15H B 1 H
EEME - NEBERB A TIAHME
RI32.04% % #E - WK EEH T
EMEGE - At - TAEFET
BAAEEMNWBAR - WHIE
EANEE

HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over REERHENEEREBDN :
which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 15,445
Prepayment for right-of-use assets EREEENTANKIA 8,961
Deposits for property, plant and equipment ME - BEREEBENIES 7,904
Inventories s 12,743
Trade receivables B 5 REIFIE 294
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables AR ~ e M EMmEWRFIE 7,049
Cash and bank balances W& MRITHE R 879
Trade payables B RENFIE (496)
Accruals, other payables and deposits received  [EFTE R ~ HMEMZKERE Wik (3,704)
Contract liabilities BHBE (4,024)
Amount due to a group company JET =B A RIFRIA (11,879)
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE 33172
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E__FFRH 221
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40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEWB AR @)
() Deemed disposal of Jiangxi Xinji (Continued) (i) WBWIEHEIAHEE)
HK$'000
FAT
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary: BAEHE —FEME DR RY W
Deemed consideration received — fair value of  1R1EE KB — REBEZHN A FE
retained interest 18,241
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (33,172)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2 15,100
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve  RAHEEHBAREEFTN DB R
upon disposal of subsidiary bE 1,483
Gain on deemed disposal RAEL & e 1,652
The gain on deemed disposal of BEHE-—BHNBELRANKRSEEE :
a subsidiary comprises:
Gain on deemed disposal of equity interests BIEH SRS 1,652
HK$'000
FABT
Net cash outflow arising from the deemed REHE—BHEAREEN
disposal of a subsidiary: BeRLFHE
Cash consideration received EWERERE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERE RRITHER (879)
(879)
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40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(i)

Disposal of Meijia Shell Group

As disclosed in Note 13, on 31 March 2022, the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of
its entire equity interest in Meijia Shell at cash consideration
of HK$9,000,000 which will be settled in six instalments over
six months. The purchaser is a connected person of the
Company at subsidiary level under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The disposal was completed on 31 March
2022, on which date control of Meijia Shell passed to the
purchaser.

Upon completion, the purchaser has pledged the sale
shares of Meijia Shell to the Company to secure his

40. HEMEB LB @)

(i) HEXEREHE

AN EE13FT R - 720224 3
A318 ARAGFMEEH#H
HEEREZZNE2DRE  BHe
£ fE9,000,00078 7 #E A S E A A
DNEEN - BEHAGEM LT
BIZE20E H T AR AR B AR
BHEAEEAL - BEEIER 2022
FIA3NAEK  EERAIEHE
RZBEEBREE S -

KRR - B RARREMES
FRE I E RO AR L SN RE R

obligation to pay the consideration. EiE-
HK$'000
BT
Consideration: RIE :
Cash consideration receivable FEWIR &R E 9,000
HK$'000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEREHENEERABEDI
which control was lost:
Goodwill RS 2,044
Inventories FE 2,961
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 5,599
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TR ~ e M EMmEWRFIE 5,205
Cash and bank balances [ MIRTTE 988
Trade payables B ZRENFIE (9.659)
Accruals, other payables and deposits received  fEEE M - B EN F0E R E Wik e (1,468)
Contract liabilities aHaE (2,552)
Other borrowings H g (1,355)
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE 1,763
FeE¥(IER)EBMBRAR/ —T-=FFHK 223
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40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEWB AR @)
(i) Disposal of Meijia Shell Group (Continued) (i) HEEZZREER(E)
HK$'000
FAT
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB A RN :
Consideration receivable FEWAR B 9,000
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (1,763)
Non-controlling interests eI T (138)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve  RHEEMBAGIEEFHDHELRT
upon disposal of subsidiaries b 5 (7)
Gain on disposal s 7,092
HK$'000
T
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HE-—ENREBEAREEN
of subsidiaries: BReRt =8
Cash consideration received EWERERE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHERE RIBITER (988)
(988)
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

41. KT BARRER

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRRZIEE = 5,449
Current asset REBEE
Prepayment, deposits and other BNFIE - 'ER
receivables H b e IR 9,616 5,140
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSBI B A B I 5,617 25,365
Cash and bank balances B4 RIRTTHES 799 160
16,032 30,665
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals et &R 3,265 2,496
Other borrowing Hib g 7,987 10,000
Bonds payable EfES 800 8,800
12,052 21,296
Net current assets RBEEFE 3,980 9,369
Net assets EEEE 3,980 14,818
Capital and reserves EARRHE
Share capital P& A 38 10,080 8,780
Reserves HE 42 (6,100) 6,038
Total equity B 3,980 14,818
Approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on ER202F7E2AEEESE RS
22 July 2022 and signed on its behalf by: FETIED » WA NI ESREREE -
Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
I & ZmE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF
FeE¥(IER)EBMBRAR/ —T-=FFHK 225
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42. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 42. XN B#E

Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
% 175 8 ZitE#E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT T FHIT
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1 H 49,221 (30,132) 19,089

Loss and total comprehensive FABEELEEEERRE

loss for the year - (28,651) (28,651)
Issue of shares upon acquisition AR5 W B I B A R1Z%1T

of subsidiaries (Note 39) B tn (B3t 39) 15,600 - 15,600
At 31 March 2021 and R2021FE3A31HE

1 April 2021 20214 A1H 64,821 (58,783) 6,038
Loss and total comprehensive FREBEEEHEEEARE

loss for the year - (22,018) (22,018)
Issue of shares upon acquisition  iRIBUEEIR B 1T

of investment property B (B47E20)

(Note 20) 9,880 - 9,880
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3H31H 74,701 (80,801) (6,100)
At 31 March 2022, the Company had distributable reserves of nil R20229 3 A31 8 - ANARIWEA] H 5K
(2021: HK$6,038,000) calculated in accordance with the f& 8 (2021 4F : 6,038,000 7T) » JhikF=
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and BB RNRLRE96 EEIFEN - KIEFES
revised) of the Cayman Islands. RIEE)E 2 EHE o
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

43. TEME QT

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

RIEBR - AR EBHE QA
(=N

Proportion of

Place and Principal Issued and  ownership interest and
date of place of paid up capital or  voting power held by the
Name of subsidiary incorporation operations  registered capital Group Principle activities
£ BRITRAE AEESENRER
) PNCTE=E AR RR AR XM BXHEMER BERREELH FTEXK
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 5
% %
Great Wall (International) Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Sale and transportation of
Oil Limited 22 December 2005 diesel oil and related
products
RE(ER)RRBERRR B & 18T SR EEREE
20054 12 A 228 g
Eastern Champion Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Property investment
Investment Limited 26 May 2021
EE N 18T MERE
2021465A26H
Jiangxi Xinji (Notes (i) and (i) The PRC, The PRC RMB80,000,000 N/A 55 Manufacturing, sale and
10 July 2019 TEA distribution of steel
products
IEME HE H AK#80,000,0007T HERRE  HERHH
(BEE () B (i) 20197 A108
Foshan Shunde Aodexin The PRC, The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 51 Manufacturing, sale and
(Notes (i) and (iv)) 15 July 2009 distribution of ol
products
iRl EERES HE FE AR#10,000,000 ¢ AREMME  #HE
GEIOPAN) 20097 A 158 B
Notes: B et
(i) Limited liability company (Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau and domestic joint (i) BREFERB(AE  BBIRFIRERNEE
venture) )
(i) Limited liability company (legal person sole investment by foreign investment (i) BREFERR UNERRIBEEREAN)
company)
(iii) Became an associate of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 (iii) REE2022F3 A31 BIEFERANEER
i YNC]

(iv) Disposed during the year ended 31 March 2022

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at

the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets

of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would, in the

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

(iv) REZE202F3A3BILEEHES

RER - BENBARGEAARERN
BEEES

EXRHINEFSRAEIEREATEXE
KEENAKENBERR - EFZRS
REHMBHBARNFEESERNTTE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43. TENBE LR @)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have BREERFEREZNHZENWS
material non-controlling interests DNEHEE
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries TRERNEBEAFERESTHAEEH
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: BB REFFE :
Place of Proportion of
incorporation ownership interests and
and principal voting rights held by (Loss)/profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AEMER 3L 86 % FERERHEN
WELAREH TRERBE FrERga R REEL A AETHERERH (F8)/ 8 2t ERER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022% 0015 2022% 0215 2022% 021%
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% % TAR TER THARL TAT
Jiangxi Xinji The PRC N/A 45 (35) (1,302) - 15,040
TRHE HE TEH
Meijia Shell Group The PRC N/A 49 (635) 314 - 515
XEH&E e TER
- 15,555
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the BABREERESHAERZMER
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is RIS ER B EEH N T - TIIH A
set out below. The summarised financial information below BERIZ REERNNRHEHEANSE -
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
2021
2021 4F
HK$'000
Jiangxi Xinji TP E T
Current assets mEBEE 21,798
Non-current assets FEMBEE 32,160
Current liabilities UE=Y (20,917
Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AELER
of the Company 18,001
Non-controlling interests FEFRRHE 15,040
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

43. T EWEB A F (&)
REEAKEREZNEZEHE

material non-controlling interests (Continued) NEIER (&)
From 1 April
2021 to Year ended
15 April 31 March
2021 2021
12021 F B=
4R1B% 2021 5
2021 % 3A31H
4815H LLEFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
Jiangxi Xinji S HTE FHET T
Revenue Wz 42 66,881
Cost of sales THE R (14) (66,851)
Gross profit EF 28 30
Administrative expenses THAX (106) (2,92¢)
Other income H A A — 4
Allowance for ECL on trade receivable & 5 EUGRIA K& H {th fB Y5118
and other receivable TRHREEERER = )
Loss for the period/year i, FNEE (78) (2,894)
Loss attributable to owners of RRAHER ANEILEE
the Company (43) (1,592)
Loss attributable to non-controlling IRV RE S PR S 1R
interests (35) (1,302)
Loss for the period/year B A EE (78) (2,894)
Other comprehensive income VN/NETE ¥ = DN Y el
attributable to owners of the Company — Hfth 2 E Uz 117 1,934
Other comprehensive income R R IR
attributable to non-controlling interests ~ E iy & 425 95 1,580
Other comprehensive income for HFANHM P AR
the period/year 212 3,514
Total comprehensive income RREHEB ARG EERERTE
attributable to owners of the Company 74 342
Total comprehensive income FEREREGEERGERE
attributable to non-controlling interests 60 278
Total comprehensive income B/ FREmKS A5
for the period/year 134 620
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from SEEEMEANIES
operating activities WA (i) %58 766 (10,573)
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & /& ENFTE £ MR &7 558 - (2,058)
Net cash inflow from financing activities B & /& ENFTE £ AR &K AFEE = 11,511
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BaemA/ (rd) #58 766 (1,120)
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43. T EMB LT @)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have BREERIERERZNEZTENE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) AEER(E)
2021
2021 F
HK$'000
Meijia Shell Group EEREE THET
Current assets RBNEE 12,507
Non-current assets ERBEE 339
Current liabilities mEBE (11,7995)
Equity attributable to owners of RARIHE AR
the Company 536
Non-controlling interests FEfE R T 515
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
HZ2022%F HZE20214F
3H31H 3H31H
LFE WEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Meijia Shell Group EEREER FET FAT
Revenue e 14,476 13,583
Cost of sales $HE Al AN (14,029) (10,818)
Gross profit EH 447 2,765
Administrative expenses TEFAY (1,474) (856)
Allowance for ECL on trade and EoMEMEWHIETEREE
other receivables, net B iE R - JFRE 5 (1,334)
(Loss)/profit before taxation AT (E5i8), 5 A (1,022) 575
Income tax (expense)/credit Fis®t () R (274) 190
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),SEF (1,296) 765
(Loss)/profit attributable to RAEEE AEG (BER), & F
owners of the Company (661) 391
(Loss)/profit attributable to eV R RS (B51R) % T
non-controlling interests (635) 374
(Loss)/profit for the year FRER),EH (1,296) 765
Other comprehensive (loss)/income ARBEAEAELEMEER
attributable to owners of the Company (Jﬁﬂﬁ)/ﬂﬂl & (20) "
Other comprehensive (loss)/income IEVERRRE )Efﬁﬁfmiﬁ
attributable to non-controlling interests  (E548), Utz (18) "
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for  FREM 2 E (FE) Wz
the year (38) 22
Total comprehensive (loss)/income KARVHEANEEE2E(EE),/
attributable to owners of the Company Wz 42%8 (681) 401
Total comprehensive (loss)/income IRV s IR (E 2 (E518),
attributable to non-controlling interests Ut z5 42%8 (653) 386
Total comprehensive (loss)/income Frzem(EE), Wik
for the year (1,334) 787
Net cash outflow from operating activities #&& EBFTE A MRS R L2 (569) (298)
Net cash inflow from financing activities ﬂéﬁ,ﬁ%ﬂjﬁﬁ?iﬁ‘]iﬁimﬂ\@gﬁ 1,355 -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERA/ Crd) F58 786 (298)
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44,

45.

COMMITMENTS 44, EiE
Capital commitments BREIE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET TBT
Capital expenditure in purchase of BEABEMHNERST S
oil barge - 4,000
Capital expenditure in respect of the TEZIRREEITNE®ER
construction in progress, contracted FHRBENEARFAY
for but not provided - 27,209
Acquisition of right-of-use assets WHE G AEEE - 39,865
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 45. ERKETEF 8

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, employees are required to contribute
5% of their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(2021: HK$1,500) and they can choose to make additional
contributions. Employers; monthly contributions are calculated at
5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 (2021: HK$1,500) (the “mandatory contributions”).
Employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or
total incapacity.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from the
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represent contributions
paid or payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in
the rules of the schemes.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, there was no forfeited contribution
under any defined contribution schemes available which may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions,
nor any contribution under any defined contribution schemes was
forfeited by the Group for both years.

The contributions paid and payable to the schemes by the Group
are disclosed in Note 11.

Fek (IR EMARAT / T 558

REBBEARFMEATED A EEH &
V-HERATHZzEFEAESEK
BREE ([RERTE]) - BERES
TE EEARBEZ AFHERS% &
S HEE A 1,500 7T (2021 FF 1,500 7%
7o) WEIRAERELEIMER - EX
2 REFRITVRZERBEE A% 5% ATE -
Bt FEE A 1,500 7T (2021 4F : 1,500
EIL) ([ B FR]) o B BTE6SBRRIK
B a AR TERE NI - A 2 8UE
BEEAEIER 2RI -

RiFeBaMEME2ERERTBRAR
BE T EEERRIRENG B HFEAR
SRR ERATANLERESEN
KA AR o

720226 K 20213 31 B HEE(
FRERTE TR 2R ASE
ERERDBEAEHIKTE  REERR
BF L UE R BB E R E T
Ef R -

AEEE N RN 880 L3R B M
1.

231



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

46.

232

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 March 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme became
effective on the date of the Company'’s listing (12 April 2018) and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
ten years from that date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the board (or as the case may be,
including, where required under the GEM Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive directors) from time to time on the
basis of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 80,000,000 shares (or such number of
shares as may result from a subdivision or consolidation of such
80,000,000 shares from time to time), representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of share issuable
under share options granted to each eligible participant in the
Share Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share
options in excess of this limit must be separately approved by
shareholders in general meeting. Any grant of share options
under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who
is the grantee of the option). In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
which would result in the total number of share issues and to be
issued, upon exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding),
to such person under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to such person in any
12-month period up to and including the date of the grant in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company's share at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, such further grant of options is required to be approved
by shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of poll.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

46. FEIRRESTE

AKATCR2017FEIR23BFEHH—I1E
BT 8 ([BBARAERT 2 ) - BBARAERT
EINAAE T BEH(2018F4 A128)
K BRIESERHESIER 0 TR
BZBEBREATFR—EER -

BT ElE E”&%I&Tﬁmaﬁ%ﬂ’]/\
8 ﬁﬁﬁlEE(I%&&%Hﬁ%)
MM M SR - 7¥<§_Fﬁ
HER - RI2 - BP  BEBH IR
HEEBRERINEBAREDAEEZE
RIS -

Exg(RIBRME (HGEM EMRAIZE
) ABEBIUIFATES) Al THR
TEVA%;TK’El%*JE&i‘EﬁM’EHj‘JZ

BEE H #) B BUR E & & AE (1 B8 AR 1
%Eﬂ%ﬁ’f%f’

AT AR IR AR B A1 &1 ) S TR
RFTE B EM A TRITHRMNEE £
EEESOOOOOOOHx(‘JZTEi’“TFF‘X/\HM
25 80,000,000 A% A% 17 AT B¢ £ A= &Y 45 A AR
T%%(E) : fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁé%mﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁ”&ﬂa

TR H)10% © IEMR121E A AR EE
BEAEBNERABERSEERTINE
P (BREEITERFEARITENRERE)
Py R A TRITRNEBE LERBAR
AR BEITRME 1% - RHEHE PR
HRB It bR e B A A IR R BOR A
GLEBIE - AARBES  1TRA

BREERRIMENETABEAR LY
FERCERTE TR R B L IE AT

B2 (TEELRS BBREARANER
BIFRITES) L - SN AT ER
RABIUIIFATEETRRES BNEM
BEABRDENRBREMERERER
HEH(REZA) TR 1216 A #HE
A B AT HRITERERRER 8 K
AN B f] E A B AME AT 81 B R K
TERNZAERE(BRETE O
5 N RTT RE RO BB A ) i [R5 A 3%
TREFEITORNDEHEES XBEAR

A BEITRMEN0.1% : R (RERMH R
EROABPUHEAE) REBESES
BT RIBRSMNE B IR R R AR
RABRAEG EARETARRIAE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &£ 202243 A31 AILFE

46. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer for the grant of share option must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offeror the grant of an option is HK$1. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to provision of early termination thereof. There is
no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. The subscription price of a
Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i)
the closing price of the shares as started in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the ate of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Shares as stared in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the
date of grant of the option.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, there was no outstanding share
options under any share option scheme. No share option was
granted, exercised, lapsed, expired or cancelled during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

46. BEBRAETTE (@)

BROBERENENRMELERZENR
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47. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND 47. BEXRSGRERBH LIRS
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial AR A BT ISR R b ith 7 PRI BB & 4b
statements, the Group had also entered into the following R EEE - AREBENRFI LA TEKRES
material related party transaction during the reporting period: AR5
(a) Connected transactions and related party (a) BEXZRBHBAIRS

transactions

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

Name of party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 & B REME FET THET

Jiangxi Xingang Southern New Material Purchase of products

Company Limited (formerly known as Wisdri

(Xinyu) Cold Processing Engineering

Company Limited) (“Jiangxi Xingang”)

(Note (i) - 63,083
IRFHMER M ERAR (AIBRERES ERKE

GIrR) RELFM R AR AR])

(DTasrsm ) (PHEEG)

Xun Xiang Metalware Company Limited Sales of diesels
(“Xun Xiang”) (Note (ii) - 1,548
AR A A (e D) (B (i) THES5m
Jet Good Limited (“Jet Good") (Note (ii) Sales of diesels - 306
E=ER AT (18 1) (M (i) SHEE S
Rent expenses 1,247 1,332
HEMX
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets - 245
CREEERE
Zhu Yixiang (Note (jii)) Rental expenses - 142
SR i (PR EE Gii)) HEMZ
Car rental expenses - 997
THEE
Li Aihua (Note (iv)) Car rental expenses - 71
B (5 Gv) GiEE=R =y
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47. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Connected and related balances

47. REXGREXRBBAIRS

(%)

(b) EREN EAHEASER

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
Name of party Nature of balance HK$'000 HK$'000
B B EHRME T THET
Xun Xiang Metalware Company Limited Trade and other receivables
(Note (iv)) - 6,906
A A R A F (5 v) B 5 N H R RIR
Jet Good Limited (Note (iv)) Trade receivables - 18
P ARQE (M V) B S REWRIA
Prepayments - 275
FA IR
Deposits 444 444
o
Notes: 5T
(i) A non-controlling shareholder of Jiangxi Xinji had beneficial interest (i) TTPRETE ) — 2 IR IR AT T

in Jiangxi Xingang. Hence, Jiangxi Xingang is a connected entity of
the Company at subsidiary level under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Upon deemed disposal of Jianyxi Xinji on 15 April 2021, Jiangxi
Xingang ceased to be a connected entity of the Company.

(i) Mr. Fong Chun Man, an executive director and ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company, has beneficial interests in Xun Xiang
and Jet Good. Hence, Xun Xiang and Jet Good are related
companies and connected entities of the Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

(iii) Mr. Zhu Yixiang is a non-controlling shareholder of a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. Hence, Mr. Zhu Yixiang is a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(iv) Ms. Li Aihua is a close family member of Mr. Zhu Yixiang who is a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level. Hence, Ms. Li
Aihua is also a connected person of the Company at subsidiary level
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the transactions constitute connected transactions
under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to the sections
headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” under the “Report of the Board
of Directors”.

WEAEwEm - At - RIEGEM
FHRAIE20E  SIAIEAKRAF
AR EE AR E S - 72021
F4RSEEELEIANER T
TN HARNR TR EEE -

(i)  ARBERTESREERERBRTE
NAERAHE RS THEERES -
At - REGEM LR AE20% -
AE R T AAR BN A F &R

BER -
(i) AREHEERARRFFZEMBAR
B SRR IR - AUtk - RIBEGEM £

TRAE20E - REFFRERLAF
RIE AT EEOREAL -

vy ZFEELTARGEHEENIR B

ARRRHBAREHNEEAL -

At RIBEGEM LR A E20% -

BEELZLNRAARFTNHEARE
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47. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

48.

236

(c)

(d)

Personal guarantee and securities provided by key
management personnel

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, Mr. Fong Chun Man, an
executive director of the Company provides personal
guarantee and life insurance policies of insured sum
amounted to US$2,600,000 which Mr. Fong Chun Man is
the insured person as securities for loan facilities granted to
the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel

The directors of the Company and senior management are
identified as key management personnel of the Group and
their remunerations during the reporting period are set out
in Notes 14 and 15.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to

(c)

(d)

47. REXGREXRBB AR S

(%)

HEFEEBABREMPNEBEALE
REIE

R20224F K20213A31H K
NAMITEEFETAREEA
PR M AR 58 52,600,000 3 TTHY A
ERBRE(FEXEERZR
AN EBREEERESRMEN
AR o

FTEEEABNMHE
RATEZRGRELEEETE R
AEBNTIEEEAR  RENH
SRR BB E 14 2 15 ©

. BEERA

ERATEREESEERR  UEAX

secure the loan facilities of the Group as follow: EEEFRMEER
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABENSREE
profit or loss
— Key management personnel life —FEEBABASRE
insurance policy 4,979 4,778
Investment property wEME 20,000 -
Pledged bank deposits EEMIRITFR 6,077 12,158
Motor vehicles RE 574 956
31,630 17,892
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49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 49. METEBFIEESENHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank and
Bank other Lease Bonds
overdraft borrowings liabilities payable Total
RITREM

RITEX & HERE EAES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THL THL THL THT THL

At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 - 16,090 252 8,800 25,142
Changes from financing cash flows: KB Eﬁﬁfﬁi/miﬂﬁ
Proceeds from bank and BITREMEREHE
other borrowings - 21,800 - - 21,800
Repayment of bank and {BIERIT R E M AEN
other borrowings - (16,596) - - (16,596)
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBENR - - (769) - (769)
Interest paid ERFIE V) (1,211) (31 (896) (2,140)
Total changes in financing cash flows BB & RELEESR 2 3,993 (800) (896) 2,295
Other changes: H @ s :
Addition of lease liabilities HEAEEM - - 1,275 - 1,275
Interest expenses MERY 2 1,832 31 880 2,745
(Increase)/decrease in accrued interest  fE=H 2 (3E141), /i - 621) - 16 (605)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 202153 A 31 R
20214 A1 - 21,294 758 8,800 30,852
Changes from financing cash flows: RE Eﬁﬁﬁium%ﬂ@
Proceeds from bank and BITREMERAEHE
other borrowings = 48,219 = = 48,219
Repayment of bank and B RIT REME
other borrowings - (25,087) - - (25,087)
Repayment of bonds payable BEEMES = = = (8,000) (8,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEERE - - (590) - (590)
Interest paid ERFIE - (3,289) (18) (870) 4,177)
Total changes in financing cash flows ~ BlER &2 2E)8%E - 19,843 (608) (8,870) 10,365
Other changes: Hin#g)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) HEWB AR (Fi5E40) = (1,355) = = (1,355)
Interest expenses FBRX - 4,227 18 192 4,437
(Increase)/decrease in accrued interest &=t A2 (3E141), /> - (938) - 678 (260)
Exchange alignment [RM% - 18 - - 18
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3H31H - 43,089 168 800 44,057
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50. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

51.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform

with the current year’s presentation and the disclosure

requirements in respect of the discontinued operations set out in

Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Acquisition of a vessel

On 29 April 2022, the Company entered into a vessel
transfer agreement in respect of the acquisition of a vessel
at the consideration of HK$9,500,000. The acquisition was
completed on 29 April 2022. Further details are disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 29 April 2022.

Share consolidation

As announced by the Company on 25 May 2022, the
Company proposed to implement a share consolidation by
consolidating every ten issued and unissued existing
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company into one ordinary share of HK$0.10 each, ranked
pari passu in all respect with each other (the “Share
Consolidation”).

The resolution approving the Share Consolidation was
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 27 June 2022 and the Share
Consolidation became effective on 29 June 2022.

Rights issue

As announced by the Company on 25 May 2022, the
Company proposed to raise gross proceeds of up to
approximately HK$17.1 million by way of the rights issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing ordinary
shares by issuing up to 50,400,000 rights shares at the
subscription price of HK$0.34 per rights share.

52. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

238

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issued by the board of directors on 22 July 2022.
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(i)
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RESULT

ES

For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANABLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2018 4F 20194 2020 2021 2022 F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FET FET THET
(Restated) (Restated)
(=51)  (K&E7)
Continuing operations REREEK
Revenue Was 164,491 229,718 328,119 357,753 357,471
Cost of sales SHERA (139,670)  (207,995)  (305,421)  (332,420) (352,579)
Gross profit E7 24,821 21,723 22,698 25,333 4,892
Profit/(loss) for the year from REFBEEEER
continuing operations FREF/(ER) 1,241 5,336 4,856 7592 (39,257)
Discontinued operations BRIEEEEK
(Loss)/profit for the year from REDRIEEEERR
discontinued operations FER(BER),/EF - (4,532) (350) (2,133) 7,370
Profit/(loss) for the year EREN/(B1R) 1,241 804 4,506 5459  (31,887)
Attributable to TH AL
Owners of the Company KARIER A 1,241 804 4,664 6,387 (31,217)
Non-controlling interests eI bR - - (158) (928) (670)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,/(ER) 1,241 804 4,506 5459  (31,887)
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E__FFRH 239



Financial Summary

MBHE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 A31 HILFE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
®3A31H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2018 4F 20194 2020 2021 2022 F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FET FET THET
Non-current asset FRBEE 12,385 10,166 34,103 59,896 49,722
Current assets MEEE 88,234 108992 118704 154,726 = 131,411
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 1,183 4,522 9,498 561 468
Current liabilities mEAE 11,662 26,085 36,775 82,023 85,295
Net current assets RBEEFE 76,572 82,907 81,929 72,703 46,116
Net assets BEFE 87,774 88,551 106,534 132,038 95,370
The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Group

had been

in existence throughout these financial years and is

presented on the basis as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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